

Unicentre CH-1015 Lausanne http://serval.unil.ch

Year : 2020

Gestational Diabetes and Metabolic Outcomes

Quansah Dan Yedu

Quansah Dan Yedu, 2020, Gestational Diabetes and Metabolic Outcomes

Originally published at : Thesis, University of Lausanne

Posted at the University of Lausanne Open Archive <u>http://serval.unil.ch</u> Document URN : urn:nbn:ch:serval-BIB_B1F9BC43BF8C4

Droits d'auteur

L'Université de Lausanne attire expressément l'attention des utilisateurs sur le fait que tous les documents publiés dans l'Archive SERVAL sont protégés par le droit d'auteur, conformément à la loi fédérale sur le droit d'auteur et les droits voisins (LDA). A ce titre, il est indispensable d'obtenir le consentement préalable de l'auteur et/ou de l'éditeur avant toute utilisation d'une oeuvre ou d'une partie d'une oeuvre ne relevant pas d'une utilisation à des fins personnelles au sens de la LDA (art. 19, al. 1 lettre a). A défaut, tout contrevenant s'expose aux sanctions prévues par cette loi. Nous déclinons toute responsabilité en la matière.

Copyright

The University of Lausanne expressly draws the attention of users to the fact that all documents published in the SERVAL Archive are protected by copyright in accordance with federal law on copyright and similar rights (LDA). Accordingly it is indispensable to obtain prior consent from the author and/or publisher before any use of a work or part of a work for purposes other than personal use within the meaning of LDA (art. 19, para. 1 letter a). Failure to do so will expose offenders to the sanctions laid down by this law. We accept no liability in this respect.



Département de Médicine

Gestational Diabetes and Metabolic Outcomes

Thèse de doctorat ès sciences de la vie (Ph.D.)

Présentée à la

Faculté de biologie et de médecine de l'Université de Lausanne

Par

Dan Yedu QUANSAH

Maîtrise en santé publique (MPH), Seoul National University, Republic of Korea

Jury

Prof. Jean-François TOLSA, Président Prof. Jardena J. PUDER, Directrice de thèse Prof. Peter VOLLENWEIDER, Expert Prof. Christoph STETTLER, Expert

Lausanne, 2020



UNIL | Université de Lausanne Faculté de biologie et de médecine

Département de Médicine

Gestational Diabetes and Metabolic Outcomes

Thèse de doctorat ès sciences de la vie (Ph.D.)

Présentée à la

Faculté de biologie et de médecine de l'Université de Lausanne

Par

Dan Yedu QUANSAH

Maîtrise en santé publique (MPH), Seoul National University, Republic of Korea

Jury

Prof. Jean-François TOLSA, Président Prof. Jardena J. PUDER, Directrice de thèse Prof. Peter VOLLENWEIDER, Expert Prof. Christoph STETTLER, Expert



Schweizerische Eidgenossenschaft Confédération suisse Confederazione Svizzera Confederaziun svizra



Unil

UNIL | Université de Lausanne Faculté de biologie et de médecine Ecole Doctorale Doctorat ès sciences de la vie

Imprimatur

Vu le rapport présenté par le jury d'examen, composé de

Président∙e	Monsieur	Prof.	Jean-François Tolsa	
Directeur·trice de thèse	Madame	Prof.	Jardena J.	Puder
Expert·e·s	Monsieur	Prof.	Peter	Vollenweider
	Monsieur	Prof.	Christoph	Stettler

le Conseil de Faculté autorise l'impression de la thèse de

Monsieur Dan Yedu Quansah

Master of public health, Seoul National University, Corée du Sud

intitulée

Gestational diabetes and metabolic outcomes

Lausanne, le 7 mai 2020

pour le Doyen de la Faculté de biologie et de médecine

Prof. Niko GELDNER Directeur de l'Ecole Doctorale

DEDICATION

To Mum and Dad for all the sacrifices

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Dear Prof. Jardena J. Puder, words alone cannot express my appreciation to you. I am unable to quantify your enormous contribution to this thesis. Indeed, you have been more than a supervisor to me and you will always remain dear for the significant role you have played in my academic career. I appreciate your leadership role and continuous efforts towards my thesis work. I also thank you for providing supplementary funding towards the completion of this work. Your constructive criticisms and encouragement throughout my Ph.D. studies instilled in me a sense of direction and responsibility that has helped me to sail through all the difficult challenges. I cherish your openness to me and the close supervision you have rendered and I am very grateful to you. Finally, I will not forget the Tuesday "*tea moments*". You will always remain dear to me.

Dear Prof. Antje Horsch, it was a great and rare privilege to work under your supervision both in the "MySweetheart" trial and in my thesis work. You have supported and guided my career right from the onset; including your inputs in my funding proposal to the last article of this thesis and you do not stop opening up to me on new opportunities. I will cherish your mentorship and the impact you have made in my academic career forever. Your soft speaking skills, motherly patience and advice throughout this period gave me hope even in the difficult times of integration in the research group.

Dear Prof. Jean-François Tolsa, Prof. Peter Vollenweider and Prof. Christoph Stettler, thank you for being a part of my thesis committee. I am grateful for all the support, comments and suggestions that has made this thesis work a success. I would like to express my profound gratitude once again for accepting to be a part of the thesis committee. Thank you for everything.

Ш

My sincere gratitude goes to the Swiss Confederation and the Swiss Federal Commission for Scholarships (FCS) for funding (tuition fees and living allowance) me to complete this Ph.D. study. I am very grateful for such a golden opportunity.

Special thanks goes to the "GDM clinical and research team". Notably, Ms. Justine Gross for the many contributions you have made in this thesis. I cannot forget your close collaboration in this project which include the edit of several presentations, designing icons for presentation and extending a helping hand to me both in research and non-research activities. Thank you for making the office a happy place for me and I am very grateful for everything. I wish you great luck in your postgraduate studies. To my Ph.D. student colleague, Ms. Leah Gilbert, I say a big thank you for your contribution and inputs. It is been great working with you. I am most grateful for all your contributions and thank you for wholeheartedly assisting me whenever I needed your help. I look forward to your very own Ph.D. defense soon. To Dr. Amar Ahab and Dr. Stefano Lanzi, thank you for the friendship and your inputs in my papers as well as your inspiration to complete this thesis work. It was an honor to have you in the research team. To Mme. Dominique Stulz and Isabelle-Salmon Cohen, thank you for all the help and assistance when it mattered most especially with the data inputs. To Mrs. Seyda Mayerat, thank you for your work and contributions. I also want to thank all our interns both present and past for their work and their contributions.

I owe a debt of gratitude to Dr. A. Kofi Amegah for your mentorship, advice and support throughout my undergraduate days and your keen interest in my career. You are an inspiration to me. I look forward to working with you again in the near future. Thank you.

I cannot forget to thank you Mum and Dad for your love, advice and support throughout life. I want to thank you for the sacrifices you have made in my life and that of my siblings. Importantly, the decision to leave Gomoa Lome to settle in Agona Swedru for me to receive quality primary school education. Thank you. To my siblings, Edmund, Sandra and Esi, I hope this inspires you to achieve more in life despite any unforeseen circumstances that may come. Another special thanks goes to my elder brother Dr. Daniel Boateng and his wife Mrs. Deborah Boateng for your prayers, encouragement, love, good counsel and contributions to my life. You have been a role model and a blessing to me and I am very grateful.

Special thanks to my mother and Father In-law, Mr. Joseph M. Dasanah and Mrs. Joyce Dasanah. I am very grateful for the enormous support and prayers. Also to my brothers' in-law Blaise, Nana Kwame, Silas, Cletus, Frederick and Hilary, I thank you all.

To the entire Lighthouse chapel in Lausanne, I am thankful for your love, prayer and support. My special thanks goes to Rev. and Mrs. Michael Ebo Banson for the prayers, guidance and interest in my life. I am grateful. I also express profound thanks to Lady Pastor Gertrude, Mr. and Mrs. Antwi, Mr. and Mrs. Davis, Mr. and Mrs. Neequaye, Mr. and Mrs. Fiadonu and everyone for making Lausanne a happy place to live. *Nyame nhyira mo paa!*

To my dear Ph.D. candidate friends; David Amuzu, Louis Boafo Kwantwi and Derrick Okpoti Charway, I thank you all for the company and friendship during the difficult times associated with this doctoral studies. Your phone calls, company and advice were very helpful. I look forward to your own Ph.D. defense and graduations very soon. I can't wait to call you all with the 'Dr' title.

My dearest wife Dr. Belinda D. Quansah, I appreciate greatly your unconditional love and patience. You showed keen interest in my career and offered all the support I needed. In the darkest moments, you encouraged me and sacrificed a lot for me to be here today and I will not take it for granted. I hope my Ph.D. success inspires you to achieve your greatest academic potential. I love you!

ABSTRACT

Women with gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) have increased weight and higher glucose levels during pregnancy and in the postpartum period compared to women without GDM. It is therefore recommended to prevent excess gestational weight gain (GWG) and also return to pre-pregnancy weight at 1-year postpartum. This is essential as higher postpartum weight retention (PPWR) at 1year postpartum is a significant risk factor for long-term weight gain and the most important predictor of future diabetes in women with GDM. To tackle weight and subsequent metabolic health problems such as weight and glucose control in these women, there is a need to comprehend their risk and to investigate different lifestyle approaches. This thesis provides a better understanding of the novel concept of intuitive eating during and after pregnancy and its associations with metabolic health. It also investigates the predictors and consequences of PPWR in a cohort of women with GDM.

This thesis utilized data from the Lausanne University Hospital (CHUV) GDM longitudinal cohort. We assessed the cross-sectional and longitudinal associations between intuitive eating and metabolic health outcomes during pregnancy and in the postpartum period in women with GDM. We also investigated the predictors and consequences of weight retention in this cohort.

The cross-sectional analysis showed that intuitive eating during and after pregnancy was significantly associated with metabolic health outcomes, both with weight and with glucose control. The longitudinal analyses revealed that intuitive eating during pregnancy was also related to later metabolic health outcomes, at the end of pregnancy, but also in the early (6-8 weeks) and late (1-year) postpartum period. Regarding the predictors and consequences of PPWR, GWG predicted higher PPWR, both in the early and late postpartum period. Women with PPWR had worsened glucose control at 1 year postpartum that was not observed in the early postpartum period.

۷

These results suggest that intuitive eating could represent a novel approach to weight and glucose management in women with GDM. Our data regarding the consequences of PPWR also suggest that clinical care with a strong focus on lifestyle interventions in order to improve weight and glucose control should be essential up to the late postpartum.

RÈSUME

Les femmes avec un diabète gestationnel (DG) ont un poids plus élevé ainsi qu'un contrôle glycémique moins favorable que les femmes sans DG durant leur grossesse ainsi qu'en postpartum. Les recommandations visent donc à prévenir une prise de poids excessive durant la grossesse ainsi que de revenir au poids d'avant la grossesse dans l'année qui suit l'accouchement. En effet, ne pas avoir perdu le poids pris durant la grossesse à un an post-partum est un facteur de risque significatif pour une évolution pondérale défavorable sur le long terme que pour le risque de DMII indépendamment du poids et de l'IMC avant grossesse. Aborder l'évolution du poids ainsi que les paramètres métaboliques chez ces femmes par de nouvelles approches impliquant le style de vie serait dès lors pertinent. Cette thèse a pour but d'apporter un nouvel éclairage sur l'association entre l'alimentation intuitive durant et après la grossesse et les paramètres métaboliques chez des femmes avec un diabète gestationnel. Elle recherche également les prédicteurs ainsi que les conséquences de la rétention de poids en post-partum chez les femmes avec un DG.

Les données utilisées pour évaluer les associations transversales et longitudinales entre l'alimentation intuitive et les paramètres métaboliques durant la grossesse mais également en postpartum sont issues d'une cohorte longitudinale de femmes suivies au Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois pour leur DG. Des analyses sur les conséquences d'une rétention pondérale ainsi que ses prédicteurs ont aussi été réalisées. Les analyses transversales ont démontré une association significative entre l'alimentation intuitive et la santé métabolique durant la grossesse ainsi qu'en post-partum. Les analyses longitudinales ont révélé une association entre l'alimentation intuitive et l'amélioration des paramètres métaboliques aussi bien à la fin de la grossesse, à 6-8 semaines post-partum ainsi qu'à 1 an post-partum. La prise de poids durant la grossesse était un prédicteur pour la rétention de poids après grossesse aussi bien à 6-8 semaines qu'à un an postpartum et ses conséquences étaient des issues métaboliques défavorables à 1 an, mais pas à 6-8 semaines post-partum.

Ces résultats suggèrent que pratiquer une alimentation intuitive pourrait être une nouvelle approche dans la gestion le poids ainsi que l'équilibre métabolique chez des femmes avec un diabète gestationnel. Ces données sur la rétention de poids et la santé métabolique laissent penser qu'un accompagnement, au-delà des recommandations, pourrait être nécessaire chez ces femmes avec un antécédent de DG afin d'améliorer plus spécifiquement leur contrôle glycémique ainsi que pondéral.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	I
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	II
ABSTRACT	V
RÈSUME	VII
TABLE OF CONTENTS	IX
LIST OF FIGURES	XII
LIST OF TABLES	XIII
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	XV
1.0 GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM)	1
1.3 Detection and diagnosis	3
1.4 GDM risk factors and adverse outcomes	5
1.5 GDM and postpartum weight retention	8
1.6 Predictors of PPWR	9
1.7 Interventions to manage GDM	11
1.8 Role of lifestyle interventions in GDM management	13
1.9 Eating behavior and GDM	14

1.10 The intuitive eating concept	15
1.11 Intuitive eating and dietary intake	16
1.12 Intuitive eating and metabolic outcomes	
2.0 AIMS OF THE THESIS	20
2.1 Overall thesis goal	20
2.2 Thesis outline and study objectives	20
3.0 GENERAL METHODS	22
3.1 Summary of the general methods	22
3.2 General participant consent and recruitment	22
3.3 Cohort database	22
3.4 General data collection and assessments	22
3.5 General inclusion and exclusion criteria	25
3.6 Specific inclusion/exclusion criteria (studies 1-3)	27
3.7 Assessment of Intuitive eating (IE)	29
3.8 Assessment of glycemic control variables	32
3.9 Anthropometric variables	32
3.9 Socio-demographic characteristics and additional health variables	33
3.10 Statistical analyses (studies 1-3)	34
4.0 GENERAL RESULTS	
5.1 ABSTRACT OF STUDY 1	55

5.2 ABSTRACT OF STUDY 2
5.3 ABSTRACT OF STUDY 359
6.0 GENERAL DISCUSSION
7.0 STRENGTHS, LIMITATIONS AND PERSPECTIVES
8.0 GENERAL CONCLUSION
8.1 Personal contribution to data acquisition and management
9.0 REFERENCES
10.0 PUBLICATION LIST
11.0 APPENDIX
The appendix contains 3 manuscripts/articles. The first two (2) have been published and the third
is currently under review
APPENDIX 1
APPENDIX 2
APPENDIX 3

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig 1: Median (interquartile range) prevalence (%) of GDM by WHO region, 2005–20152
Fig 2: Country-specific prevalence of GDM according to different diagnostic criteria2
Fig 3: Risk factors and adverse outcomes of gestational diabetes7
Fig 4: Long and short-term metabolic consequences of (excess) gestational weight gain (GWG)
and postpartum weight retention in reproductive age women
Fig 5: GDM cohort set-up and data collection process
Fig 6: The online data management platform of the cohort data25
Fig 7: Flow chart describing the selection of study participants

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Diagnosis of GDM with an HGPO of 75 g of glucose between 24-28 weeks of
amenorrhea4
Table 2 Comparison of some diagnostic criteria of GDM 5
STUDY 1 Tables and captions
[Table 1] Socio-demographic characteristics of study participants115
[Table 2] Mean distribution of study variables at first GDM visit or before pregnancy116
[Table 3] Cross-sectional associations between the two subscales of intuitive eating scale-2 and weight, BMI and glycemic control at first GDM visit
[Table 4] Longitudinal associations between two subscales of intuitive eating scale-2 and weight, BMI and glycemic control at the end of pregnancy and in early postpartum (6-8 weeks)
STUDY 2 Tables and Captions
[Table 1] General characteristics of study participants
[Table 2] Mean and standard deviations of study variables (N=117)147
[Table 3] Associations between the two subscales of IES-2 at the first GDM visit and at 1-year postpartum and metabolic health at 1-year postpartum
[Table 4] Associations between the two subscales of IES-2 at first GDM visit and at one-year postpartum visit with metabolic health at one year postpartum stratified by glucose tolerance150
[Table 5] Associations between the two subscales of IES-2 and metabolic health at one year postpartum stratified by BMI category
Supplementary tables
[Table 1] 1-year postpartum metabolic health indicators and IE scores according to glucose tolerance
[Table 2] 1-year postpartum metabolic health indicators and IE scores according to weight status/category
[Table 3] Paired t-test and correlation between the two scales of IES-2 at the first GDM visit and at 1-year postpartum (N=117)

STUDY 3 Tables and captions	.177
Table 1: Socio-demographic characteristics of study participants (N=862)	.177
Table 2: Anthropometric and metabolic characteristics of study participants	.178
Table 3: Anthropometric differences and metabolic consequences of participants according to)
postpartum weight retention categories	.179
3a: At 6-8 weeks postpartum	.179
3b: At 1-year postpartum	.180
Table 4: Predictors of weight retention	.181
4a: Predictors at 6-8 weeks postpartum	.181
4b: Predictors at 1-year postpartum	.181
[Supplementary tables]	.183
Table 1: Anthropometric differences and metabolic consequences of participants with 1-year	data
at the 6-8 weeks postpartum	.183

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

GDM: Gestational diabetes mellitus IE: Intuitive eating PPWR: Postpartum weight retention WHO: World health organization ADA: American diabetes association IADPSG: International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups GWG: Gestational weight gain MNT: Medical nutrition therapy GI: Glycemic index BMI: Body mass index IOM: Institute of medicine HbA1c: Glycated hemoglobin IES-2: Intuitive eating scale-2 CHUV: Lausanne university hospital oGTT: Oral glucose tolerance test **RCT:** Randomized controlled trials EPR: Eating for Physical rather than Emotional Reasons **RHSC:** Reliance on Hunger and Satiety cues HAPO: Hyperglycemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcome

1.0 GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

The main interest of this thesis lies in the field of gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) and metabolic health outcomes during and after pregnancy. Most importantly, the relationship between nutrition and eating behavior (intuitive eating) with weight and higher glucose levels during and after pregnancy in women diagnosed with GDM. This introductory chapter summarizes the different thesis themes. These themes are GDM and metabolic outcomes during and after pregnancy, the potential novel role of intuitive eating (IE) in the management of GDM and the predictors and consequences of postpartum weight retention (PPWR) in the early and late postpartum period in women with GDM.

1.2 Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM)

GDM is defined as any degree of glucose intolerance or hyper-glycaemia with onset or first recognition during pregnancy that does not fulfil the criteria of overt diabetes prior to gestation (1). It is usually diagnosed in the second or third trimester of pregnancy. GDM develops when beta cells fail to keep pace with the increase in insulin resistance that is observed around 20-24 weeks of gestation. This then causes an imbalance between demand and supply of insulin production and action and raises glucose levels, especially during the second and third trimester (2). GDM is one of the most common pregnancy complications. Between 3-20% of pregnant women develop GDM globally (3) and about 11% of all pregnancies in Switzerland are complicated by GDM (4).



Fig 1: Median (interquartile range) prevalence (%) of GDM by WHO region 2005–2015 (5)



Fig 2: Country-specific prevalence of GDM according to different diagnostic criteria. C&C: Carpenter and Coustan criteria, IADPSG: International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups, NDDG: National Diabetes Data Group, WHO: World Health Organization, other included International Classification of Diseases codes and local guidelines or criteria (5).

1.3 Detection and diagnosis

Pregnant women with increased risk of GDM are recommended to undergo testing during the first prenatal visit (1). If results are negative during the initial screening, there is the need for another screening test between 24 and 28 weeks of pregnancy. Women with an average risk are however recommended to be screened at 24–28 weeks.

During pregnancy, screening for abnormal glucose level is generally recommended as a routine component of prenatal care (1,6,7). This is because an abnormal glucose levels in pregnancy are associated with both short and long-term maternal and fetal risks. Several health organizations/countries have different and diverse recommendations for screening, diagnosis, management, and follow-up of GDM (8). Most of these proposals or recommendations for GDM are contentious because some of them were developed from unscientific studies, based on expert-opinion, catered to preserve resources and subjectively modified for convenience. Because of the diverse recommendations, the approach to GDM can be extremely different from one country to another (8). This lack of consensus creates problems in addressing prevalence, complications, efficacy of treatment and follow-up of GDM.

The American diabetes association (ADA) and the International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups (IADPSG) recommendations are widely used and accepted (1,9). These recommendations are based on the results from the Hyperglycemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcome (HAPO) study. The HAPO study is a large-scale multinational cohort study of more than 23,000 pregnant women, which showed that the risk of adverse maternal and neonatal outcomes continuously increased as a function of maternal glycaemia during the oral glucose tolerance test (oGTT) at 24–28 weeks of gestation (9). The ADA recommendation for GDM diagnosis consists of two strategies; the "one step" and the "two step" approaches.

The "one-step" approach is derived from the IADPSG criteria, which is based on a 75g oGTT with plasma glucose measurement at 1 and 2h after an 8-hour overnight fasting. The "two-step" approach consist of, 1) performing a 50g glucose load test (non-fasting) with plasma glucose measurement at 1 hour. If the plasma glucose level is \geq 7.2, 7.5 or 7.8 mmol/L respectively then a 100g oGTT is followed. 2) A 100g oGTT is performed when the patient is fasting.

Although differences exist in the management of GDM according to the ADA and the IADPSG guidelines, the screening guidelines somewhat remains the same except the two-step approach recommended by the ADA (10). Both guidelines recommend screening between 24 and 28 weeks. When a patient exceeds one or more threshold values, the diagnosis of GDM can be made. The threshold values for the ADA ("one step" approach) and IADPSG are; fasting glucose \geq 5.1 mmol/l, 1h \geq 10.0 mmol/l and 2h \geq 8.5 mmol/l. The threshold for the ADA "two-step" approach are fasting glucose \geq 5.3 mmol/l, 1h \geq 10.0 mmol/l, 2h \geq 8.6 mmol/l and 3h \geq 7.8 mmol/l. Recommendation with relatively low cut-off points leads to a relatively high incidence rate of GDM, including many women with mild hyperglycemia and vice versa (8).

Table 1 Diagnosis of GDM with an HGPO of 75 g of glucose between 24-28 weeks of amenorrhea (plasma venous blood sugar)

Glucose	mmol/l			
Fasting	≥ 5.1			
1-h	≥ 10.0			
2-h	≥8.5			

	Glucose Load, Grams	Glucose Thresholds (mmol/L)				Number of OGTT
Organization		Fasting	1-h	2-h	3-h	Values for Diagnosis ≥
NDDG (ACOG)	100	5.8	10.5	9.2	8.0	2
C&C(ACOG)	100	5.3	10.0	8.6	7.8	2
IADPSG/ADA/WHO/ADIPS/FIGO/BSD	75	5.1	10.0	8.5	-	1
CDA	75	5.3	10.6	9.0	-	1
NICE	75	5.6	-	7.8	-	1
DIPSI	75	-	-	7.8		-

Table 2 Comparison of some diagnostic criteria of GDM

ACOG: American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology. ADA: American Diabetes Organization. ADIPS: Australian Diabetes in Pregnancy Society. BSD: Brazilian Society of Diabetes. CDA: Canadian Diabetes Association. C&C: Carpenter and Coustan. DIPSI: Diabetes in Pregnancy Study group in India. FIGO: The International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics. FPG: Fasting plasma glucose. IADPSG: The International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups. NDDG: National Diabetes Data Group. NICE: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. WHO: World Health Organization.

1.4 GDM risk factors and adverse outcomes

The adverse maternal consequences of GDM are well documented (10). A meta-analysis of observational studies (11,12) showed that higher pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI), excess gestational weight gain (GWG), pregnancy-induced hypertension, family history of diabetes, polycystic ovary syndrome and multi-parity are significant risk factors of GDM (13). According to the ADA, individual who have a first-degree relative with diabetes, high-risk race/ethnicity (e.g., African American, Latino, Native American, Asian American, Pacific Islander), history of cardiovascular disease, hypertension, high-density lipoprotein, cholesterol level <35 mg/dl and/or a triglyceride level >250 mg/dl and physical inactivity are at a higher risk for GDM and diabetes in general (7).

Other non-classical risk factors in pregnancy include excessive GWG, hypothyroidism, life events such as psychological stress, depression and other clinical conditions associated with insulin resistance (14). It has also been shown that women with preexisting β -cell dysfunction have reduced ability to increase insulin secretion to compensate for the decreasing insulin sensitivity as pregnancy progresses leading to an impaired glucose tolerance and the development of GDM.

GDM of any severity increases the risk of fetal and maternal complications both during and after pregnancy (15). Generally, adverse outcomes that are increased in the offspring of women with GDM include spontaneous abortion, fetal anomalies, preeclampsia, fetal demise, macrosomia, shoulder dystocia, neonatal hypoglycemia, hyperbilirubinemia, neonatal respiratory distress syndrome and preeclampsia among several others. In addition, GDM may increase the risk of obesity, hypertension and future diabetes in the offspring later in life (6,9,16,17). GDM is associated with an increased frequency of maternal hypertensive disorders and the need for cesarean delivery. Higher glycemic values lead to increased fetal glucose uptake which in turn stimulates fetal insulin secretion (18). This increases fetal adiposity and neonatal hypoglycemia once the neonate leaves the hyperglycemic maternal environment but its hyperinsulinemia still continues.

In the postpartum period, women with GDM have a higher risk of prediabetes and of future diabetes. Around 48% of women with GDM develop prediabetes and between 20%–60% of them develop diabetes in the postpartum period (2). The conversion of GDM to prediabetes and subsequent development of diabetes continues to be on the rise making GDM one of the important risk factor for diabetes (19). GDM also leads to longer-term risk of metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular morbidity and mortality (15,18,20–23).

A recent systematic review and meta-analysis including 9 studies in more than 5 million women found that GDM was associated with a 56% higher risk of future cardiovascular events and conferred a 2.3-fold increased risk of cardiovascular events within the first decade after pregnancy (24). This risk remained increased even in the absence of the development of diabetes (24).



Adapted from Louie et al. Curr Diab Rep. 2013

Fig 3: Risk factors and adverse outcomes of gestational diabetes (25).

The figure above however focuses more on insulin resistance and has little information on the reduction in insulin secretion in women with GDM. It does not also capture all the risk factors associated with GDM (indicated above) which include for example polycystic ovarian syndrome, history of cardiovascular disease including hypertension and physical inactivity as well as non-classical risk factors including excessive gestational weight gain, life events and depression.

GDM: gestational diabetes mellitus; IR: insulin resistance; IS: Insulin secretion; T2DM: type 2 diabetes mellitus; CVD: cardiovascular diseases; FHx: family history; BGL: blood glucose level

1.5 GDM and postpartum weight retention

Postpartum weight retention (PPWR) is defined as the difference between pre-pregnancy weight and weight at the 1-year postpartum period (26). PPWR is frequent (27) and represents a huge public health concern because of its contribution to the increase in non-communicable diseases and associated morbidities (28,29). Specifically, although women are advised to return to their prepregnancy weight after delivery, a significant proportion of pregnant women are unable to meet this recommendation (30,31). At 6-8 weeks postpartum for example, women with or without GDM retain an average of 3–7kg of GWG and at least two-thirds of women will still be above their prepregnancy weight even at 1-year postpartum (29,31). In the long term, PPWR leads to an upwards weight trajectory for women following childbirth and may lead to the development of several metabolic outcomes (32–34). It has been shown that modest PPWR increases the risk of obesity and higher PPWR leads to an increased risk of permanent obesity 5-10 years after birth, risk of diabetes and other cardiovascular diseases (35). In women with GDM (36), PPWR is associated with a higher risk of overweight/obesity (37), of prediabetes (38), of recurrent GDM (39) and of future diabetes (40,41). According to a study, PPWR of 4.5kg during a 7.5year follow-up was independently associated with a two-fold increase in the risk of future diabetes in women with GDM (42). In a 23 years follow-up, 42% of women with PPWR developed diabetes while the incidence of diabetes was almost half in the women without PPWR (43).



Fig 4: Long and short-term metabolic consequences of (excess) gestational weight gain (GWG) and postpartum weight retention in reproductive age women. (44). BMI: body mass index; GDM: gestational diabetes mellitus

1.6 Predictors of PPWR

Knowledge of the factors associated with PPWR can help to focus efforts and target optimal timing for interventions to reduce the long-term complications of PPWR in women with GDM. In the general population, the most important predictors of PPWR are higher pre-pregnancy BMI and excessive GWG (45,46). Other studies have also associated high fat and high energy-dense diets, physical inactivity, age, single women (47–49) and minority ethnic groups with PPWR (50).

A study reported that excess GWG, physical inactivity and increased amount of food intake in the postpartum period have increases the risk of PPWR (49). A systematic review also indicated that women aged below 20 or over 40 years at delivery, single women and women with lower income have a higher risk for PPWR (49). Other studies have shown that eating behavior (increase in intuitive eating habits), exclusive breastfeeding and lack of depression during and after pregnancy are protective factors for PPWR (51-53). It has been show that exclusive breastfeeding over 6 months and up to 24 months is protective of diabetes in women with GDM (54). In non-GDM populations many studies support excess GWG as a strong and pronounced predictor of PPWR at 6 weeks (55) and up to 12 months postpartum (56-59). Other studies suggest that exceeding the institute of medicine (IOM) guidelines according to pre-pregnancy BMI increases the risk of PPWR at 6 to 18 months (60–62). In 2009, the IOM published a revision of GWG guidelines that are based on pre-pregnancy BMI. These GWG recommendations were 12.5–18kg for underweight $(<18.5 \text{kg/m}^2)$, 11.5–16kg for normal weight (18.5–24.9 kg/m²), 7–11 kg for overweight (25.0– 29.9kg/m²) and 7kg for obese women (\geq 30kg/m²). These recommendations were supported by the WHO and were independent of age, parity, smoking history, race and ethnic background (63). However, studies in non-GDM populations only investigated excessive GWG without including total or absolute GWG. No study has investigated the effect of both exceeding IOM guidelines (=excessive GWG) and total GWG on PPWR and in the current population these guidelines may not be appropriate (anymore). In women with GDM, only one small study (n=75) has investigated the predictors of weight loss or lack of PPWR in women with GDM but it exclusively focused on the early postpartum period (6 weeks postpartum) (31). In that study, less GWG and no insulin use during pregnancy predicted a loss of at least 75% of GWG.

It is however not clear if those are also predictors of the recommended "complete" lack of PPWR (i.e. no weight increase at all when compared to the pre-pregnancy weight) and it is also not clear from a pathophysiological point of view why the authors chose a loss of at least 75% and not the recommended lack of PPWR.

1.7 Interventions to manage GDM

The goal of GDM management is to promote glucose control and improve pregnancy outcomes (2). As part of the recommendation for the management of GDM, all women with GDM are to receive nutritional and physical activity counseling. This is to help improve and stabilize glycemic targets. If nutritional and physical activity counselling are not sufficient to improve glycemic targets, other approaches such as medical nutrition therapy (MNT), insulin therapy or oral anti-diabetic pharmacological therapies including metformin are adopted (6,64).

Regarding the use of MNT, provision for adequate calories and nutrients to meet the needs of pregnancy are made to be consistent with established maternal blood glucose goals. Non-caloric sweeteners are to be used in moderation and for obese women, a 30–33% calorie restriction (to 25 kcal/kg actual weight per day) has been shown to reduce hyperglycemia (65,66). The ADA medical nutrition therapy recommendations for women with GDM include developing an individualized nutrition plan based on a minimum of 175g of carbohydrate, a minimum of 71g of protein, 28g of fiber and to have a diet low in saturated fat (6). The Endocrine society recommends 35-45% of carbohydrates, 3 small-to-moderate-sized meals, 2 to 4 snacks for non-obese women and restricting one-third of 1600-1800kcal/d calorie intake for obese women (67). The objectives of these guidelines are to provide optimal calorie intake needed to promote fetal/neonatal and maternal health while achieving glycemic goals and promoting optimal GWG.

A recent Cochrane review suggested that although dietary advice is the main strategy for managing GDM, it however remains unclear what type of advice is best and hence more evidence on the type of nutritional advice is needed (68). Studies show that a restriction of carbohydrates to 35–40% of calories decreases maternal glucose levels and improves maternal and fetal outcomes (69).

Regular physical activity during pregnancy in general improves or maintains physical fitness, promotes weight and glucose control and enhances psychological well-being. Although there are no specific or detailed physical activity guidelines for women with GDM, it is recommended to engage in both aerobic (including walking, jogging, aerobic dance, swimming, hydrotherapy aerobics, rope skipping, hiking and rowing) and resistance exercise (e.g. weightlifting) at a moderate intensity of a minimum of three times a week (30-60min each time for at least 150minutes per week) (70).

Regarding GDM treatment recommendations, the ADA recommends insulin as the preferred medication for treating hyperglycemia. The use of metformin and glyburide is not recommended as first-line agents as both drugs cross the placenta to the fetus. It also recommends that metformin should be discontinued at the end of the first trimester if it is used to treat polycystic ovary syndrome and induce ovulation (6). The use of insulin together with MNT also reduces fetal morbidities.

It is worthy to note that several other recommendations include the use of metformin for women with GDM (71). For example, the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), recommends insulin over metformin for women with GDM. However, metformin can be administered if blood glucose targets are not met even after changes in diet and exercise (71).

Regarding long-term GDM management and the prevention of future metabolic risks, a routine screening at 4-12weeks postpartum is recommended (1). Metabolic changes after pregnancy turn back to "normal" around 4-6weeks after delivery. Due to insurance purposes, this screening is performed before 8weeks postpartum in Switzerland. The ADA recommends performing a 75g oGTT. Diagnostic criteria are the same as outside of pregnancy or the perinatal period and are as follows: normal glucose: if fasting glucose is <5.6mmol/l, 2h is <7,8 mmol/l and HbA1c is <5.7%; prediabetes/glucose intolerance: if either fasting glucose is 5.6-6.9 mmol/l, or 2h is 7.8-11.0 mmol/l or HbA1c is 5.7- 6.4% and diabetes is diagnosed if fasting glucose is \geq 7.0, mmol/l, or 2h is \geq 11.1 mmol/l or HbA1c is \geq 6.5% (7).

If glucose levels are normal at around 6weeks postpartum, reassessment of glycaemia at 1-3 yearly interval is recommended using fasting glucose and/or HbA1c (1). Women with impaired fasting glucose or impaired glucose tolerance at 6weeks postpartum need annual testing; these patients are to receive intervention because of their higher diabetes risk (9). Educating and counselling patients with previous GDM on lifestyle modifications helps to lower the risk of insulin resistance including maintenance of normal body weight through healthy nutritional habits and physical activity. Education should also include the need for family planning to ensure optimal glycemic regulation before and from the start of any subsequent pregnancy.

1.8 Role of lifestyle interventions in GDM management

The cornerstone of GDM treatment requires nutrition/diet and exercise intervention to achieve weight and glucose control and also to reduce the need for medical therapy (64). These interventions are collectively termed as lifestyle interventions. These interventions provide dietary and lifestyle advice as the primary prevention strategy for women with GDM (10,72).

Regarding nutrition several diets such as low glycemic index (GI) diet, total energy restriction diet, low carbohydrate diet and ethnic or traditional diets, such as the Mediterranean diets are have been studied for the management of weight and glycemic control in women with GDM. Regarding physical activity/exercise intervention several exercise regimes also exist.

The results of these lifestyle interventions have however been unsatisfactory and their sustained effects have been controversial (10,73). In a Cochrane review of lifestyle intervention trials among women with GDM, only one trial found a difference between the intervention and the control group regarding the incidence of type-2 diabetes and prediabetes in the postpartum period (10). In a study involving lifestyle intervention during and after pregnancy in women with GDM, there were no significant differences in postpartum weight and in physical activity between the intervention and control group but the intervention group had a decreased dietary fat intake (74). In another recent systematic review and meta-analysis of 15 trials in women with previous GDM, half of the lifestyle interventions led to a marginal reduction in weight and the incidence of diabetes but effect sizes were small and their sustained effects remain controversial (75). It is therefore of utmost importance to explore new approaches to weight and glucose control in these women. In addition inconsistency, imprecision and the variation in the content of the lifestyle intervention is of major concern.

1.9 Eating behavior and GDM

Eating behavior relates to food choices and motives, eating practices, dieting, and eating-related problems such eating and feeding disorders (76). Eating behavior focuses on the etiology, prevention, treatment of eating disorders as well as the promotion of healthy eating patterns (76). Poor dietary behaviors are prevalent among women with GDM and hence confidence associated with healthy eating behaviors can help improve GDM outcomes (77).

Skills in cooking healthy foods along with family food preferences and time pressures are important influences on eating habits (78). Behavioral and cognitive factors mediate healthy behaviors by improving eating behaviors and habits (79).

Negative emotions such as depression are psychological factors related to eating disorders. Some individuals who struggle with their weight engage in a maladaptive eating behavior termed emotional eating (80). Emotional eating refers to the tendency to eat in response to aversive negative states (81) and has been related to both obesity and depressive symptoms (80,82). Individuals who engage in disordered eating tend to think of food as either "good or bad", themselves as being "on" or "off" a diet and their weight as "acceptable" or "totally unacceptable" (83). Rigid dietary rules and all-or-nothing cognitions are generally present in individuals with weight and glucose problems such as those with GDM. Eating behavior plays an important role in explaining weight-BMI relationships and cardio-metabolic outcomes (79,84–87). Therefore, in the context of identifying interventions to promote healthy weight and glucose levels during and after pregnancy in women with GDM due to the inconsistent and controversial results from typical lifestyle interventions, other interventions that promote eating behavior and not exclusively focused on food choices could play a novel role.

1.10 The intuitive eating concept

Research suggests that adaptive eating behaviors that encourage people to recognize and respond to their internal signs of hunger and satiety prevents emotional eating and dietary restriction (88– 90) and may lead to lower weight and BMI (91). One such adaptive eating behavior is intuitive eating (IE). IE is characterized by eating in response to physiological hunger and satiety cues rather than external and/or emotional cues (92,93). IE has interoceptive abilities that determine when and how much to eat and to accurately perceive and respect one's hunger and satiety cues. IE tendencies are related to emotional, psychological and physical well-being (94). The concept of IE as interoceptive comprises of sensing the physiological condition of the body as well as the representation of the internal state (95). IE is a more sustainable long-term eating behavior than dieting and is known to be associated with lower levels of cholesterol and cardiovascular risk. It is also inversely associated with disordered eating behavior, leads to body shape satisfaction and is associated with lower weight and glucose

control in cross-sectional studies (96,97).

IE is assessed with the Intuitive Eating Scale-2 (IES-2); a validated self-report questionnaire (91). The original version of the IES-2 (English version) consists of four subscales. These subscales are 1) Eating for physical rather than emotional reasons subscale that assesses how much eating is affected by emotional responses. 2) The Reliance on hunger and satiety cues subscale that evaluates the extent to which individuals are aware and able to trust internal signals rather than relying on external rules/cues. 3) The Unconditional permission to eat when hungry subscale that assesses whether an individual purposefully tries to ignore hunger and satiety signals and 4) the Body-Food Choice Congruence subscale (91). The validated French version however contains three subscales. These are the eating for physical rather than emotional reasons subscale, the reliance on hunger and satiety subscale and the unconditional permission to eat subscale (98).

1.11 Intuitive eating and dietary intake

Despite that fact that IE has shown benefits for psychological wellbeing and improvements in physical health and wellbeing, there is scarce information on the relationship between IE and food/dietary intake (99).

One could attribute this to the concern that nutritionists do not promote IE due to a concern that individuals may consume high levels of high fat or high sugar foods (100). On the contrary however, IE involves the idea of 'body wisdom' (101) and eating intuitively is expected to lead and promote healthy dietary patterns and food intakes (102). One principle of IE specifically refers to making "food choices that honor your health and taste buds while making you feel well". Since restrained eaters tend to overeat (103) and emotional eaters tend to consume more fatty or sweet foods over time (104), reductions in restraint and emotional eating through IE may rather lower intakes of such foods. Few studies have explored the relationships between food intake and IE among men and non-pregnant women (105). A study that explored the first three dimensions of the intuitive eating scale-2 (IES-2; eating for physical rather than emotional reasons subscale, reliance on hunger and satiety cues subscale and the unconditional permission to eat subscale) reported that different aspects of IE relate to food intake in different ways (105). Few studies have explored the impact of IE interventions on food intake outside of pregnancy and findings were mixed. Three studies reported a positive impact on diet quality scores (102,106,107), while others found a relationship between higher IE scores and healthy dietary intake (108,109). Results from the Swiss food panel study also revealed that the four subscales of IES-2 showed different relationships with food intake (99). In contrast to the other subscales, unconditional permission to eat moderately correlated with poorer diet quality scores and consistently showed associations with a more negative self-evaluation of eating behavior. The other three IES-2 subscales showed a few small positive and negative correlations with food intake including positive associations of diet quality scores in women with the eating for physical rather than emotional reasons and the reliance on hunger and satiety cues subscales.
There is therefore the need for further studies to investigate the relationship between IE and dietary intake in a quest to find strategies to promote healthy weight and improve glucose control in women with GDM.

1.12 Intuitive eating and metabolic outcomes

Dietary intake mediates the relationship between IE and metabolic health outcomes and hence there is the need to identify strategies that promote both healthy dietary eating and intuitive eating. IE practices promote metabolic health by preventing disordered and emotional eating that are associated with adverse metabolic health outcomes (88). Compared to studies (110,111) that focused on lifestyle interventions and nutritional advice such as total energy intake, macronutrient contents of foods, type of carbohydrates, portion sizes and eating frequency, IE represents an interesting and different approach to weight loss and glycemic control. Outside of pregnancy, evidence from cross-sectional studies suggest that IE is associated with lower BMI (112-114) with weight loss in an intervention trial (115,116) and with glycemic control in two observational studies involving the general adult population (117,118) and with lower weight and fasting glucose in the postpartum period (119). Studies have confirmed the association between IE with improved metabolic outcomes such a weight, BMI and fasting glucose (91,93,120). Furthermore, eating in response to hunger and satiety signals predicted lower BMI in a study involving 1600 New-Zealand women aged 40-50 years. In a study involving adolescent with type-1 diabetes, increased adherence to IE was associated with 11% lower HbA1c per unit increase in IE score (117). In another cross-sectional study, the relationship between IE and BMI was partially mediated by frequency of binge eating. This suggests that higher adherence to IE may prevent disordered eating and in turn influence weight and BMI outcomes (114).

A large population based study (9581 men and 31,955 women) in France indicated a stronger crosssectional association between higher IE scores with lower odds of overweight or obesity in both men and women and thus support earlier findings using smaller sample sizes that IE adherence leads to favorable metabolic health outcomes (116).

According to a review of 26 studies (17 cross-sectional survey studies and 9 clinical studies, 8 of which were randomized controlled trials) cross-sectional surveys found an inverse association between IE and BMI (118). IE was positively associated with various health indicators such as blood pressure and cholesterol levels (118). Results from 9 clinical trials involving a total of 941 obese/overweight women found that IE leads to weight maintenance and improves physical health indicators including glucose control (118). Research on IE has increased in recent years. Past research demonstrates substantial and consistent associations between IE and metabolic health. These notwithstanding, no study have investigated the potential association between IE during pregnancy with any metabolic health outcomes including weight and glucose levels. Specifically, there is no study focusing on women with GDM either during pregnancy or in the postpartum period. It is therefore important that future studies explore the relationship between IE and weight and glucose levels outcomes in women with GDM in the perinatal period as they are at a higher risk of weight gain and metabolic disturbances such as prediabetes and diabetes during this critical time period. This is particularly important in view of the low success of lifestyle interventions and the need for new approaches to weight loss and glucose control.

2.0 AIMS OF THE THESIS

2.1 Overall thesis goal

The overall goal of this thesis was to study the relationship between nutrition behavior (focusing on intuitive eating (IE)) with weight and glucose levels in women with GDM. It sought to primarily determine cross-sectional and longitudinal relationships between IE and weight and glucose levels during and after pregnancy in these women. It also investigated the predictors and consequences of PPWR in the early and late postpartum period.

2.2 Thesis outline and study objectives

This thesis is divided into three different studies/articles. Below are the individual studies and their specific objectives.

1. Intuitive eating is associated with metabolic health during pregnancy and in the early postpartum period in women with GDM (Study 1)

Objective: To investigate the cross-sectional and longitudinal associations between IE and metabolic health during pregnancy and in the early post-partum period.

Hypothesis: IE is associated with weight and glycemic control during pregnancy and in the early postpartum period in women with GDM.

2. Intuitive eating is associated with improved health indicators at 1-year postpartum in women with GDM (Study 2)

Objective: To evaluate the associations between IE during and after pregnancy with metabolic health outcomes at 1-year postpartum in all women with GDM who were followed beyond the early postpartum period and in high-risk GDM subgroups with pre-pregnancy overweight/obesity or with postpartum prediabetes.

Hypothesis: There are longitudinal and cross-sectional associations between IE during and after pregnancy with metabolic health at 1-year postpartum in women with GDM and in high-risk GDM subgroups with overweight/obesity or with prediabetes.

3. Predictors and consequences of weight retention in the early and late postpartum period in women with GDM (Study 3)

Objective: To determine the predictors and consequences of PPWR in the early and late postpartum period in women with GDM.

Hypothesis: Anthropometric (e.g. pre-pregnancy weight, changes in weight, BMI) and glucose control variables (fasting glucose, HbA1c) are predictors of PPWR and women with PPWR have increased adverse metabolic consequences in the early and late postpartum period compared to those with no PPWR.

It is worthy to note that, all three studies (1-3) are published. Details of these studies can be found in the appendix section.

3.0 GENERAL METHODS

The first part of this section of the thesis provides a summary of the main methods involved in this thesis and the second part summarizes the specific individual methods involved in the different studies. Complete and detailed methods used in each study/article can be found in the appendix section.

3.1 Summary of the general methods

3.2 General participant consent and recruitment

This thesis utilized data from an ongoing cohort of women with GDM. We invited pregnant women diagnosed with GDM to participate in this cohort at the GDM clinic in the Lausanne University Hospital (CHUV). Our participants were pregnant women referred by the CHUV antenatal clinic and by obstetricians in private practice in the Canton de Vaud. The Human Research Ethics Committee of the Canton de Vaud approved the study protocol (326/15).

3.3 Cohort database

This ongoing longitudinal cohort started in October 2011. The database consists of data from women with GDM followed during pregnancy and in the postpartum period at the GDM clinic in the CHUV. In August 2015 we extended the follow-up period from 6-8 weeks postpartum to 1-year and subsequently also included IE assessment. The individual studies involved in this thesis utilized data during pregnancy, in the 6-8 weeks and 1-year postpartum period depending on the objective of the individual study/article.

3.4 General data collection and assessments

Data from women in this cohort and involved in this thesis were retrieved from seven time points that correspond to six clinical visits.

Initially, women are screened for GDM using an oGTT (pre-GDM/ first time point). This first visit is not in the GDM clinic. Then women are seen for the first time in the GDM clinic (first GDM visit/ second time point) where anthropometric measures, HbA1c, assessment of intuitive eating (since 2015) and demographic characteristics are assessed. A dietary counseling by a dietitian then follows after 1 week where participants are advised on the carbohydrate content of their foods and drinks and the need to avoid or limit certain foods in order to improve their eating habits and glycemic profile (third time point). The fourth time point is the last visit during pregnancy prior to delivery. During this visit metabolic and anthropometric variables were again assessed. At delivery (fifth time point) obstetric and neonatal outcomes of the study participants and their offspring are assessed. This visit is not in the GDM clinic. Women then attend a 6-8weeks postpartum (sixth time point) visit after delivery, which is characterized by glucose control assessment i.e. the performance of an oGTT and HbA1c, and collection of anthropometric data, intuitive eating assessments and a clinical visit with a physician and dietician together. The last visit (seventh time point) is the 1-year postpartum visit. During this visit, women are assessed again for glucose control assessment i.e. fasting glucose and HbA1c, anthropometric data, and intuitive eating measurements. Below is a detailed presentation of the GDM clinic set-up, visits and the measures at each time point.

The GDM clinic set-up and data collection process



Fig 5: GDM cohort set-up and data collection process.

The cohort database is hosted by an online data management resource called *SecuTrial*, which is jointly managed by the CHUV information technology unit and the GDM research unit. Below is an image of the various time points and individual data stored. The ongoing longitudinal cohort has 1441 participants who are at various stages of the data collection as of 31.01.2020.

The cohort database



Fig 6: The online data management platform of the cohort data

3.5 General inclusion and exclusion criteria

The general inclusion criteria in this thesis were women who were ≥ 18 years with GDM diagnosis that were followed in the GDM clinic, who understood French or English and consented to participate. Data used in all the analyses of this thesis first excluded those with known type-1 diabetes, type-2 diabetes, newly diagnosed diabetes in pregnancy, glucose intolerance but no GDM, those with normal oGTT results, with GDM diagnosed at ≤ 13 weeks and those participating in an active lifestyle intervention study.

Depending on the specific study objective, other exclusion criteria were applied. This included the removal of those who did not attend the 6-8 weeks postpartum visit, those without IE scores or those without data for the 1-year postpartum visit.



Fig 7. Flow chart describing the selection of study participants

oGTT: oral glucose tolerance test; GDM: gestational diabetes mellitus; RCT: randomized controlled trials

3.6 Specific inclusion/exclusion criteria (studies 1-3)

In addition to the general inclusion/exclusion criteria, had additional exclusion criteria for studies 1-3 depending on the specific study objective:

Study 1: Intuitive eating is associated with metabolic health during pregnancy and in the early postpartum period in women with GDM

For this study, the additional exclusion criteria in addition to those mentioned in section 3.5 (page 25) were women who did not complete an IE questionnaire at the first GDM visit and those who did not attend the 6-8 weeks postpartum appointment visit.

The flow of selecting study participants for this specific study is as follows: out of the cohort population of 1000 participants (at the time of analysis of this analysis) that were followed in our clinic (2011-2017), we excluded those who did not complete an IE questionnaire at the first GDM visit (N=533) and those who did not attend the 6-8 weeks postpartum visit (N=32). Out of the eligible cohort population of 435 participants, we then excluded those who did not sign an informed consent (N= 145). Participants with known type 1 diabetes (N= 7), known type 2 diabetes (N= 9), GDM diagnosed at \leq 13 weeks (N= 11), diabetes diagnosed during pregnancy at \leq 20 weeks (N= 19), normal (i.e. negative) oGTT results (N=7), with glucose intolerance but no GDM (N= 2) and those participating in a form of an active lifestyle randomized controlled trial (RCT) intervention (N= 21) were also excluded. Overall, 214 women were included in the final analysis.

Study 2: Intuitive eating is associated with improved health indicators at 1-year postpartum in women with GDM

For this study, the additional exclusion criteria in addition to those mentioned in section 3.5 (page 25) were women who did not complete the IES-2 at the first GDM visit and at 1-year visit and those who did not attend the 1-year postpartum appointment visit.

The flow of selecting study participants for this specific study is as follows: out of a cohort population of 1068 participants (at the time of this analysis) that were followed at our clinic from 2011-2018 we first excluded those who did not sign an informed consent (N= 177) and did not complete the IES-2 at the first GDM visit and at 1-year visit (N=558). Out of a cohort population of 333 participants that consented, we removed participants who did not come for 1-year postpartum appointment visit (N=144) as they did not have valid data for our main questions and hypothesis. Participants with known type 1 diabetes (N= 2), known type 2 diabetes (N= 6), had GDM at \leq 13 weeks (N= 10), had diabetes diagnosed during pregnancy at \leq 20 weeks (N= 8), with oGTT results that were normal (N= 3), with glucose intolerance but no GDM (N= 1) and were participating in a lifestyle intervention study (N=42) who are part of our cohort database were also excluded as they did not meet the inclusion criteria. Overall, 117 women were eligible and thus included in the final analysis. Figure 1 shows the details of how participants in this study were selected.

Study 3: Predictors and consequences of weight retention in the early and late postpartum period in women with GDM

For this study, the additional exclusion criteria in addition to those mentioned in section 3.5 (page 25) were women who did not attend the postpartum appointment visits (i.e. both the 6-8 weeks and 1-year visits).

The flow of selecting study participants for this specific study is as follows: out of a total consented cohort population of 1039 women (at the time of this analysis) we first excluded those with known type 1 diabetes (N=13), type 2 diabetes (N=18), newly diagnosed diabetes in pregnancy (N=9), glucose intolerance but no GDM (N=2), with normal oGTT results (N=8), with GDM diagnosed at \leq 13 weeks (N=13), and those participating in an active lifestyle intervention study (N=53).

We then excluded those who did not attend the 6-8 weeks postpartum visit (N=61). Following this, 862 women were eligible and were included in our final analysis. Of these 862 women, all of them had completed the 6-8 weeks postpartum visit, whereas 259 (30%) had completed the 1-year postpartum visit at the time of this analysis. The main reason for the low numbers of patients at 1-year postpartum visit is that the implementation of the 1-year postpartum follow-up visit started in August 2015.

The following paragraphs summarize the variables and measures used in my thesis project in either of the three studies.

3.7 Assessment of Intuitive eating (IE)

We assessed IE (Studies 1 &2) with the French Intuitive Eating Scale-2 (IES-2) corresponding to the language of our population.

The French IES-2 is an18-item validated self-report questionnaire that assesses individuals' tendency to follow their physiological, hunger and satiety in relation to eating. The French IES-2 consists of three (3) subscales. These are (1) the Eating for physical rather than emotional reasons (EPR, 8 items) subscale; that assesses how much eating is affected by emotional responses, (2) the Reliance on hunger and satiety cues (RHSC, 6 items) subscale; that evaluates the extent to which individuals are aware and able to trust internal signals rather than relying on external rules/cues.

The Unconditional permission to eat (UPE, 4 items) when hungry subscale (3) that assesses whether an individual purposefully tries to ignore hunger and satiety signals (116,121). The English IES-2 (23-item questionnaire), however, consists of four subscales. These are the EPR (8 items) subscale, the RHSC (6 items) subscale, the UPE (4 items) and the Body-Food Choice Congruence (BFC-C, 5 items) subscale (88,91). Both French and English IES-2 questionnaires have demonstrated good psychometric properties in pregnant women (121). In an earlier study, the Cronbach's alphas (α) for the two subscales were 0.92 and 0.87 for EPR and RHSC respectively which suggests a good internal reliability among the subscales (121). IE has interoceptive abilities that are suggested to determine when/how much to eat, and to accurately perceive and respect one's hunger and satiety cues. Thus IE tendencies are related to emotional, psychological, and physical well-being (94). Details of the IES-2 questionnaire have been previously described (91). For the purpose of this thesis, we removed the UPE subscale (4 items) from the French IES-2. This is because women involved in this study had in general one pre-partum visit with a registered dietician during pregnancy and another visit in the early post-partum period (6-8 weeks postpartum).

This second visit in the early postpartum period was of short duration and done together with the diabetologist or diabetes educator and focused predominantly on reporting the results of the postpartum oral glucose tolerance testing (oGTT).

Women had no further dietician appointment after this visit. In the general population of our women with gestational diabetes, about 85% are usually seeing a dietician and the main reasons for not seeing one are: appointment-scheduling problems or arrival at the GDM clinic at a very advanced stage of pregnancy. We believe that, discussions during diet counselling could significantly influence participant responses to the UPE subscale questions such as: "I try to avoid certain foods high in fat, carbohydrates, or calories", as participants were advised on carbohydrate content of their foods and to avoid or limit certain food like soft drinks, sweet products, added sugar and fruits juice in order to improve their eating habits and glycemic profile. We therefore only used the EPR and RHSC subscales of the French IES-2 and an English translation using the forward-backward translation and cultural adaption method (122) made by our research team (with the same 14 items; EPR has 8 items and RHSC has 6 items); they were then given to participants who speak French and English, respectively. Women completed the EPR and RHSC subscales of the IES-2 questionnaire during the first GDM visit (study1 & 2) and at one-year postpartum visit (study 2) by responding to a 5-point Likert scale response ranging from one (1) 'strongly disagree' to five (5) 'strongly agree' to each item in both subscales. We then calculated the EPR and RHSC subscale scores as recommended by dividing the total scores obtained from the sum of 1-5 from each item by the total number of items in each subscale (EPR by 8 and RHSC by 6) leading to a possible subscale score between one and five (0 and 5). Higher scores indicated greater levels of IE. A higher score of the EPR subscale reflects eating as an answer to hunger and a lower score meant eating to cope with emotional distress, whereas a higher score of the RHSC subscale signifies trust in internal cues, and a lower score reflects less ability to regulate food intake.

3.8 Assessment of glycemic control variables

Participants underwent a 75g oral glucose tolerance test (oGTT) during pregnancy at 24-32 weeks of gestation unless an initial fasting glucose was \geq 5.1 mmol/L. Women were diagnosed of GDM if one of the following criteria were met: fasting glucose \geq 5.1 mmol/L, 1-hr glucose \geq 10.0 mmol/L, or 2-hr glucose \geq 8.5 mmol/L using the IAPDSG (17) and ADA guidelines (7). At the first GDM visit, HbA1c was measured using a chemical photometric method (conjugation with boronate; Afinion®). At 6-8 weeks and 1-year postpartum, an oGTT was performed to measure fasting glucose, 2-hr glucose and HbA1c with a high performance liquid chromatography method (HPLC). Both methods are traceable to the international federation of clinical chemistry and laboratory medicine (IFCC) reference method for measurement of HbA1c (123). Prediabetes was diagnosed when a participant's fasting glucose at the postpartum period was between 5.6-6.9 mmol/l, the 2h glucose was between 7.8-11.0 mmol/l or HbA1c at 1-year postpartum was between 5.7- 6.4%.

3.9 Anthropometric variables

Pre-pregnancy weight was taken from participants' medical charts or, if missing was self-reported (for the 1-2 months before pregnancy). We measured weight at the first GDM visit, at the end of pregnancy, at 6-8 weeks and at 1-year postpartum to the nearest 0.1 kg in women wearing light clothes and no shoes with a regularly calibrated electronic scale (Seca®). We measured height at the first GDM visit to the nearest 0.1 cm with a regularly calibrated Seca® height scale. GWG was defined as the difference between pre-pregnancy weight and weight at the end of pregnancy. We calculated the BMI as the ratio of weight in kilograms to the square of height in meters (kg/m²). We defined overweight and obesity as BMI between 25.0-29.9 Kg/m² and \geq 30 kg/m² respectively.

Based on the pre-pregnancy BMI and GWG, women were classified as being below (inadequate), within (adequate) or above (excessive) the Institute of Medicine (IOM) GWG recommendations (124). We calculated PPWR by either subtracting the pre-pregnancy weight from the weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum (early PPWR) and from the weight at 1-year postpartum (late PPWR). Information on GDM treatment during pregnancy (use of insulin and/or metformin; yes/no) and caesarean section (yes/no) were obtained from medical charts.

3.9 Socio-demographic characteristics and additional health variables

During the first GDM visit, information on participants' characteristics including age, educational level, and ethnic origin, family history of type-2 diabetes, history of previous GDM, parity, gravida, and smoking during pregnancy were obtained during a structured face-to-face interview. We categorized educational level into "no formal education; compulsory school achieved; general and vocational training levels; high school and university education" (125,126). Information on partner support was obtained during the face-to-face interview and was categorized as either "living with a partner or not". We categorized family history of type-2 diabetes, as either "first-degree, second degree or none" whereas previous history of GDM and smoking during pregnancy were categorized as either 'yes' or 'no'. We grouped parity into "none, one, two and \geq three" whereas gravida consisted of "one, two or three". In the routine clinical visit at 6-8 weeks postpartum, information about breastfeeding (yes/no) and contraception use (yes/no) were obtained. To assess their mental health, women completed the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) questionnaire during their first GDM visit (at 24-32 weeks) and in the postpartum period. This questionnaire is a ten-item self-report questionnaire designed and validated to screen women for symptoms of depression during pregnancy and in the postnatal period (127).

The possible scores of the EPDS questionnaire range from 0 to 30 points, with a higher total score indicating more severe depressive symptoms.

3.10 Statistical analyses (studies 1-3)

Study 1: *Intuitive eating is associated with metabolic health during pregnancy and in the early postpartum period in women with GDM.*

All analyses were conducted using the SPSS software version 25 (32). All descriptive variables were presented as either means (±standard deviation) or in percentages (%) where appropriate.

Both predictor (EPR and RHSC subscales of the IES-2 questionnaire) and outcome (BMI, weight and glycemic control including fasting glucose, 1hr glucose, 2hr glucose and HbA1c at the different time points) variables were normally distributed. The correlation between the two subscales of IES-2 questionnaire was low-to moderate (r=0.35, P<0.01). We conducted a linear regression analysis to determine the cross-sectional and longitudinal associations between the two subscales of IESat the first GDM visit with BMI, weight, fasting glucose, 1hr glucose, 2hr glucose and HbA1c during pregnancy (cross-sectional analysis), at the end of pregnancy and at 6-8 weeks postpartum, respectively (longitudinal analysis). We made use of three models in the regression analyses. Model 1 consisted of unadjusted regression estimates. In model 2, we adjusted for sociodemographic characteristics that showed significance with at least one of metabolic health outcome variables (BMI, weight, fasting glucose, 1h or 2h glucose, HbA1c) at either the first GDM visit or at 6-8 weeks postpartum. This was tested for age, gestational age, education level, nationality, employment status, family history of type-2 diabetes, history of GDM, smoking and alcohol intake during pregnancy, gravida, parity, and medical treatment during pregnancy. Of these potential confounder variables, age, gestational age, smoking during pregnancy, parity, and medical treatment during pregnancy showed significance with one of the metabolic health outcome variables and were thus included in Model 2 as confounder variables. We did not adjust for medical treatment in our cross-sectional analysis because women had not started medical treatment during the first GDM visit, as this had no effect on the potential associations between IE and metabolic health at the first GDM visit. We however adjusted for this in our longitudinal analyses. When the outcome was glycemic control (fasting glucose and HbA1c), we added a third model: model 3, where we adjusted for weight at the respective time points (at the first GDM visit and at 6-8 weeks postpartum). All analyses were conducted separately for both subscales of the IES-2 questionnaire. All statistical significances were two sided and accepted at p < 0.05.

Study 2: Intuitive eating is associated with improved health indicators at 1-year postpartum in women with GDM

All descriptive variables were presented as either means (±standard deviation) or in percentages (%), where appropriate. Both predictor (EPR and RHSC subscales of the IES-2 questionnaire at first GDM visit and at 1-year postpartum visit) and outcome (BMI, weight retention, HbA1c and fasting glucose at the different time points) variables were normally distributed. The EPR and RHSC subscales showed a moderate correlation of 0.42 (p<0.001) at the first GDM visit and 0.51 (p<0.001) at 1-year postpartum. We conducted a linear regression analysis to determine the associations between IE at the first GDM visit (longitudinal) and at the 1-year postpartum visit (cross-sectional) with BMI, weight retention, fasting glucose, and HbA1c at 1-year postpartum. We adjusted for socio-demographic characteristics that showed statistical significance with at least one of the metabolic health outcome variables (BMI, weight, weight retention, fasting glucose and HbA1c) at 1-year postpartum.

We tested for age, gestational age at the first GDM visit, education level, nationality, employment status, family history of type-2 diabetes, history of GDM, smoking and alcohol intake during pregnancy, parity, and breastfeeding in the early postpartum period. Of these potential confounder variables, age and gestational age showed significance with at least one of the metabolic health outcomes. We therefore adjusted for age and gestational age at the first GDM visit as confounders for all analyses. When the outcome was glycemic control (HbA1c or fasting glucose), we further adjusted for BMI at first GDM visit. We did this to see if the relationship was mediated by BMI. We conducted all analyses separately for EPR and RHSC subscales at the first GDM visit and at 1-year postpartum. We also evaluated the associations between the two IE subscales at the first GDM visit and at 1-year postpartum with metabolic health outcomes in the high-risk GDM subgroups with prediabetes or overweight/obesity and in the respective low-risk subgroups. Both IE scores at both time points were analyzed using correlation analyses and paired t-tests (between first visit and 1-year postpartum). All statistical significances were two sided and accepted at p< 0.05.

Study 3: Predictors and consequences of weight retention in the early and late postpartum period in women with GDM

Demographic and other descriptive variables are presented as either means (±standard deviation) or in percentages (%). PPWR variable and all outcome parameters were normally distributed. We categorized this continuous variable (PPWR) into two groups: either no PPWR when the difference between a participant's weight before pregnancy and weight at the postpartum period (either 6-8 weeks or 1-year visit) was ≤ 0 kg and into PPWR if the difference is ≥ 0.1 kg. We performed an ANOVA analysis to compare the anthropometric and metabolic characteristics (independent continuous variables) of participants according to weight retention categories.

In order to determine the predictors of PPWR at 6-8 weeks and at 1-year postpartum, we conducted an initial univariate logistic regression analysis. We selected potential predictors for the univariate regression analyses based on the existing literature. These variables were; age, educational level, nationality, history of GDM, family history of diabetes, parity, gravida, delivery by caesarean section, partner support, GDM treatment, contraception use, breastfeeding and depression score at the first GDM visit, pre-pregnancy weight, fasting, 1hr and 2hr glucose after oGTT at GDM diagnosis, total GWG, excess GWG according to IOM guidelines, fasting glucose, 2hr glucose after oGTT and HbA1c, all at 6-8 weeks postpartum. We then modeled the odds of PPWR (at the 6-8 weeks and 1-year postpartum visits) using multivariable logistic regression models with backward elimination by including variables with p<0.25 in the initial univariate regression analysis. Based on this, the following predictor variables were included in the 6-8 weeks postpartum model: family history of diabetes, partner support, breastfeeding and depression score at the first GDM visit, pre-pregnancy weight, 2hr glucose after oGTT at GDM diagnosis, total and excess GWG according to IOM guidelines. The following predictor variables were included in the 1-year postpartum model: age, family history of diabetes, partner support, depression score at the first GDM visit, total GWG, excess GWG, and HbA1c at 6-8 weeks postpartum visit. For the 1year postpartum analysis, we made use of two models; one in parallel to the model performed at 6-8 weeks postpartum and thus without any variable obtained after delivery i.e., without HbA1c at 6-8 weeks postpartum (model 1) and one including significant variables after delivery, i.e. HbA1c at 6-8 weeks postpartum (model 2). We then selected the regression model with the lowest Akaike information criterion (AIC) as our final model for both time points. We tested for collinearity of the included predictor variables, and none displayed excessive collinearity. The variance inflation factor (VIF) in the regression models were less than 2 (between 1.0-1.4), and thus acceptable. All statistical significances were two sided and accepted at p < 0.05.

4.0 GENERAL RESULTS

The section of the thesis provides a summary of the main results of the studies involved in this thesis. The complete and detailed results of each study can be found in the appendix section.

Study 1: Intuitive eating is associated with metabolic health during pregnancy and in the early postpartum period in women with GDM

Cross-sectional associations between intuitive eating during pregnancy and metabolic outcomes during pregnancy

This study included 214 women. Their mean score of the eating for physical rather than emotional reasons subscale at first GDM visit was 3.8 ± 0.9 , whereas the mean score of the reliance on hunger and satiety subscale was 3.5 ± 0.9 . Table 3 below shows the cross-sectional associations between the two scales of intuitive eating scale-2 (IES-2) with BMI, weight and glycemic control at the first GDM visit. Cross-sectional analyses showed that both subscales of IES-2 at the first GDM visit were associated with lower weight and BMI before pregnancy, weight, fasting glucose and HbA1c at the first GDM visit (β = -0.171 to -0.222, all p≤ 0.01). However the reliance on hunger and satiety subscale was not significantly associated with HbA1c at the first GDM visit. After adjusting for confounders including age, gestational age, smoking, and parity (model 2) the associations between the two subscales of IES-2 with weight and BMI before pregnancy and weight at first GDM visit remained unchanged. The association between eating for physical rather than emotional reasons subscale with fasting glucose and HbA1c also remained largely unchanged, except that the association between the reliance on hunger and satiety subscale with fasting glucose was attenuated (p=0.095), albeit with a similar beta-coefficient. When fasting glucose or HbA1c was the outcome, we adjusted for weight at first GDM visit as a potential confounder (model 3).

The relationship between the eating for physical rather than the emotional subscale with fasting glucose and HbA1c were attenuated (both $p \le 0.07$), while the relationship between the reliance on hunger and satiety subscale and fasting glucose remained insignificant (p=0.261). This shows that weight partly mediates the relationship between IE and fasting glucose in our sample.

Longitudinal associations between intuitive eating during pregnancy and metabolic outcomes at 6-8 weeks postpartum

Table 4 shows the longitudinal associations between IES-2 at the first GDM visit with BMI, weight and glycemic control at the end of pregnancy and at 6-8 weeks postpartum visit. Both subscales of IES-2 at first GDM visit were associated with lower weight at the end of pregnancy, weight, BMI and fasting glucose at 6-8 weeks postpartum (β =-0.139 to -0.242, all P \leq 0.046) (model 1). None of the IES-2 subscales was related to weight at first GDM visit, change in weight at the end of pregnancy and change in weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum. After adjusting for confounders including age, gestational age, smoking, parity, and medical treatment during pregnancy (model 2), the significant associations between the two subscales of IES-2 with weight at the end of pregnancy, weight, BMI and fasting glucose at 6-8 weeks postpartum remained unchanged (all $p\leq$ 0.004). However, the association between reliance on hunger and satiety subscale and weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum was attenuated (p=0.057), albeit with a similar beta-coefficient. When fasting glucose and HbA1c were the outcome variables, we adjusted for weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum visit (model 3). Thus, the inverse association between the eating for physical rather than the emotional reasons subscale and fasting glucose at 6-8 weeks postpartum remained unchanged (p= (0.038) whereas the association between the reliance on hunger and satiety subscale and fasting glucose at 6-8 weeks postpartum was attenuated ($p \le 0.059$).

[Table 3] Cross-sectional associations between the two subscales of intuitive eating scale-2 and weight, BMI and glycemic control at first GDM visit

		Mod	el 1			Mode	el 2			Model	3	
	regression		~~~		regression		~~~		regression		a7	P-
Variable	coefficient	95%	o CI	P-value	coefficient	95%	6 CI	P-value	coefficient	95%	CI	value
EPR												
Weight before pregnancy $(n=213)$	-0.203	-5.329	-1.107	0.003	-0.181	-5.002	-0.745	0.008	NA			
BMI before pregnancy $(n=213)$	-0.216	-1.936	-0.463	0.002	-0.194	-1.824	-0.332	0.005	NA			
Weight at first GDM visit ($n=211$)	-0.205	-5.355	-1.126	0.003	-0.191	-5.168	-0.871	0.006	NA			
HbA1c at first GDM visit $(n=211)$	-0.171	-0.126	-0.015	0.013	-0.170	-0.127	-0.013	0.016	-0.123	-0.106	0.004	0.070
Fasting glucose at first GDM visit $(n=206)$	-0.195	-0.278	-0.050	0.005	-0.196	-0.280	-0.049	0.005	-0.124	-0.213	0.007	0.066
1-hr glucose at first GDM visit ($n=163$)	0.122	-0.058	0.490	0.122	0.154	-0.009	0.556	0.058	0.112	-0.081	0.465	0.166
2-hr glucose at first GDM visit ($n=164$)	-0.030	-0.336	0.226	0.698	-0.033	-0.351	0.232	0.689	-0.065	-0.404	0.169	0.420
RHSC												
Weight before pregnancy $(n=213)$	-0.194	-5.394	-0.999	0.005	-0.181	-5.171	-0.800	0.008	NA			
BMI before pregnancy $(n=213)$	-0.222	-2.046	-0.518	0.001	-0.215	-2.007	-0.482	0.002	NA			
Weight at first GDM visit $(n=211)$	-0.190	-5.365	-0.934	0.006	-0.188	-5.331	-0.886	0.006	NA			
HbA1c at first GDM visit $(n=211)$	-0.061	-0.085	0.032	0.376	-0.061	-0.085	0.033	0.389	-0.004	-0.060	0.056	0.954
Fasting glucose at first GDM visit $(n=206)$	-0.148	-0.248	-0.010	0.033	-0.117	-0.222	0.018	0.095	-0.076	-0.182	0.050	0.261
1-hr glucose at first GDM visit $(n=163)$	0.072	-0.149	0.409	0.359	0.097	-0.108	0.459	0.224	0.043	-0.209	0.359	0.605
2-hr glucose at first GDM visit ($n=164$)	-0.072	-0.417	0.153	0.361	-0.068	-0.416	0.165	0.394	-0.124	-0.526	0.070	0.132

Gestational age at first GDM visit is 24-32 weeks

EPR means Eating for Physical Rather than Emotional Reasons subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2). Higher scores means higher adherence to the EPR subscale RHSC means Reliance on Hunger and Satiety Cues subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2). Higher scores means higher adherence to the RHSC subscale

Model 1: Unadjusted regression estimates

Model 2: Adjusted for age, gestational age, smoking, and parity

Model 3: Adjusted for weight at first GDM visit

[Table 4] Longitudinal associations between two subscales of intuitive eating scale-2 and weight, BMI and glycemic control at the end of pregnancy and in early postpartum (6-8 weeks)

	Model 1			Model 2				Model 3				
	regression			P-	regression				regression			P-
Variable	coefficient	95	% CI	value	coefficient	95%	o CI	P-value	coefficient	95% CI		value
EPR												
Weight at end of pregnancy $(n=198)$	-0.223	-5.450	-1.297	0.002	-0.212	-5.373	-1.063	0.004	NA			
Weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum $(n=207)$	-0.237	-5.700	-1.592	0.001	-0.219	-5.536	-1.267	0.002	NA			
BMI at 6-8 weeks postpartum $(n=205)$	-0.242	-2.003	-0.574	0.000	-0.226	-1.956	-0.474	0.001	NA			
Δ weight first GDM visit and end of pregnancy $(n=192)^1$	-0.007	-0.562	0.509	0.922	0.025	-0.452	0.642	0.732	NA			
Δ weight first GDM visit and 6-8 weeks PP ($n=205$) ²	-0.061	-1.137	0.438	0.382	-0.062	-1.154	0.448	0.386	NA			
HbA1c at 6-8 weeks postpartum(n=206)	-0.002	-0.053	0.051	0.978	-0.003	-0.056	0.054	0.968	0.017	-0.047	0.060	0.815
Fasting glucose 6-8 weeks postpartum (n=207)	-0.200	-0.159	-0.031	0.004	-0.191	-0.158	-0.026	0.007	-0.144	-0.132	-0.004	0.038
2-hr glucose 6-8 weeks postpartum (n=206)	-0.020	-0.261	0.194	0.775	-0.005	-0.253	0.235	0.943	-0.018	-0.264	0.205	0.806
RHSC												
Weight at end of pregnancy $(n=198)$	-0.193	-5.276	-0.868	0.007	-0.175	-5.059	-0.545	0.015	NA			
Weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum ($n=207$)	-0.139	-4.486	-0.040	0.046	-0.134	-4.435	0.065	0.057	NA			
BMI at 6-8 weeks postpartum $(n=205)$	-0.164	-1.691	-0.155	0.019	-0.165	-1.708	-0.156	0.019	NA			
Δ weight first GDM visit and end of pregnancy (<i>n</i> =192)	0.092	-0.200	0.926	0.205	0.102	-0.159	0.974	0.157	NA			
Δ weight first GDM visit and 6-8 weeks PP($n=205$)	0.105	-0.198	1.467	0.135	0.064	-0.444	1.216	0.360	NA			
HbA1c at 6-8 weeks postpartum(n=206)	-0.074	-0.084	0.025	0.291	-0.072	-0.085	0.028	0.315	-0.065	-0.081	0.030	0.358
Fasting glucose 6-8 weeks postpartum (n=207)	-0.163	-0.151	-0.014	0.019	-0.140	-0.140	-0.002	0.045	-0.128	-0.131	0.003	0.059
2-hr glucose 6-8 weeks postpartum (n=206)	-0.025	-0.284	0.196	0.717	-0.006	-0.262	0.239	0.930	-0.024	-0.284	0.201	0.736

¹Means the difference in weight at the end of pregnancy and at first GDM visit

²Means the difference between weight at the 6-8 weeks postpartum visit and first GDM visit

EPR means Eating for Physical Rather than Emotional Reasons subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale 2 (IES-2). Higher scores means higher adherence to the EPR subscale

RHSC means Reliance on Hunger and Satiety Cues subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale 2 (IES-2). Higher scores means higher adherence to the RHSC subscale

Model 1: Unadjusted regression estimates

Model 2: Adjusted for age, gestational age smoking, parity and medical treatment during pregnancy

Model 3: Adjusted for weight 6-8 weeks post-partum

PP means postpartum

Study 2: Intuitive eating is associated with improved health indicators at 1-year postpartum in women with GDM

This study included 117 women. Their mean eating for physical rather than emotional reasons subscale at the first GDM visit was 3.86 and 3.76 at 1-year postpartum (p<0.001), and the mean scores for reliance on hunger and satiety cues subscale were 3.53 and 3.42 respectively (p<0.001). Correlation between the first GDM visit and 1-year postpartum were 0.42 for the eating for physical rather than emotional reasons and 0.32 for the reliance on hunger and satiety subscales (both p<0.001).

Associations between intuitive eating during and after pregnancy with metabolic outcomes at 1year postpartum

Table 5 represents the longitudinal and cross-sectional associations between the two subscales of IES-2 at the first GDM visit and at 1-year postpartum with metabolic health indicators at 1-year postpartum. After adjusting for confounders (age and gestational age at the first GDM visit), the eating for physical rather than emotional reasons subscale at the first GDM visit was associated with lower BMI (p=0.017), fasting glucose (p=0.014) and tended to predict lower HbA1c (p=0.062) at 1-year postpartum. On the other hand, reliance on hunger and satiety subscale at the first GDM visit had no association with any of the metabolic health variables at 1-year postpartum (all p>0.2). However, both eating for physical rather than emotional reasons and reliance on hunger and satiety subscales at 1-year postpartum were associated (cross-sectional) with lower weight retention (both $p\leq0.037$) and lower BMI (both $p\leq0.012$). The eating for physical rather than emotional reasons subscale was also associated with lower HbA1c and lower fasting glucose (both p=0.018).

When fasting glucose and HbA1c were the outcome variables, we further adjusted for BMI at the first GDM visit as a potential confounder, which led to the attenuation of the observed associations between the two subscales of IES-2 and metabolic parameters (all $p \ge 0.066$).

Associations between intuitive eating during and after pregnancy with metabolic health stratified by overweight/obese or with prediabetes

We also focused on two high-risk GDM subgroups with pre-pregnancy overweight/obese or with prediabetes and their lower-risk counterparts. After adjusting for age and gestational age at the first GDM visit, in the subgroup of women with prediabetes (Table 6), eating for physical rather than emotional reasons and reliance on hunger and satiety subscales at the first GDM visit predicted lower fasting glucose at 1-year postpartum (both $p \le 0.024$). At 1-year postpartum, both physical rather than emotional reasons and reliance on hunger and satiety subscales were associated with less postpartum weight retention (both p ≤ 0.034) and lower BMI (both p ≤ 0.005) in women with prediabetes, while no associations were observed in the women with normal glucose tolerance (all $p \ge 0.10$) after adjustments for confounders (age and gestational age). In the subgroup of women with overweight/obese (Table 7), the physical rather than emotional reasons subscale at the first GDM visit predicted lower fasting glucose at 1-year postpartum (p=0.041), whereas the reliance on hunger and satiety subscale showed no significance with any of the metabolic variables. At 1year postpartum, both physical rather than emotional reasons and reliance on hunger and satiety subscales were associated with lower weight retention (both $p \le 0.009$) and fasting glucose (both p=0.030). The physical rather than emotional reasons subscale was also associated with lower BMI (p<0.001). Thus, in both high-risk subgroups, measures of IE were associated with measures of metabolic health such as anthropometric parameters or glucose control variables.

Specifically, in both high-risk subgroups, the associations of IES-2 subscales with fasting glucose were independent of BMI. However, we found no associations between the two subscales of IES-2 and metabolic health in the subgroup of women with normal weight.

	Regression				
Variable	coefficient	95%	6 CI	P-value ^a	P-value ^b
IES-2 at the first GDM visit (longitudinal)					
EPR at the first GDM visit					
Metabolic health at 1-yr pp					
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	-0.087	-2.026	0.730	0.350	
BMI (kg/m ²)	-0.219	-2.281	-0.151	0.017	
HbA1c (%)	-0.171	-0.119	0.008	0.062	0.137
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.229	-0.251	-0.026	0.014	0.068
RHSC at the first GDM visit	_				
Metabolic health at 1-yr pp					
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	0.078	-0.815	2.084	0.400	
BMI (kg/m^2)	-0.090	-1.637	0.645	0.332	
HbA1c (%)	0.044	-0.048	0.086	0.634	0.327
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.104	-0.184	0.058	0.272	0.458
IES-2 at 1-yr pp (cross-sectional)					
EPR at 1-yr pp					
Metabolic health at 1-yr pp					
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	-0.230	-2.976	-0.370	0.012	
BMI (kg/m^2)	-0.337	-2.825	-0.829	< 0.001	
HbA1c (%)	-0.216	-0.129	-0.008	0.018	0.066
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.222	-0.236	-0.018	0.018	0.237
RHSC at 1-yr pp					
Metabolic health at 1-yr pp					
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	-0.193	-2.847	-0.083	0.037	
BMI (kg/m ²)	-0.243	-2.469	-0.313	0.012	
HbA1c (%)	-0.095	-0.098	0.032	0.311	0.547
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.194	-0.230	0.002	0.042	0.208

[Table 5] Associations between the two subscales of IES-2 at the first GDM visit and at 1year postpartum and metabolic health at 1-year postpartum in the total population

¹means the difference in weight at 1-yr postpartum and pre-pregnancy weight

EPR means Eating for Physical Rather than Emotional Reasons subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2)

RHSC means Reliance on Hunger and Satiety Cues subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2)

PP means postpartum

P-value^a: adjusted for age and gestational age at the first GDM visit

P-value^b: adjusted for age and gestational age and BMI at the first GDM visit

	Prediabetes (n=54)			Normal (n=63)					
	Regression					Regression			
Variable	coefficient	95%	6 CI	P-value ^a	P-value ^b	coefficient	95%	6 CI	P-value
IES-2 at first GDM visit									
(longitudinal)*									
EPR at the first GDM visit									
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	-0.098	-2.598	1.239	0.480		-0.052	-2.461	1.628	0.685
BMI (kg/m ²)	-0.169	-2.415	0.576	0.223		-0.214	-2.748	0.213	0.092
HbA1c (%)	-0.173	-0.158	0.036	0.211	0.189	-0.076	-0.095	0.051	0.553
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.437	-0.303	-0.063	0.001	0.004	-0.029	-0.106	0.084	0.820
RHSC at the first GDM visit									
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	-0.090	-2.459	1.254	0.518		0.294	0.453	4.959	0.076
BMI (kg/m ²)	-0.075	-1.857	1.068	0.591		-0.082	-2.300	1.178	0.521
HbA1c (%)	0.043	-0.080	0.109	0.760	0.751	0.060	-0.064	0.104	0.641
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.308	-0.247	-0.004	0.024	0.025	0.101	-0.066	0.152	0.432
IES-2 at 1-year pp (cross-sectional)									
EPR at 1-yr pp									
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	-0.288	-3.572	-0.142	0.034		-0.114	-3.111	1.184	0.373
BMI (kg/m ²)	-0.384	-3.248	-0.645	0.004		-0.180	-2.698	0.450	0.158
HbA1c (%)	-1.582	-0.159	0.019	0.120	0.125	-0.001	-0.077	0.077	0.995
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.204	-0.207	0.031	0.142	0.765	0.083	-0.067	0.132	0.515
RHSC at 1-yr pp									
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	-0.394	-4.388	-0.935	0.003		-0.030	-2.361	1.861	0.814
BMI (kg/m ²)	-0.378	-3.376	-0.639	0.005		-0.047	-1.851	1.272	0.712
HbA1c (%)	-0.130	-0.139	0.050	0.349	0.253	0.157	-0.028	0.121	0.219
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.137	-0.190	0.065	0.329	0.842	-0.043	-0.114	0.082	0.740

Table 6] Associations between the two subscales of IES-2 at first GDM visit and at one-year postpartum visit with metabolic health at one year postpartum stratified by glucose tolerance

*for the fasting glucose, this corresponds to the time point of the GDM diagnosis before the first GDM visit

¹means the difference in weight at 1-yr postpartum and pre-pregnancy weight

EPR means Eating for Physical Rather than Emotional Reasons subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2)

RHSC means Reliance on Hunger and Satiety Cues subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2)

P-value^a: Adjusted for age and gestational age at the first GDM visit

P-value^b: Adjusted for age, gestational age and BMI at the first GDM visit

PP means postpartum

	Ob	ese/overwe	eight (n=54	l)		Normal weight (n=63)			
Variable	Regression				_	Regression			
	coefficient	95%	6 CI	P-value ^a	P-value ^b	coefficient	95%	o CI	P-value
IES-2 at first GDM visit									
(longitudinal)*									
EPR at the first GDM visit									
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	-0.111	-3.466	1.475	0.422		0.026	-1.281	1.567	0.842
BMI (kg/m^2)	-0.132	-1.779	0.643	0.351		-0.144	-1.183	0.304	0.241
HbA1c (%)	-0.195	-0.157	0.037	0.165	0.169	-0.076	-0.112	0.061	0.553
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.288	-0.337	0.003	0.041	0.043	-0.083	-0.191	0.098	0.522
RHSC at the first GDM visit									
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	0.176	-0.924	4.241	0.203		0.054	-1.188	1.819	0.676
BMI (kg/m^2)	0.213	-0.319	2.219	0.137		-0.073	-1.028	0.556	0.554
HbA1c (%)	-0.010	-0.108	0.101	0.967	0.963	0.194	-0.020	0.160	0.127
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.111	-0.260	0.111	0.419	0.424	0.039	-0.130	0.176	0.765
IES-2 at 1-year pp (Cross-sectional)									
EPR at 1-yr									
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	-0.347	-5.152	-0.562	0.009		0.006	-1.349	1.409	0.965
BMI (kg/m^2)	-0.430	-2.873	-0.735	<0.001		-0.098	-1.019	0.442	0.432
HbA1c (%)	-0.177	-0.156	0.034	0.201	0.233	-0.155	-0.134	0.032	0.225
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.301	-0.345	-0.015	0.030	0.025	0.001	-0.140	0.140	0.997
RHSC at 1-yr									
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	-0.405	-6.529	-1.494	0.002		0.077	-0.891	1.656	0.550
BMI (kg/m^2)	-0.245	-2.467	-1.370	0.780		-0.120	-1.036	0.371	0.348
HbA1c (%)	-0.135	-0.162	0.055	0.329	0.299	0.074	-0.055	0.100	0.564
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.302	-0.395	-0.021	0.030	0.032	0.040	-0.110	0.151	0.755

[Table 7] Associations between the two subscales of IES-2 and metabolic health at one year postpartum stratified by BMI category

*for the fasting glucose, this corresponds to the time point of the GDM diagnosis before the first GDM visit

¹means the difference in weight at 1-yr postpartum and pre-pregnancy weight EPR means Eating for Physical Rather than Emotional Reasons subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2)

RHSC means Reliance on Hunger and Satiety Cues subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2)

P-value^a: Adjusted for age and gestational age at the first GDM visit

P-value^b: Adjusted for age, gestational age, and BMI at the first GDM visit

PP means postpartum

Study 3: Predictors and consequences of weight retention in the early and late postpartum period in women with GDM

Anthropometric and metabolic characteristics of study participants

This study included 862 and 259 participants that had data at 6-8 weeks and/or 1-year postpartum respectively based on the inclusion criteria. **Table 8** shows the anthropometric and metabolic characteristics of the study participants. The mean pre-pregnancy BMI was 25.6 ± 5.4 kg/m² and 52.6%, 27.5% and 19.9% of patients had initial normal weight, overweight or were obese before pregnancy, respectively. Total GWG was 12.7 ± 5.9 kg. The mean PPWR at 6-8 weeks and at 1-year postpartum were 4.6 ± 5.7 kg and 4.0 ± 7.4 kg respectively. In the subgroup of women with 1-year data, the mean fasting glucose increased by 0.48 ± 0.2 mmol/l between 6-8 weeks and 1-year postpartum, while the mean HbA1c decreased by 0.03 ± 0.01 %.

Anthropometric differences and metabolic consequences of participants according to postpartum weight retention categories

Table 9a shows the participants' anthropometric differences and metabolic consequences according to PPWR categories at 6-8 weeks postpartum. At this time point, 81% of women had PPWR. Women with PPWR had significantly higher anthropometric parameters before, during and after pregnancy (early postpartum period) compared to those with no PPWR. Specifically, they had a 4 ± 3.7 kg higher pre-pregnancy weight, a higher pre-pregnancy BMI, a 7.5 ± 0.2 kg higher total GWG and a 0.23 ± 0.1 kg higher excess GWG, a higher weight at GDM diagnosis and at the end of pregnancy, as well as a 12 ± 2.0 kg higher weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum (all p ≤0.02). In addition, the 2hr glucose after oGTT at GDM diagnosis was slightly higher (p=0.034). However, there were no differences in the metabolic parameters (fasting and 2h glucose, HbA1c) between both groups at the early postpartum period.

At 1-year postpartum, 66.4% of women had PPWR. Compared to those with no PPWR, women with PPWR had no differences in anthropometric parameters before and during pregnancy, but had a 4±0.4kg higher total GWG, a higher BMI at 6-8 weeks and at 1-year postpartum, and were 7±4.2kg heavier at 1-year postpartum (all p≤0.04) (**Table 9b**). Women with no PPWR, on the other hand, had a minimal increase in excess GWG of 0.2 ±0.03kg (p<0.001). In the group of women with PPWR, weight did not decrease between the early and late postpartum period. The metabolic consequences at 1-year postpartum period showed a 0.2±0.2 mmol/l higher fasting glucose in women with PPWR compared to those without PPWR, and a more pronounced increase in fasting glucose and in HbA1c between the early and late postpartum period (both p≤0.03). We also evaluated the differences in metabolic and medical characteristics at 6-8 weeks postpartum in the 259 women with complete 1-year data. The results were similar to those in Table 9a.

Predictors of postpartum weight retention

In the multivariate logistic regression analysis (Tables 10a and 10b), higher pre-pregnancy weight and total GWG predicted higher risk of PPWR at 6-8 weeks postpartum (OR: 1.1, 95% CI: 1.03-1.15) and (OR: 1.6, 95% CI: 1.32-1.91), respectively). Higher total GWG also predicted higher risk of PPWR at 1-year postpartum (OR: 1.15, 95% CI: 1.07-1.23; model 1). This prospective association remained significant in model 2 (OR: 1.2, 95% CI: 1.07-1.24) when HbA1c at 6-8 weeks postpartum (OR: 0.16, 95% CI: 0.05-0.49) was associated with less PPWR at 1-year postpartum.

Table Q. Anthrop	nomotrio and	motobolio	abaratarist	log of stud	v nortiginanta
radie of Anunro	Donneuric and	metabolic	characterist	ICS OF SLUU	

Variable	Mean	SD
Pre-pregnancy weight (Kg) (n=862)	69.09	15.38
Pre-pregnancy BMI $(Kg/m^2)^1$ (n=862)	25.62	5.45
Weight at the first GDM visit (Kg) (n=862)	79.53	15.36
BMI at the first GDM visit (Kg/m ²) (n=862)	29.72	5.41
Fasting glucose at the first GDM visit (mmol/l) (n=862)	5.15	0.75
1hr glucose after oGTT at GDM diagnosis (mmol/l) (n=862)	9.63	1.85
2hr glucose after oGTT at GDM diagnosis (mmol/l) (n=862)	7.85	1.83
HbA1c at the first GDM visit (%) (n=862)	5.44	0.41
Weight at the end of pregnancy (Kg) (n=862)	81.86	15.42
Total gestational weight gain (Kg) (n=862)	12.75	5.96
Weight at the 6-8 weeks pp (Kg) (n=862)	73.58	15.05
BMI at the 6-8 weeks pp (Kg/m^2) (n=862)	27.54	5.35
Fasting glucose at the 6-8 weeks pp (mmol/l) (n=862)	5.00	0.52
2hr glucose after oGTT at 6-8 weeks pp (mmol/l) (n=862)	5.50	1.68
HbA1c at the 6-8 weeks pp (%)(n=862)	5.35	0.38
Weight at 1-year pp (Kg) (n=259)	73.49	17.15
BMI at 1-year pp (Kg/m ²) (n=259)	27.41	6.30
Fasting glucose at 1-year pp (mmol/l) (n=259)	5.48	0.67
HbA1c at 1-year pp (%)(n=259)	5.32	0.39
Weight retention at 6-8 weeks pp^2 (n=862)	4.61	5.79
Weight retention at 1-year pp ³ (n=259)	3.99	7.36

¹Data taken from the medical charts or reported at the first GDM visit ²Weight retention means the difference in weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum and pre-pregnancy weight ³Weight retention means the difference in weight at 1-year postpartum and pre-pregnancy weight BMI means body mass index GDM means gestational diabetes mellitus

oGTT means oral glucose tolerance test HbA1c means glycated hemoglobin pp means postpartum period

Table 9: Anthropometric differences and metabolic consequences of participants according to postpartum weight retention categories

	Weight retention category at 6-8 weeks PP						
6-8 weeks postpartum			(n=862)	1			
	Weight 1	etention	No weig				
	(n='	700)	(n	=162)			
General and metabolic health variables*	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	p value		
Age (years)	33.39	5.43	32.91	5.77	0.340		
Gestational age at delivery (weeks)	38.68	1.49	38.38	3.52	0.283		
Pre-pregnancy weight (Kg)	70.49	17.51	66.76	13.81	<0.001		
Pre-pregnancy BMI $(Kg/m^2)^2$	26.35	6.26	24.75	4.86	<0.001		
Weight at the first GDM visit (Kg)	80.93	16.96	71.45	14.76	<0.001		
Fasting glucose at first GDM visit (mmol/l)	5.16	0.65	5.15	0.77	0.843		
1hr glucose after oGTT at GDM diagnosis (mmol/l)	9.70	1.70	9.62	1.88	0.658		
2hr glucose after oGTT at GDM diagnosis (mmol/l)	8.18	1.70	7.78	1.85	0.034		
Weight at the end of pregnancy (Kg)	84.63	16.66	73.58	14.23	0.015		
Total gestational weight gain (Kg)	14.16	5.14	6.63	5.36	<0.001		
Excess gestational weight gain (Kg)	1.73	0.44	1.50	0.50	<0.001		
Weight at 6-8 weeks pp (Kg)	75.40	16.66	63.14	14.62	0.002		
BMI at 6-8 weeks pp (Kg/m^2)	27.10	5.91	23.40	5.19	0.020		
Fasting glucose at 6-8 weeks pp (mmol/l)	4.99	0.50	5.01	0.52	0.643		
2hr glucose after oGTT at 6-8 weeks pp (mmol/l)	5.37	1.57	5.53	1.70	0.269		
HbA1c at 6-8 weeks pp (%)	5.32	0.40	5.35	0.37	0.357		
Predictor variables*	n	%	n	%	P value		
EPDS score at first GDM visit (n=346)							
<13	237	84.0	45	16.0	0.031		
>13	46	71.9	18	28.1			
Breastfeeding in the postpartum period							
Yes	548	80.1	136	19.9	0.065		
No	152	85.4	26	14.6			
Medication use in pregnancy $(n=777)$			-				
None	292	80.0	73	20.0	0.041		
Insulin	284	82.8	59	17.2			
Metformin	48	69.6	21	30.4			
Caesarean delivery							
Yes	281	82.4	60	17.6	0.477		
No	419	80.4	102	19.6			
Contraception use after delivery (n=305)			-				
Yes	140	82.4	30	17.6	0.897		
No	110	81.5	25	18.5			
Lives with partner							
Yes	566	80.2	140	19.8	0.097		
No	134	85.9	22	14.1			
Exceed IOM guidelines							
Yes	347	89.0	43	11.0	≤0.001		
No	353	74.8	119	25.2			
EPR at first GDM visit (Mean ±SD)	3.89	0.911	3.93	0.86	0.774		
RHSC at first GDM visit (Mean +SD)	3 50	0.88	3.56	0.82	0.669		

9a: At 6-8 weeks postpartum

¹Weight retention means the difference in weight at 6-8 weeks and pre-pregnancy weight

²Data reported at the first GDM visit or taken from the medical charts

GDM means gestational diabetes mellitus; BMI means body mass index; oGTT means oral glucose tolerance test HbA1c means glycated hemoglobin; EPR means eating for physical rather than emotions; RHSC means reliance on hunger and satiety cues; EPDS means Edinburg postnatal depression scale; IOM means institute of medicine; pp means postpartum period; P value derived from ANOVA for continuous variables and Chi-square for categorical variables Bold p values are significant. *All n's are 826 unless otherwise stated.

90: Al I-year posipariun

1-year postpartum	Weight	retention	category at	1-year PP	(n=259) ¹
	Weight r	etention	No wei	ght	
	(n =1	172)	retention	(n=87)	
General and metabolic health variables*	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	p value
Age (years)	32.93	5.86	34.00	4.74	0.147
Gestational age at delivery (weeks)	38.78	1.71	38.82	1.86	0.888
Pre-pregnancy weight (Kg)	68.78	15.42	69.97	14.10	0.564
Pre-pregnancy BMI (Kg/m ²) ²	25.81	5.67	25.62	5.18	0.792
Weight at the first GDM visit (Kg)	80.28	15.97	78.58	13.48	0.427
Fasting glucose at first GDM visit (mmol/l)	5.24	1.00	5.11	0.77	0.328
1hr glucose after oGTT at GDM diagnosis (mmol/l)	9.68	2.00	9.61	1.96	0.817
2hr glucose after oGTT at GDM diagnosis (mmol/l)	7.85	2.02	7.99	1.85	0.651
Weight at the end of pregnancy (Kg)	82.82	15.47	80.02	13.60	0.188
Total gestational weight gain (Kg)	14.16	6.15	10.08	5.76	<0.001
Excess gestational weight gain (Kg)	1.44	0.49	1.68	0.46	<0.001
Weight at 6-8 weeks pp (Kg)	74.88	14.92	71.96	13.01	0.121
BMI at 6-8 weeks pp (Kg/m ²)	28.08	5.36	26.66	4.66	0.044
Fasting glucose at 6-8 weeks pp (mmol/l)	5.00	0.518	4.97	0.45	0.618
2hr glucose after oGTT at 6-8 weeks pp (mmol/l)	5.26	1.42	5.22	1.63	0.841
HbA1c at 6-8 weeks pp (%)	5.27	0.36	5.40	0.34	0.009
Weight at 1-year pp (Kg)	75.79	18.08	68.67	13.92	0.002
BMI at 1-year pp (Kg/m ²)	28.42	6.55	25.05	4.93	<0.001
EPR at 1-year pp	3.64	0.92	3.75	10.4	0.478
RHSC at 1-year pp	3.31	0.94	3.59	0.95	0.057
Fasting glucose at 1-year pp (mmol/l)	5.55	0.72	5.35	0.55	0.026
HbA1c at 1-year pp (%)	5.33	0.42	5.31	0.33	0.739
Δ Fasting glucose ³	0.54	0.61	0.37	0.54	0.032
Δ HbA1c ³	0.05	0.39	-0.08	0.37	0.006

¹Weight retention means the difference in weight at 6-8 weeks and pre-pregnancy weight. ²Data reported at the first GDM visit or taken from the medical charts. ³Change in metabolic variables (fasting glucose and HbA1c) between 6-8 weeks and 1year postpartum. GDM means gestational diabetes mellitus; BMI means body mass index; oGTT means oral glucose tolerance test; HbA1c means glycated hemoglobin; EPR means eating for physical rather than emotions; RHSC means reliance on hunger and satiety cues; EPDS means Edinburg postnatal depression scale; IOM means institute of medicine; pp means postpartum period; P value derived from ANOVA for continuous variables and Chi-square for categorical variables. *All the N's are 259 unless otherwise stated. Bold p values are significant.

1-year postpartum	Weight retention category at 1-year PP (n=259) ¹								
	Weight	retention	No weig	ht retention	1				
	(n=	=172)	(1						
Predictor variables*	n	%	n	%	P value				
EPDS score at first GDM visit (n=172)									
<13	99	71.7	39	28.3	0.144				
≥13	20	58.8	14	41.2					
EPDS score at first 1-year pp (n=213)									
<13	119	64.7	65	35.3	0.930				
≥13	19	65.5	10	34.5					
Breastfeeding in the postpartum period									
Yes	152	67.3	74	32.7	0.450				
No	20	60.6	13	39.4					
Medication use in pregnancy (n=248)									
None	75	68.2	35	31.8	0.791				
Insulin	83	69.2	37	30.8					
Metformin	11	61.1	7	38.9					
Caesarean delivery									
Yes	70	64.8	38	35.2	0.690				
No	102	6705	49	32.5					
Contraception use after delivery (n=134)									
Yes	39	61.9	24	38.1	0.217				
No	53	74.6	18	25.4					
Lives with partner									
Yes	146	68.2	68	31.8	0.177				
No	26	57.8	19	42.2					
Exceed IOM guidelines									
Yes	96	78.0	27	22.0	≤0.001				
No	76	55.9	60	44.1					
EPR at first GDM visit (Mean ±SD)	3.84	0.94	3.85	0.90	0.962				
RHSC at first GDM visit (Mean +SD)	3 50	0.87	3 39	0.86	0 465				

9b: At 1-year postpartum (continued)

¹Weight retention means the difference in weight at 6-8 weeks and pre-pregnancy weight. ²Data reported at the first GDM visit or taken from the medical charts. ³Change in metabolic variables (fasting glucose and HbA1c) between 6-8 weeks and 1year postpartum. GDM means gestational diabetes mellitus; BMI means body mass index; oGTT means oral glucose tolerance test; HbA1c means glycated hemoglobin; EPR means eating for physical rather than emotions; RHSC means reliance on hunger and satiety cues; EPDS means Edinburg postnatal depression scale; IOM means institute of medicine; pp means postpartum period; P value derived from ANOVA for continuous variables and Chi-square for categorical variables. *All the N's are 259 unless otherwise stated. Bold p values are significant.
Table 10: Predictors of weight retention

Variable	OR	959	P value*	
Pre-pregnancy weight (Kg)	1.09	1.035	1.150	<0.001
Total gestational weight gain (Kg)	1.59	1.324	1.919	<0.001
Excess gestational weight gain (Kg)	4.08	0.857	19.466	0.077

10a: Predictors at 6-8 weeks postpartum (n=862)

Weight retention means the difference in weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum and pre-pregnancy weight

*P value from the final model of the multivariable logistic regression with backward elimination

Variables entered in the multivariable regression models were: family history of diabetes, partner support, breastfeeding and depression score at the first GDM visit, pre-pregnancy weight, 2hr glucose after oGTT at GDM diagnosis, total GWG, and excess GWG according to IOM guidelines.

10b: Predictors at 1-year postpartum (n=259)

i	Model 1				Model 2			
Variable	OR	95% CI		P value*	OR	95% CI		P value*
Total Gestational weight gain (kg)	1.15	1.072	1.231	<0.001	1.15	1.076	1.245	<0.001
HbA1c at 6-8 weeks pp (%)					0.16	0.052	0.490	<0.001

pp means postpartum period

Weight retention means the difference in weight at 1-yr postpartum and pre-pregnancy weight

Model 1: without HbA1c at 6-8 weeks pp

Model 2: included HbA1c at 6-8 weeks pp

* P value from the final model of the logistic regression with backward elimination

Variables entered in the multivariable regression model were: age, family history of diabetes, partner support, depression score at the first GDM visit, total GWG, excess GWG, and HbA1c at 6-8 weeks postpartum visit

5.1 ABSTRACT OF STUDY 1

Intuitive Eating Is Associated with Weight and Glucose Control during Pregnancy and in the Early Postpartum Period in Women with Gestational Diabetes Mellitus: A Clinical Cohort Study

Dan Yedu Quansah^a, Justine Gross^{a,b}, Leah Gilbert^a, Celine Helbling^{a,b}, Antje Horsch^{,a,c},

Jardena J. Puder^a

^aObstetric Service, Department Woman-Mother-Child, Lausanne University Hospital,

Lausanne, Switzerland

^bService of Endocrinology, Diabetes and Metabolism, Lausanne University Hospital, Lausanne,

Switzerland

^cInstitute of Higher Education and Research in Healthcare (IUFRS), University of Lausanne,

Switzerland

This study is published in *Eating Behaviors* 34 (2019):1013042.

The full length article is in appendix 1

This study has been presented at the following scientific meetings

<u>QUANSAH DY</u>, Gross J, Gilbert L, Helbling C, Horsch A, Puder JJ. Intuitive eating is associated with weight and glucose control during pregnancy and in the early postpartum period in women with gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM): A clinical cohort study. **Poster communication** at the 2018 Swiss Society of Endocrinology and Diabetology (SSED) annual meeting. Inselpital, Bern; 15-16.11.2018.

QUANSAH DY, Gross J, Gilbert L, Helbling C, Horsch A, Puder JJ. Intuitive eating is associated with weight and glucose control during pregnancy and in the early postpartum period in women with gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM): A clinical cohort study. **Poster communication** at the Journée de la recherche du Département de médecine; CHUV; 21.02.2019.

QUANSAH DY, Gross J, Gilbert L, Helbling C, Horsch A, Puder JJ. Intuitive eating is associated with weight and glucose control during pregnancy and in the early postpartum period in women with gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM): A clinical cohort study. **Poster communication at the** Die Arbeitsgruppe Lipide und Atherosklerose (AGLA) State of the Art and Progress on Lipids and Atherosclerosis conference; Inselpital, Bern; 07.02.2019.

Author contribution

<u>QUANSAH DY</u>, designed the study, contributed to data collection, performed all the data extraction, all analyses, contributed to interpretation of data and wrote the manuscript.

Abstract

Introduction: High pre-pregnancy weight and body mass index (BMI) increase the risk of gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) and diabetes after pregnancy. To tackle weight and metabolic health problems, there is a need to investigate novel lifestyle approaches. Outside of pregnancy, higher adherence to intuitive eating (IE) is associated with lower BMI and improved glycemic control. This study investigated the association between IE and metabolic health during pregnancy and in the early postpartum period among women with GDM.

Methods: Two-hundred and fourteen consecutive women aged ≥ 18 , diagnosed with GDM between 2015 and 2017 and completed the "Eating for Physical rather than Emotional Reasons (EPR)" and "Reliance on Hunger and Satiety cues (RHSC) subscales" of the French Intuitive Eating Scale-2 (IES-2) questionnaire at the first GDM clinic visit was included in this study. **Results:** Participants' mean age was 33.32 ± 5.20 years. Their weight and BMI before pregnancy were 68.18 ± 14.83 kg and 25.30 ± 5.19 kg/m² respectively. After adjusting for confounding variables, the cross-sectional analyses showed that the two subscales of IES-2 at the first GDM visit were associated with lower weight and BMI before pregnancy, and lower weight at the first GDM visit (β =-0.181 to -0.215, all p \leq 0.008). In addition, the EPR subscale was associated with HbA1c and fasting plasma glucose at the first GDM visit (β =-0.170 and to -0.196; all p \leq 0.016). In the longitudinal analyses, both subscales of IES-2 at first GDM visit were associated with lower weight at the end of pregnancy, BMI and fasting plasma glucose at 6-8 weeks postpartum (β =-0.143 to -0.218, all P \leq 0.040) after adjusting for confounders.

Conclusions: Increase adherence to IE could represent a novel approach to weight and glucose control during and after pregnancy in women with GDM.

5.2 ABSTRACT OF STUDY 2

Intuitive Eating is associated with Improved Health Indicators at 1-Year Postpartum in Women with Gestational Diabetes Mellitus

Dan Yedu Quansah^a, Leah Gilbert^a, Justine Gross^{a,b}, Antje Horsch^{,a,c,}, Jardena J. Puder^a

^aObstetric Service, Department Woman-Mother-Child, Lausanne University Hospital,

Lausanne, Switzerland

^bService of Endocrinology, Diabetes and Metabolism, Lausanne University Hospital, Lausanne,

Switzerland

^cInstitute of Higher Education and Research in Healthcare (IUFRS), University of Lausanne,

Switzerland

This study is published in Journal of Health Psychology, 22 (2019):1359105319869814

The full length article is in appendix 2

This study has been presented at the following scientific meetings

<u>QUANSAH DY</u>, Gilbert L, Gross J, Horsch A, Puder JJ. Intuitive eating is associated with improved health indicators at 1-year postpartum in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. **Oral communication** at the Swiss Perinatal Research Conference; CHUV; 17.05.2019

<u>**QUANSAH DY**</u>, Gilbert L, Gross J, Horsch A, Puder JJ. Intuitive eating is associated with improved health indicators at 1-year postpartum in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. **Poster communication** Diabetes in pregnancy (DIP) 2019: The 10th International Symposium on Diabetes, Hypertension, Metabolic Syndrome and Pregnancy; Florence, Italy; 29.05-01.06.2019.

<u>QUANSAH DY</u>, Gilbert L, Gross J, Horsch A, Puder JJ. Intuitive eating is associated with improved health indicators at 1-year postpartum in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. **Poster flash communication** at the American Diabetes Association (ADA) 79th Scientific Sessions; San Francisco, California; 7-11.06.2019

Author contribution

<u>OUANSAH DY</u>, designed the study, contributed to data collection, performed all the data extraction, all analyses, contributed to interpretation of data and wrote the manuscript.

Abstract

Introduction: In women with GDM, there is a need to investigate novel lifestyle approaches to reduce the risk of future diabetes. We evaluated the associations between IE during and after pregnancy with BMI, fasting glucose and HbA1c at 1-year postpartum (PP) in women with GDM and in high-risk GDM subgroups with prediabetes or overweight/obesity prior to pregnancy.

Methods: 117 women with GDM who consented and completed the "*Eating for Physical rather than Emotional Reasons* (EPR)" and "*Reliance on Hunger and Satiety cues* (RHSC)" subscales of the validated Intuitive Eating Scale-2 questionnaire during the first GDM clinic visit at 24-32 weeks of gestation and at 1-year PP were included.

Results: Participants mean age was 33.21±5.37 years, weight and BMI before pregnancy and at 1-year PP were 69.46±13.99kg, 25.82±4.69kg/m² and 72.79±16.22kg, 27.06±5.54kg/m², respectively. EPR at the first GDM visit predicted lower BMI (β =-0.219, p=0.017) and fasting glucose (β =-0.229, p=0.014) at 1-year PP, while associations were not significant for RHSC. At 1-year PP, EPR and RHSC were associated with lower BMI (β = -0.337 and -0.243 both p≤ 0.012) and weight retention (β =-0.230 and -0.193, both p=0.037) and EPR was also associated with lower fasting glucose and HbA1c (both β = -0.22, both p=0.018). In the subgroup of women with prediabetes, EPR and RHSC at the first GDM visit predicted lower fasting glucose at 1-year PP, while in the overweight/obese subgroup this was only significant for EPR (all p≤0.02). At 1-year PP however, both EPR and RHSC were inversely associated with BMI in women with prediabetes and with fasting glucose in overweight/obese women (all p≤0.03).

Conclusion: Interventions to increase IE could represent a novel approach for PP weight and glycemic control in women with previous GDM, particularly in high-risk subgroups with prediabetes or obesity.

5.3 ABSTRACT OF STUDY 3

Predictors and Consequences of Weight Retention in the Early and Late Postpartum Period in Women with Gestational Diabetes

Dan Yedu Quansah^a, Justine Gross^{a,b}, Leah Gilbert^a, Amar Arhab^a, Antje Horsch^{c,d}, Jardena

J. Puder^a

^aObstetric Service, Department Woman-Mother-Child, Lausanne University Hospital,

Lausanne, Switzerland

^bService of Endocrinology, Diabetes and Metabolism, Department of Medicine, Lausanne

University Hospital, Lausanne, Switzerland

^cInstitute of Higher Education and Research in Healthcare (IUFRS), University of Lausanne,

Switzerland

^dNeonatology service, Department Woman-Mother-Child, Lausanne University Hospital,

Lausanne, Switzerland

This study is published in *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice (2020), doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2020.108238*

Full length article is in appendix 3

This study has been presented at the following scientific meeting

<u>QUANSAH DY</u>, Gross J, Gilbert L, Arhab A, Horsch A, Puder JJ. Predictors and differences in early and late postpartum weight retention in women previously diagnosed with Gestational diabetes; a clinical cohort study. **Oral communication** at the 2019, Swiss society of Endocrinology and Diabetology (SSED) Annual meeting on Thursday, November 14th 2019 at Inselspital Bern.

<u>QUANSAH DY</u>, Gross J, Gilbert L, Arhab A, Horsch A, Puder JJ. Predictors and differences in early and late postpartum weight retention in women previously diagnosed with Gestational diabetes; a clinical cohort study. **Poster flash communication** at the Journee de la Recherche du Dèpartment femme-mère-enfant 2020 conference, on Thursday, March 12th 2020 at CHUV, Lausanne.

Author contribution

<u>QUANSAH DY</u>, designed the study, contributed to data collection, performed all the data extraction, all analyses, contributed to interpretation of data and wrote the manuscript.

Abstract

Aims: We investigated the predictors and consequences of postpartum weight retention (PPWR) in the early and late postpartum period in women with gestational diabetes (GDM), to assist preventive strategies.

Methods: 862 women with GDM were prospectively included between 2011 and 2019. We investigated PPWR at 6-8 weeks and 1-year postpartum. Potential predictors included gestational weight gain (GWG), weight, BMI, and glucose control parameters during and after pregnancy.

Results: PPWR at 6-8 weeks and 1-year postpartum were 4.6±5.7kg and 4.0 ±7.4kg. At 6-8 weeks postpartum, women with PPWR had higher pre-pregnancy weight, 7.5±0.2kg higher GWG and higher postpartum weight (all p≤0.02), without presenting metabolic differences. At 1-year postpartum, there were no differences in anthropometric parameters before and during pregnancy between women with or without PPWR, except for a 4±0.4kg higher GWG (p<0.001). However, women with PPWR had increased postpartum weight and BMI, higher fasting glucose and more pronounced increases in Δ fasting glucose and Δ HbA1c at 1-year (all p≤0.03). GWG predicted higher PPWR at both 6-8 weeks and at 1-year PP (all p<0.001).

Conclusion: Women with PPWR had increased anthropometric parameters and adverse metabolic consequences at 1-year postpartum. GWG was the most relevant predictor of PPWR.

6.0 GENERAL DISCUSSION

This thesis provides more insights into the novel cross-sectional and longitudinal relationships between IE and weight and fasting glucose levels in women with GDM. It also identifies the predictors and the consequences of PPWR in the early and late postpartum period in women with GDM.

Cross-sectional association between intuitive eating and metabolic outcome (Study 1 & 2)

Our analyses revealed a novel association between IE during pregnancy (at the first GDM visit) with lower BMI and weight before and during pregnancy as well as with fasting glucose and/or HbA1c during pregnancy (study 1). The relationship between IE and fasting glucose was partly mediated by weight (study 1). In study 2, we found that, IE at 1-year postpartum was associated with lower BMI, lower weight retention, fasting glucose and HbA1c at 1-year postpartum. Our results corroborate the findings of a cross-sectional review which indicated that IE was positively related with improved dietary intake and/or healthy eating behaviors. Those factors are drivers for weight loss and glucose maintenance (118). Eating intuitively is known to improve hunger and satiety cues, exert more cognitive control over eating and increase response to physiological signals which leads to lower weight and BMI (36). The results of study 1 and 2 are also consistent with a cross-sectional study among postpartum women where higher practice or adherence to IE was associated with accelerated rates of postpartum weight loss (119). Following a more IE approach to food consumption may encourage postpartum weight loss without the required diet restrictions, calorie counting and exercise regimes all of which are features of traditional weight loss programs. Regarding glycemic control, the findings of this study are in line with those of Wheeler and colleagues who showed that higher adherence to the eating for physical rather than emotional reasons subscale of the IES-2 was associated with lower HbA1c in a cross-sectional study (128).

They are also in line with a cross-sectional review in which IE was associated with improvements in metabolic health indicators, including fasting glucose (118). The eating for physical rather than emotional reasons subscale is known to be negatively associated with disordered eating behaviors and may lead to lower fasting glucose and HbA1c levels (38). These results indicate that aiming to improve IE during pregnancy and the ability to keep this practice stable and even higher in the postpartum period may help to improve weight and fasting glucose levels in these women.

Longitudinal association between intuitive eating and metabolic outcomes (Study 1 & 2)

We also explored the longitudinal relationship between IE with weight and fasting glucose levels during the early and late postpartum period. We found that IE during pregnancy (at the first GDM visit) was associated with lower weight at the end of pregnancy, lower BMI and lower fasting glucose at 6-8 weeks postpartum (study 1). Also, eating for physical rather than emotional reasons during pregnancy (at the first GDM visit) was associated with lower BMI at 1-year postpartum (study 2). These findings are in concordance with a previous study conducted in a general non-pregnant population where IE was associated with lower weight gain and BMI decreases at 1-year postpartum (119). IE assesses the extent to which eating is affected by emotion (92) and women with GDM who engage in eating habits or behaviors driven by emotion rather than physical symptoms of hunger during and after pregnancy may have more problems with weight loss and fasting glucose control in the postpartum period (119). Adhering to IE prevents or reduces eating in response to negative emotional states such as anxiety, depression, boredom or loneliness that often leads to overeating, weight retention, higher BMI and poor glucose control in women with GDM (129). IE could therefore offer an alternative approach that may be rewarding and less exhausting to aid early and late postpartum weight loss in women with GDM (119).

In study 2, we also found that both subscales of IES-2 during pregnancy (at the first GDM visit) were associated with lower fasting glucose at 1-year postpartum in all women with GDM and in women with prediabetes at 1-year postpartum. Also the eating for physical rather than emotional reasons during pregnancy (at the first GDM visit) predicted lower fasting glucose in women with obese/overweight BMI. The relationship between IE and lower fasting glucose in women with prediabetes and obese/overweight showed that special focus should be placed on these women for follow-up. This is particularly important because in women with GDM and in high-risk GDM subgroups (with prediabetes and obese/overweight) each kilogram of weight lost in the postpartum period is associated with a 16% decrease in the risk of diabetes (130–132). It should also be noted that although women with GDM might have normal glucose values after delivery (133), up to 50% develop prediabetes between 6 weeks and 12 months as observed in our sample and confirmed by another study (22).

On the contrary, we found no longitudinal association between the reliance on hunger and satiety cues subscale during pregnancy (at the first GDM visit) with either weight or glucose control variables studied at 1-year postpartum. This lack of association between the reliance on hunger and satiety cues subscale and the weight and fasting glucose variables in our longitudinal analyses suggests that in the long-term eating for physical rather than emotional reasons overshadows the potential importance of relying on one's hunger and satiety signals to regulate food intake in this sample. Outside of pregnancy, intervention studies have revealed that IE is associated with weight loss (115,116) leads to weight maintenance and improves physical health indicators including glucose control (102,108). Our results have important clinical implications which suggest that IE could represent a novel approach for weight and glycemic control during and after pregnancy in women diagnosed with GDM. However, intervention studies should be performed to verify these hypotheses.

Predictors of PPWR (Study 3)

In women with GDM, one previous study exists regarding the predictors of PPWR (31). It demonstrated that less GWG, increasing age and lack of insulin use during pregnancy were associated with losing \geq 75% of pregnancy weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum. In our study GWG was also associated with PPWR but we did not find an association with age or insulin use during the initial univariate regression analyses and hence these variables were not included in the main predictor models. In non-GDM populations, many studies support GWG as a strong and pronounced predictor of PPWR at 6 weeks (55) and up to 12 months postpartum (56-59) as found in our study. Our results are also consistent with those of other studies conducted in non-GDM populations which showed that women with PPWR had higher GWG leading to higher weight status in the late postpartum period (53,134,135). This is explained by the role of excess adipose tissue due to sub-optimal diet and physical activity behaviors before/during pregnancy that leads to excess weight gain and extends into the postpartum period leading to a higher weight retention in the late postpartum period (136–138). Other studies indicate that exceeding IOM guidelines (=excessive GWG) increases the risk of PPWR at 6 to 18 months (60-62). To our knowledge, these latter studies only investigated excessive GWG without including total or absolute GWG. In this study however, although exceeding IOM guidelines (=excessive GWG) was associated with PPWR, this relationship did not remain significant after adjusting for total GWG. This means that excessive GWG does not impact on PPWR beyond the impact of total GWG. Total GWG was the most important predictor of PPWR in our cohort. This is even more relevant as excess GWG was not very pronounced and represented less than 2kg even in women with PPWR. Based on the results, at least regarding postpartum metabolic health, the currently existing IOM guidelines are probably too flexible for a multicultural population with GDM and hence should be revised.

Consequences of weight retention (Study 3)

Study 3 revealed that women with and without PPWR at 6-8 weeks postpartum differed significantly in anthropometric characteristics (weight, BMI, GWG) before, during and after pregnancy. At 1-year postpartum however, they only differed in anthropometric characteristics in the postpartum period, i.e. both in the early (BMI) and late (weight, BMI) postpartum periods. Regarding metabolic consequences, no differences were seen in the early postpartum period between women with and without PPWR. In the late postpartum period, women with PPWR had higher fasting glucose and more pronounced increases in both fasting glucose and HbA1c between the early and late postpartum period. Thus, regarding metabolic consequences, differences between women with and without PPWR were only seen at 1-year postpartum. This finding suggests that late PPWR had an impact on glucose control at 1-year postpartum which might not reveal itself yet in the early postpartum period. Reasons such as sub-optimal diet and physical activity behaviors before/during/after pregnancy (136-138), depressive symptoms and/or short sleep duration (139,140) or breastfeeding (54) and its discontinuation as most of these patients do not breastfeed beyond 6 months could account for the differences in the anthropometric characteristics observed in women with PPWR. Regarding breastfeeding, 85% of women in our cohort who were still breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks postpartum had no PPWR in the late postpartum period. Findings of one previous study parallels our results (21): it demonstrated that weight gain in the first year postpartum was associated with a significant increase in fasting and 2-h glucose in women with GDM.

It is thus essential to focus on prevention of later PPWR e.g. at 1-year postpartum, which actually concerns two thirds of women in our cohort and in published populations. A lack of PPWR or of metabolic complications at 6-8 weeks postpartum although reassuring should therefore not lead to complacency.

This is especially important as only a minority (10%) continues to lose weight after the early postpartum period in our study and those with PPWR at 1-year even demonstrated a small weight gain between the early and late postpartum period. These findings contradict the usual clinical recommendation that the PPWR at 6-8 weeks postpartum is not important as women will anyway loose more weight in the first year postpartum.

Our data regarding the consequences of PPWR also suggest that clinical care with a strong focus on lifestyle interventions in order to improve weight and glucose control beyond a pure screening should be essential up to the late postpartum. This postpartum follow-up should not be limited to screening for metabolic health indicators only but must focus on lifestyle changes. This is because even women without PPWR had a significant increase in fasting glucose between the early and late postpartum period despite almost a 3kg weight loss between these time points suggesting the need for an extended postpartum follow-up period.

7.0 STRENGTHS, LIMITATIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

Strengths of this thesis

This study has several strengths. It is the first to investigate the relationship between IE with metabolic health during and after pregnancy. It is also the first to investigate IE and metabolic health in women with GDM and in a real-life clinical setting. We used a well-developed and validated tool to measure IE. Clinically, our results if confirmed by an intervention trial could help address the issue of postpartum weight retention in women with GDM. It could also help augment the management and prevention of diabetes in women with GDM in general and in the high-risk subgroups with prediabetes or overweight/obese specifically (141). This is even more important, as lifestyle interventions continue to show inconsistent results and effect sizes are small (10,73,75). This study is also the first to investigate both total and excessive GWG as predictors of PPWR as most studies focus exclusively on excessive GWG. In our cohort, total GWG showed a more important role in PPWR prediction than excess GWG. In terms of metabolic consequences of PPWR, adverse metabolic differences and outcomes were only seen in the late postpartum period.

Limitations of this thesis

Even though the results of this thesis are novel, they must be interpreted with caution and some limitations prevail. One limitation of this thesis is the lack of food and dietary intake data in the cohort database. Although we focused on the role of nutritional behavior and metabolic outcomes in women with GDM, it should be important now to investigate the relationship between IE with dietary intake and food quality in these women. In addition, factors such as dietary counseling and use of medication during pregnancy could influence weight and glycemic control and may account for some observed relationships in our longitudinal analysis, even though we measured study variables before dietary counselling and also adjusted for medication use during pregnancy in our analyses.

Furthermore, women had no medication intake in the postpartum period. The lack of a total IES-2 score in our analyses may be a source of limitation as it would have been interesting to see the overall effect of IES-2 on our outcomes. Even though the IES-2 has been validated both in the general and pregnant population, it is not validated in women with GDM and could be a limitation of our study. Other limitations such as a relatively small sample size in our longitudinal analyses may limit our ability to generalize those findings. In addition, several psychosocial and behavioral factors including family support, smoking status in the postpartum period, willingness and change in attitudes following GDM diagnosis which were not the focus of this thesis could influence weight changes especially in the postpartum period. Another limitation is the inability to test the causality of these associations in an intervention trial as data is still ongoing in our randomized controlled intervention trial.

Perspectives for future research

This prospective clinical cohort of women with GDM showed that IE could potentially be a novel approach for weight and glucose management during pregnancy and in the postpartum period. **Studies 1 and 2,** found that, the eating for physical rather than emotional reasons subscale of the IES-2 was a better predictor of improved cardio-metabolic outcomes than the reliance on hunger and satiety cues subscale independent of covariate adjustment. It is therefore important that future studies investigates the individual subscales of the IES-2 as well as the influence of the total IES-2 score and its contribution to both weight and glucose control in women with GDM. Dietary counseling during pregnancy, can both influence weight and glycemic control in the long-term and hence future research should investigate its potential longitudinal influence. Most importantly, research that utilizes IE as an intervention for weight retention and glucose control in a larger and multicultural population during pregnancy is needed to determine the causality of these novel associations we have found.

In studies outside of the perinatal period, IE could be modulated and thus can be influenced. This hints to the assumption that IE is not just a trait, but also a state that could be influenced.

In our ongoing lifestyle interventional trial in women with GDM, we hope test the association between an IE intervention with metabolic health outcome during and after pregnancy. We will also investigate the relationship between dietary intake and IE and if indeed higher IE scores relates to dietary quality as well as their relationship with metabolic outcomes. We will also investigate the relationship between maternal diet quality and intuitive eating during pregnancy with offspring metabolic outcomes.

Regarding the predictors of weight retention, our results indicate that currently existing IOM guidelines for (excess) GWG maybe too relaxed concerning postpartum weight and metabolic health in women with GDM. It is thus essential to control GWG. It will also be pertinent for these guidelines to be reviewed for women with GDM. It is essential for future research to focus on postpartum weight retention even after the recommended postpartum routine screenings because the lack of postpartum weight retention or of metabolic complications at 6-8weeks postpartum, although reassuring, should not lead to complacency as only a minority continues to lose weight after the early postpartum period. There is therefore the need to extend the postpartum follow-up period with special focus on lifestyle interventions.

8.0 GENERAL CONCLUSION

This thesis provides insights into the relationships between nutrition behavior (focusing on intuitive eating (IE)) and weight and fasting glucose outcomes in women with GDM. It also provides an understanding of the predictors and consequences of weight retention in the postpartum period in women with GDM. In a prospective clinical cohort of women with GDM, we found a novel cross-sectional association between IE, specifically the two subscales of IES-2 (eating for physical rather than emotional reasons and reliance on hunger and satiety cues) with lower weight and BMI before, during pregnancy and at the 6-8 weeks and 1-year postpartum in both study 1 and 2. The eating for physical rather than emotional reasons subscale was also associated with lower HbA1c and fasting glucose in the cross-sectional analyses. Our longitudinal analyses (study 1 & 2) confirmed the novel relationship between the eating for physical rather than emotional reasons subscale and lower fasting glucose and HbA1c in our cross-sectional associations in study 1. In the high-risk GDM subgroups with overweight/obesity or prediabetes, IE was associated with lower BMI, weight retention and fasting glucose. These cross-sectional and longitudinal relationships between IE with weight and fasting glucose outcomes during and after pregnancy reveals that IE could be a future target for screening and a potential intervention in women with GDM especially when success from traditional lifestyle interventions remains low.

In **Study 3**, total GWG was the most important predictor of PPWR beyond the impact of excess GWG. Regarding metabolic consequences between women with and without PPWR, differences were only seen in the late postpartum period. However, all women showed an increase in fasting glucose between the 6-8 weeks and 1-year postpartum. Our data regarding PPWR and metabolic health suggest that beyond the recommended postpartum screenings, there is a need for a continuous lifestyle intervention for women with GDM.

Weight loss or lifestyle interventions should also focus on GWG and could help reduce the risk of PPWR and importantly to improve cardio-metabolic consequences. In conclusion, the findings of this thesis imply that IE might have practical implications on weight and glucose control during and after pregnancy in women with GDM and in high-risk GDM subgroups with prediabetes or overweight/obesity. It also demonstrates that studying the pattern of PPWR can help to focus efforts and target optimal timing for interventions in women with GDM in the postpartum period in order to prevent diabetes and other cardio-metabolic outcomes. Most importantly intervention studies should be performed in order to test our hypotheses.

8.1 Personal contribution to data acquisition and management

The GDM research group is a multidisciplinary research group composed of dieticians, physiotherapist, physicians and researchers including psychologists, sport scientists and graduate students. I participate in two projects managed by the research group. These are the GDM longitudinal cohort and a lifestyle intervention trial. In the lifestyle intervention trial (Improving Cardio-metabolic and Mental Health in Women With Gestational Diabetes Mellitus and their Offspring (MySweetHeart); NCT02890693), I coordinate the participant recruitment in English, supervises interns on patient testing, addresses and answer questions from interns and clinicians on testing procedures and the trial protocol. The analyses of this ongoing trial which include an IE intervention will be part of my Postdoctoral training which will focus on testing the hypotheses involved in this thesis. In both the cohort and intervention trial, I manage the Secutrial research database and supervises data input by master's students and performs data extraction for different research purposes. In this role, I produced a detailed systematic and regular update of data input guideline to aid data input. I also supervise and coordinate the preparation of research kits for blood drawing and responsible for weekly contact with laboratory for blood samples, analysis and assistance in blood drawing.

9.0 REFERENCES

- American Diabetes Association (ADA). Standards of medical care in diabetes-2020. Daibetes care. 2020;14(SUPPL.1):11–6.
- Thomas A. Buchanan, Anny H. Xiang KAP. Gestational Diabetes Mellitus: Risks and Management during and after Pregnancy. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2012;8(11):353–7.
- Feig DS, Berger H, Donovan L, Godbout A, Kader T, Keely E, et al. Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee. Can J Diabetes [Internet].
 2018;42:S255–82. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcjd.2017.10.038
- 4. Ryser Ruetschi J, Jornayvaz FR, Rivest R, Huhn EA, Irion O BM. Fasting glycaemia to simplify screening for gestational diabetes. BJOG. 2016;123:2219–22.
- Zhu Y, Zhang C. Prevalence of Gestational Diabetes and Risk of Progression to Type 2 Diabetes: a Global Perspective. Curr Diab Rep. 2016;16(1):1–11.
- American Diabetes Association (ADA). 14. Management of Diabetes in Pregnancy: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2020. Diabetes Care. 2020;43(January):S183– 92.
- Amrican Diabetes Association (ADA). 2. Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2020. Diabetes Care. 2020;43(January):S14–31.
- Agarwal M. Consensus in Gestational Diabetes Mellitus: Looking for the Holy Grail. J Clin Med. 2018;
- Metzger BE. International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups recommendations on the diagnosis and classification of hyperglycemia in pregnancy. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(3):676–82.

- Brown J, Alwan NA, West J, Brown S, McKinlay CJ, Farrar D, et al. Lifestyle interventions for the treatment of women with gestational diabetes (Review).
 Cochrane Database Syst Rev [Internet]. 2017;5(5):CD011970. Available from: 10.1002/14651858.CD011970.pub2
- Lee KW, Ching SM, Ramachandran V, Yee A, Hoo FK, Chia YC, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of gestational diabetes mellitus in Asia: A systematic review and metaanalysis. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2018;18(1):1–20.
- Giannakou K, Evangelou E, Yiallouros P, Christophi CA, Middleton N, Papatheodorou E, et al. Risk factors for gestational diabetes: An umbrella review of meta-analyses of observational studies. PLoS One. 2019;14(4):1–19.
- 13. Miao M, Dai M, Zhang Y, Sun F, Guo X, Sun G. Influence of maternal overweight, obesity and gestational weight gain on the perinatal outcomes in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. Sci Rep [Internet]. 2017;7(1):1–8. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-00441-z
- Dode MAS de O, Santos IS dos. Non classical risk factors for gestational diabetes mellitus: a systematic review of the literature. Cad Saude Publica. 2009;
- 15. American Diabetes Association. Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. Position Statement of the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care [Internet]. 2003;26(Supplement 1):S103–5. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12502631
- Landon MB, Spong CY, Thom E, Carpenter MW, Ramin SM, Casey B, et al. A multicenter, randomized trial of treatment for mild gestational diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2009;
- 17. Metzger BE, Contreras M, Sacks DA, Watson W, Dooley SL, Foderaro M, et al.

Hyperglycemia and adverse pregnancy outcomes. N Engl J Med. 2008;

- Damm P, Houshmand-Oeregaard A, Kelstrup L, Lauenborg J, Mathiesen ER, Clausen TD. Gestational diabetes mellitus and long-term consequences for mother and offspring: a view from Denmark. Diabetologia [Internet]. 2016;59(7):1396–9. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00125-016-3985-5
- 19. Feig DS. Type 2 diabetes after gestational diabetes: Can the progression be prevented? Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2018;34(4):e2988.
- Clausen, T D, Mathiesen ER, Hansen T, Pedersen O, Jensen DM, Lauenborg J. High Prevalence of Type 2 Diabetes and Pre-Diabetes in Adult Offspring of Women With Gestational Diabetes The role of intrauterine hyperglycemia. Diabetes Care. 2008;31(2).
- 21. Ehrlich SF, Hedderson MM, Quesenberry CP, Feng J, Brown SD, Crites Y, et al. Post-partum weight loss and glucose metabolism in women with gestational diabetes: the DEBI Study. Diabet Med [Internet]. 2014;31(7):862–7. Available from: http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-84925884056&partnerID=tZOtx3y1
- Hanna Huopio, Heidi Hakkarainen, Mirja Pääkkönen, Teemu Kuulasmaa, Raimo Voutilainen1, Seppo Heinonen HC. Long-term changes in glucose metabolism after gestational diabetes: a double cohort study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth [Internet].
 2014;14(1):296.
- 23. Farahvar S, Walfisch A, Sheiner E. Gestational diabetes risk factors and long-term consequences for both mother and offspring: a literature review. Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab [Internet]. 2018;00(00):1–12. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17446651.2018.1476135

- Kramer CK, Campbell S, Retnakaran R. Gestational diabetes and the risk of cardiovascular disease in women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetologia. 2019;62(6):905–14.
- 25. Louie JCY, Brand-Miller JC, Moses RG. Carbohydrates, glycemic index, and pregnancy outcomes in gestational diabetes. Curr Diab Rep. 2013;13(1):6–11.
- 26. Emily Oken, Elsie M. Taveras, M, Folasade A. Popoola, Janet W. Rich-Edwards and MWG. Television, Walking, and Diet: Associations with Postpartum Weight Retention. Am J Prev Med. 32(4):305–311.
- 27. Schmitt NM, Nicholson WK, Schmitt J. The association of pregnancy and the development of obesity Results of a systematic review and meta-analysis on the natural history of postpartum weight retention. Int J Obes. 2007;31(11):1642–51.
- Poston L, Caleyachetty R, Cnattingius S, Corvalán C, Uauy R, Herring S, et al.
 Preconceptional and maternal obesity: epidemiology and health consequences. The Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology. 2016.
- 29. Walker LO, Sterling BS, Timmerman GM. Retention of pregnancy-related weight in the early postpartum period: Implications for women's health services. JOGNN -Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, and Neonatal Nursing. 2005.
- NICE. Weight management during and after pregnancy. Br J Midwifery.
 2009;17(6):367–8.
- 31. Nicklas JM, Zera CA, Seely EW. Predictors of very early postpartum weight loss in women with recent gestational diabetes mellitus. J Matern Neonatal Med [Internet].
 2018;0(0):1–7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/14767058.2018.1487937
- 32. Walter JR, Perng W, Kleinman KP, Rifas-Shiman SL, Rich-Edwards JW, Oken E.

Associations of trimester-specific gestational weight gain with maternal adiposity and systolic blood pressure at 3 and 7 years postpartum. Am J Obstet Gynecol [Internet]. 2015;212(4):499.e1-499.e12. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2014.11.012

- 33. Marchi J, Berg M, Dencker A, Olander EK, Begley C. Risks associated with obesity in pregnancy, for the mother and baby: A systematic review of reviews. Obes Rev. 2015;16(8):621–38.
- 34. Leslie WS, Gibson A, Hankey CR. Prevention and management of excessive gestational weight gain: A survey of overweight and obese pregnant women. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2013;13.
- 35. Spencer L, Rollo M, Hauck Y, MacDonald-Wicks L, Wood L, Hutchesson M, et al. The effect of weight management interventions that include a diet component on weight-related outcomes in pregnant and postpartum women: a systematic review protocol. JBI database of systematic reviews and implementation reports. 2015.
- American Diabetes Association (ADA). Gestational diabetes mellitus. Daibetes care.
 2004;27(1):S88–S90.
- 37. Linné Y, Dye L, Barkeling B, Rössner S. Long-term weight development in women: A
 15-year follow-up of the effects of pregnancy. Obes Res. 2004;12(7):1166–78.
- Bellamy L, Casas JP, Hingorani AD, Williams D. Type 2 diabetes mellitus after gestational diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet [Internet].
 2009;373(9677):1773–9. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60731-5
- 39. Teulings NEWD, Masconi KL, Ozanne SE, Aiken CE, Wood AM. Effect of

interpregnancy weight change on perinatal outcomes: systematic review and metaanalysis. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2019;19(1):386.

- 40. Bao W, Yeung E, Tobias DK, Hu FB, Vaag AA, Chavarro JE, et al. Long-term risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus in relation to BMI and weight change among women with a history of gestational diabetes mellitus: a prospective cohort study. Diabetologia. 2015;
- Kasher-Meron M, Grajower MM. Preventing progression from gestational diabetes mellitus to diabetes: A thought-filled review. Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews. 2017.
- Peters RK, Kjos SL, Xiang A, Buchahan TA. Long-term diabetogenic effect of single pregnancy in women with previous gestational diabetes mellitus. Lancet. 1996;347(8996):227–30.
- 43. O'Sullivan JB. Gestational Diabetes: Factors Influencing the Rates of SubsequentDiabetes. In: Carbohydrate Metabolism in Pregnancy and the Newborn 1978. 1979.
- 44. Gilmore LA, Klempel-Donchenko M, Redman LM. Pregnancy as a window to future health: Excessive gestational weight gain and obesity. Seminars in Perinatology. 2015.
- 45. Rong K, Yu K, Han X, Szeto IMY, Qin X, Wang J, et al. Pre-pregnancy BMI, gestational weight gain and postpartum weight retention: A meta-analysis of observational studies. Public Health Nutr. 2015;18(12):2172–82.
- 46. Mannan M, Doi SA, Mamun AA. Association between weight gain during pregnancy and postpartum weight retention and obesity: A bias-adjusted meta-analysis. Nutr Rev. 2013;71(6):343–52.
- Cheng HR, Walker LO, Tseng YF, Lin PC. Post-partum weight retention in women in Asia: A systematic review. Obes Rev. 2011;12(10):770–80.

- 48. Melzer K, Schutz Y. Pre-pregnancy and pregnancy predictors of obesity. Int J Obes
 [Internet]. 2010;34(S2):S44–52. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2010.239
- 49. Olson CM, Strawderman MS, Hinton PS, Pearson TA. Gestational weight gain and postpartum behaviors associated with weight change from early pregnancy to 1 y postpartum. Int J Obes. 2003;27(1):117–27.
- 50. Waage CW, Falk RS, Sommer C, Mørkrid K, Richardsen KR, Bærug A, et al. Ethnic differences in postpartum weight retention: A Norwegian cohort study. BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol. 2016;123(5):699–708.
- Shao HH, Hwang LC, Huang JP, Hsu HY. Postpartum Weight Retention Risk Factors in a Taiwanese Cohort Study. Obes Facts. 2018;11(1):37–45.
- 52. Fadzil F, Shamsuddin K, Wan Puteh SE, Mohd Tamil A, Ahmad S, Abdul Hayi NS, et al. Predictors of postpartum weight retention among urban Malaysian mothers: A prospective cohort study. Obes Res Clin Pract [Internet]. 2018;12(6):493–9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orcp.2018.06.003
- 53. Zanotti J, Capp E, Wender MCO. Factors associated with postpartum weight retention in a Brazilian cohort. Rev Bras Ginecol e Obs. 2015;
- 54. Ley SH, Chavarro JE, Li M, Bao W, Hinkle SN, Wander PL, et al. Lactation Duration and Long-term Risk for Incident Type 2 Diabetes in Women With a History of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. Diabetes Care. 2020;dc192237.
- 55. Muscati SK, Gray-Donald K, Koski KG. Timing of weight gain during pregnancy:Promoting fetal growth and minimizing maternal weight retention. Int J Obes. 1996;
- Ohlin A, Rossner S. Maternal body weight development after pregnancy. Int J Obes. 1990;

- 57. Schauberger CW, Rooney BL, Brimer LM. Factors that influence weight loss in the puerperium. Obstet Gynecol. 1992;
- Lan-Pidhainy X, Nohr EA, Rasmussen KM. Comparison of gestational weight gainrelated pregnancy outcomes in American primiparous and multiparous women1-3. Am J Clin Nutr. 2013;
- Boardley DJ, Sargent RG, Coker AL, Hussey JR, Sharpe PA. The relationship between diet, activity, and other factors, and postpartum weight change by race. Obstet Gynecol. 1995;
- Endres LK, Straub H, McKinney C, Plunkett B, Minkovitz CS, Schetter CD, et al.
 Postpartumweight retention risk factors and relationship to obesity at 1 year. Obstet
 Gynecol. 2015;
- 61. Haugen M, Brantsæter AL, Winkvist A, Lissner L, Alexander J, Oftedal B, et al. Associations of pre-pregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain with pregnancy outcome and postpartum weight retention: A prospective observational cohort study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2014;
- 62. Rode L, Kjærgaard H, Ottesen B, Damm P, Hegaard HK. Association between gestational weight gain according to body mass index and postpartum weight in a large cohort of Danish women. Matern Child Health J. 2012;
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Weight gain during pregnancy. Committee Opinion. 2013. 1250–1253 p.
- 64. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Diabetes in pregnancy : management from preconception to the postnatal period. NICe. 2015;
- 65. Franz MJ, Horton ES, Bantle JP, Beebe CA, Brunzell JD, Coulston AM, et al.

Nutrition principles for the management of diabetes and related complications. Diabetes Care. 1994.

- 66. Franz MJ, Bantle JP, Beebe CA, Brunzell JD, Chiasson JL, Garg A, et al. Evidencebased nutrition principles and recommendations for the treatment and prevention of diabetes and related complications. Diabetes Care. 2002.
- Blumer I, Hadar E, Hadden DR, Jovanovič L, Mestman JH, Murad MH, et al. Diabetes and pregnancy: An endocrine society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98(11):4227–49.
- 68. Han S, Middleton P, Shepherd E, Van Ryswyk E, Crowther CA. Different types of dietary advice for women with gestational diabetes mellitus-update of the cochrane review. Cochrane Database Syst Rev [Internet]. 2017;(2):90.
- 69. Major CA, Henry MJ, De Veciana M, Morgan MA. The effects of carbohydrate restriction in patients with diet- controlled gestational diabetes. Obstet Gynecol. 1998;
- 70. Cliantha Padayachee JSCC. Exercise guidelines for gestational diabetes mellitus.World J Diabetes. 2015;6(8):1033.
- 71. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence [NICE]. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2015): Diabetes in pregnancy: management from preconception to the postnatal period (NG3). NICE Guidel [NG3]. 2015;
- 72. Verc oza Viana L, Gross JL, Azevedo MJ. Dietary intervention in patients with gestational diabetes mellitus: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials on maternal and newborn outcomes. Diabetes Care. 2014;37(12):3345–55.
- 73. Michel S, Raab R, Drabsch T, Günther J, Stecher L, Hauner H. Do lifestyle
 - 80

interventions during pregnancy have the potential to reduce long-term postpartum weight retention? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2018;(August):1– 16.

- 74. Ferrara A, Hedderson MM, Albright CL, Ehrlich SF, Quesenberry CP, Peng T, et al. A pregnancy and postpartum lifestyle intervention in women with gestational diabetes mellitus reduces diabetes risk factors: A feasibility randomized control trial. Diabetes Care. 2011;34(7):1519–25.
- 75. Goveia P C-MW, Santos DP, Lopes GW MR, Duncan BB ZP and, MI S. Lifestyle Intervention for the Prevention of Diabetes in Women With Previous Gestational Diabetes Mellitus: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front Endocrinol. 2018;9(583).
- LaCaille L. Eating Behavior. In: Encyclopedia of Behavioral Medicin. Springer, New York, NY; 2013.
- 77. Zehle K, Smith BJ, Chey T, McLean M, Bauman AE, Wah Cheung N. Psychosocial factors related to diet among women with recent gestational diabetes opportunities for intervention. Diabetes Educ. 2008;34(5):807–14.
- 78. Zehle K, Smith BJ, Chey T, McLean M, Bauman AE, Wah Cheung N. Psychosocial factors related to diet among women with recent gestational diabetes opportunities for intervention. Diabetes Educ. 2008;
- 79. Antoniou EE, Bongers P, Jansen A. The mediating role of dichotomous thinking and emotional eating in the relationship between depression and BMI. Eat Behav. 2017;
- 80. Geliebter A, Aversa A. Emotional eating in overweight, normal weight, and underweight individuals. Eat Behav. 2003;

- Alberts HJEM, Thewissen R, Raes L. Dealing with problematic eating behaviour. The effects of a mindfulness-based intervention on eating behaviour, food cravings, dichotomous thinking and body image concern. Appetite. 2012;
- Ozier AD, Kendrick OW, Leeper JD, Knol LL, Perko M, Burnham J. Overweight and Obesity Are Associated with Emotion- and Stress-Related Eating as Measured by the Eating and Appraisal Due to Emotions and Stress Questionnaire. J Am Diet Assoc. 2008;
- 83. Williamson DA, White MA, York-Crowe E, Stewart TM. Cognitive-behavioral theories of eating disorders. Behavior Modification. 2004.
- 84. Mantzios M, Wilson JC. Exploring Mindfulness and Mindfulness with Self-Compassion-Centered Interventions to Assist Weight Loss: Theoretical Considerations and Preliminary Results of a Randomized Pilot Study. Mindfulness (N Y). 2015;
- 85. Alberts HJEM, Mulkens S, Smeets M, Thewissen R. Coping with food cravings. Investigating the potential of a mindfulness-based intervention. Appetite. 2010;
- 86. Mantzios M, Wilson JC. Making concrete construals mindful: A novel approach for developing mindfulness and self-compassion to assist weight loss. Psychol Heal. 2014;
- 87. Huang C, Momma H, Cui Y, Chujo M, Otomo A, Sugiyama S, et al. Independent and combined relationship of habitual unhealthy eating behaviors with depressive symptoms: A prospective study. J Epidemiol. 2017;
- Tylka TL, Wilcox JA. Are intuitive eating and eating disorder symptomatology opposite poles of the same construct? J Couns Psychol. 2006;
- Hawks S, Madanat H, Hawks J, Harris A. The Relationship between Intuitive Eating and Health Indicators among College Women. Am J Heal Educ. 2005;

82

- 90. Bacon L, Stern JS, Van Loan MD, Keim NL. Size acceptance and intuitive eating improve health for obese, female chronic dieters. J Am Diet Assoc. 2005;
- Tylka TL, Kroon Van Diest AM. The Intuitive Eating Scale-2: Item refinement and psychometric evaluation with college women and men. J Couns Psychol. 2013;60(1):137–53.
- Tylka TL. Development and psychometric evaluation of a measure of intuitive eating. J Couns Psychol. 2006;
- 93. Tylka TL, Kroon Van Diest AM. The Intuitive Eating Scale-2: Item refinement and psychometric evaluation with college women and men. J Couns Psychol. 2013;
- 94. Saunders JF, Nichols-Lopez KA FL. Psychometric properties of the intuitive eating scale-2 (IES-2) in a culturally diverse Hispanic American sample. Eat Behav. 2018;28:1–7.
- 95. Herbert BM, Blechert J, Hautzinger M, Matthias E HC. Intuitive eating is associated with interoceptive sensitivity. Effects on body mass index. Appetite. 2013;70:22–30.
- 96. Saunders JF, Nichols-lopez KA, Frazier LD. Eating Behaviors Psychometric properties of the intuitive eating scale-2 (IES-2) in a culturally diverse Hispanic American sample. Eat Behav [Internet]. 2018;28(November 2017):1–7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2017.11.003
- 97. Schoenefeld SJ, Webb JB. Eating Behaviors Self-compassion and intuitive eating in college women : Examining the contributions of distress tolerance and body image acceptance and action. Eat Behav [Internet]. 2013;14(4):493–6. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2013.09.001
- 98. Camilleri GM, Méjean C, Bellisle F, Andreeva VA, Sautron V, Hercberg S, et al.

Cross-cultural validity of the Intuitive Eating Scale-2. Psychometric evaluation in a sample of the general French population. Appetite [Internet]. 2015;84:34–42. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2014.09.009

- 99. Horwath C, Hagmann D, Hartmann C. Intuitive eating and food intake in men and women: Results from the Swiss food panel study. Appetite. 2019;
- Smith TS, Hawks SR. Intuitive eating, diet composition, and the meaning of food in healthy weight promotion. Am J Heal Educ. 2006;
- 101. Tribole E. Intuitive Eating: Research Update. Sport Cardiovasc Wellness Nutr. 2017;
- 102. Carbonneau E, Bégin C, Lemieux S, Mongeau L, Paquette MC, Turcotte M, et al. A Health at Every Size intervention improves intuitive eating and diet quality in Canadian women. Clin Nutr. 2017;
- 103. Herman CP, Polivy J. A boundary model for the regulation of eating. Res Publ Assoc Res Nerv Ment Dis. 1984;
- Oliver G, Wardle J, Gibson EL. Stress and food choice: A laboratory study. Psychosom Med. 2000;
- 105. Camilleri GM, Méjean C, Bellisle F, Andreeva VA, Kesse-Guyot E, Hercberg S, et al. Intuitive Eating Dimensions Were Differently Associated with Food Intake in the General Population–Based NutriNet-Santé Study. J Nutr. 2017;
- 106. Mensinger JL, Calogero RM, Stranges S, Tylka TL. A weight-neutral versus weightloss approach for health promotion in women with high BMI: A randomized-controlled trial. Appetite. 2016;
- 107. Hawley G, Horwath C, Gray A, Bradshaw A, Katzer L, Joyce J, et al. Sustainability of health and lifestyle improvements following a non-dieting randomised trial in

overweight women. Prev Med (Baltim). 2008;

- Cole RE, Horacek T. Effectiveness of the "my body knows when" intuitive-eating pilot program. Am J Health Behav. 2010;
- 109. Leblanc V, Provencher V, Bégin C, Corneau L, Tremblay A, Lemieux S. Impact of a Health-At-Every-Size intervention on changes in dietary intakes and eating patterns in premenopausal overweight women: Results of a randomized trial. Clin Nutr. 2012;
- 110. Xu J, Ye S. Influence of low-glycemic index diet for gestational diabetes: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. J Matern Neonatal Med. 2018;
- 111. Moses RG, Barker M, Winter M, Petocz P, Brand-Miller JC. Can a low-glycemic index diet reduce the need for insulin in gestational diabetes mellitus? A randomized trial. Diabetes Care. 2009;
- 112. Herbert BM, Blechert J, Hautzinger M, Matthias E, Herbert C. Intuitive eating is associated with interoceptive sensitivity. Effects on body mass index. Appetite [Internet]. 2013;70:22–30. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2013.06.082
- 113. Gast J, Nielson AC, Hunt A, Leiker JJ. Intuitive eating: Associations with physical activity motivation and BMI. Am J Heal Promot. 2015;29(3):e91–9.
- 114. Madden CEL, Leong SL, Gray A, Horwath CC. Eating in response to hunger and satiety signals is related to BMI in a nationwide sample of 1601 mid-age New Zealand women. Public Health Nutr. 2012;15(12):2272–9.
- 115. Tapper K, Shaw C, Ilsley J, Hill AJ, Bond FW, Moore L. Exploratory randomised controlled trial of a mindfulness-based weight loss intervention for women. Appetite. 2009;52(2):396–404.

- 116. Camilleri GM, Méjean C, Bellisle F, Andreeva VA, Kesse-Guyot E, Hercberg S, et al. Intuitive eating is inversely associated with body weight status in the general population-based NutriNet-Santé study. Obesity. 2016;24(5):1154–61.
- 117. Wheeler BJ, Lawrence J, Chae M, Paterson H, Gray AR, Healey D, et al. Intuitive eating is associated with glycaemic control in adolescents with type I diabetes mellitus. Appetite [Internet]. 2016 Jan 1 [cited 2018 Feb 7];96:160–5. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0195666315300271?via%3Dihub
- 118. Van Dyke N, Drinkwater EJ. Review Article Relationships between intuitive eating and health indicators: Literature review. Public Health Nutr. 2014;17(8):1757–66.
- Leahy K, Berlin KS, Banks GG, Bachman J. The Relationship Between Intuitive Eating and Postpartum Weight Loss. Matern Child Health J. 2017;21(8):1591–7.
- 120. Paterson H. Intuitive eating in pregnancy. 2016.
- 121. Daundasekara SS, Beasley AD, O'Connor DP, Sampson M, Hernandez D, Ledoux T. Validation of the intuitive Eating Scale for pregnant women. Appetite [Internet].
 2017;112:201–9. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2017.02.001
- 122. Wild D, Grove A, Martin M, Eremenco S, McElroy S, Verjee-Lorenz A, et al. Principles of good practice for the translation and cultural adaptation process for patient-reported outcomes (PRO) measures: Report of the ISPOR Task Force for Translation and Cultural Adaptation. Value Heal. 2005;
- 123. Jeppsson J-O, Kobold U, Barr J, Finke A, Hoelzel W, Hoshino T, et al. Approved IFCC Reference Method for the Measurement of HbA1c in Human Blood. Clin Chem Lab Med [Internet]. 2002;40(1). Available from: https://www.degruyter.com/view/j/cclm.2002.40.issue-

1/cclm.2002.016/cclm.2002.016.xml

- 124. Institute of Medicine (IOM). Weight gain during pregnancy: reexamining the guidelines. Committee to Reexamine IOM Pregnancy Weight Guidelines. Washington, DC; 2009.
- 125. Quansah DY, Gilbert L, Gross J, Horsch A, Puder JJ. Intuitive eating is associated with improved health indicators at 1-year postpartum in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. J Health Psychol. 2019;
- 126. Quansah DY, Gross J, Gilbert L, Helbling C, Horsch A, Puder JJ. Intuitive eating is associated with weight and glucose control during pregnancy and in the early postpartum period in women with gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM): A clinical cohort study. Eat Behav [Internet]. 2019;34(February):101304. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2019.101304
- 127. Cox JL, Holden JM, Sagovsky R. Detection of Postnatal Depression. Br J Psychiatry. 1987;
- 128. Wheeler BJ, Lawrence J, Chae M, Paterson H, Gray AR, Healey D, et al. Intuitive eating is associated with glycaemic control in adolescents with type I diabetes mellitus. Appetite. 2016;96(1):160–5.
- 129. De Lauzon-Guillain B, Basdevant A, Romon M, Karlsson J, Borys JM, Charles MA. Is restrained eating a risk factor for weight gain in a general population? Am J Clin Nutr. 2006;
- 130. Bao W, Yeung E, Tobias DK, Hu FB, Vaag AA, Chavarro JE, et al. Long-term risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus in relation to BMI and weight change among women with a history of gestational diabetes mellitus : a prospective cohort study. Diabetologia.

2015;58:1212–9.

- 131. Meron MK, Grajower MM. Preventing progression from gestational diabetes mellitus to diabetes : A thought filled review. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2017;33:1–5.
- Hamman RF, Wing RR, Edelstein SL, John M, Bray GA, Delahanty L, et al. Effect of Weight Loss With Lifestyle Intervention on Risk of Diabetes. Diabetes Care.
 2006;29(9):2102–7.
- 133. Retnakaran R, Qi Y, Connelly PW, Sermer M, Hanley AJ, Zinman B. Risk of early progression to prediabetes or diabetes in women with recent gestational dysglycaemia but normal glucose tolerance at 3-month postpartum. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2010;73(4):476–83.
- 134. Gore SA, Brown DM, West DS. The Role of Postpartum Weight Retention in Obesity Among Women: A Review of the Evidence. Annals of Behavioral Medicine. 2003.
- 135. Ashley-Martin J, Woolcott C. Gestational Weight Gain and Postpartum Weight Retention in a Cohort of Nova Scotian Women. Matern Child Health J. 2014;
- Hedderson MM, Gunderson EP, Ferrara A. Gestational weight gain and risk of gestational diabetes mellitus. Obstet Gynecol. 2010;
- Goldstein ND, Rogers S, Ehrenthal DB. The impact of psychosocial stressors on postpartum weight retention. Arch Womens Ment Health. 2016;
- 138. Whitaker K, Young-Hyman D, Vernon M, Wilcox S. Maternal stress predicts postpartum weight retention. Matern Child Health J. 2014;
- 139. Gunderson EP, Rifas-Shiman SL, Oken E, Rich-Edwards JW, Kleinman KP, Taveras EM, et al. Association of fewer hours of sleep at 6 months postpartum with substantial weight retention at 1 year postpartum. Am J Epidemiol. 2008;167(2):178–87.

- Benjamin M. Davis, Glen F. Rall MJS. The influence of sleep duration on postpartum weight change in black and Hispanic women Sharon. Physiol Behav. 2019;27(2):295–303.
- 141. Gilbert L, Gross J, Lanzi S, Quansah DY, Puder J, Horsch A. How diet, physical activity and psychosocial well-being interact in women with gestational diabetes mellitus: an integrative review. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2019;
10.0 PUBLICATION LIST

First authored publications related to this Ph.D. thesis

- QUANSAH DY, Gross J, Gilbert L, Helbling C, Horsch A, Puder JJ. Intuitive eating is associated with weight and glucose control during pregnancy and in the early postpartum period in women with gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM): A clinical cohort study. *Eating Behaviors* 34 (2019):1013042.
- QUANSAH DY, Gilbert L, Gross J, Horsch A, Puder JJ. Intuitive eating is associated with improved health indicators at 1-year postpartum in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. J Health Psychol. 22 (2019):1359105319869814.
- QUANSAH DY, Gross J, Gilbert L, Arhab A, Horsch A, Puder JJ. Predictors and consequences of weight retention in the early and late postpartum period in women with gestational diabetes. *Diabetes Res and Clin Prac.* (2020). doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2020.108238

Other co-uthored publications related to the Ph.D. studies (pubblished or submitted)

- 4. Gilbert L, Gross J, Lanzi S, <u>QUANSAH DY</u>, Puder JJ, Horsch A. How diet, physical activity and psychosocial well-being interact in women with gestational diabetes mellitus: an integrative review. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth*. 2019; 19 (1):60
- Gilbert L, Rossel JB, <u>QUANSAH DY</u>, Puder JJ, Horsch A[.] Mental health and its associations with weight in women with gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM). A prospective clinical cohort study. *Submitted*
- Kosinski, C, Gross J, Helbling C, <u>QUANSAH DY</u>, Rossel JB, Collet TH, Puder JJ. Gestational Diabetes Mellitus and Metabolic Health in the Early and Late Postpartum Period: A prospective clinical cohort study. *Submitted*
- Gilbert L, Nikolaou A, <u>QUANSAH DY</u>, Rossel JB, Horsch A, JJ. Mental health and its associations with medication intake in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. A prospective clinical cohort study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, under review.

11.0 APPENDIX

The appendix contains 3 manuscripts/articles which are all published.

APPENDIX 1

STUDY 1: Intuitive eating is associated with weight and glucose control during pregnancy and in the early postpartum period in women with gestational diabetes mellitus: A clinical cohort study

Dan Yedu Quansah, Justine Gross^{a,b}, Leah Gilbert^a, Celine Helbling^{a,b}, Antje Horsch^{,a,c,†},

Jardena J. Puder^{a,†*}

^aObstetric service, Department Woman-Mother-Child, Lausanne University Hospital,

Lausanne, Switzerland

^bService of Endocrinology, Diabetes and Metabolism, Lausanne University Hospital, Lausanne,

Switzerland

^cInstitute of Higher Education and Research in Healthcare (IUFRS), University of Lausanne,

Switzerland

†Shared last authors

This study is published by *Eating Behaviors* 34 (2019):1013042.

*Corresponding author: Prof. Jardena J. Puder Obstetric service, Department Woman-Mother-Child, Lausanne University Hospital, Lausanne Switzerland. Avenue de la Sallaz, CH-1011, Lausanne, Switzerland. Email : Jardena.puder@chuv.ch Tel : +41-21-314 0638. Fax : +41-21 314 8031

Email adresses Dan Yedu Quansah: Dan.quansah@chuv.ch Justine Gross: Justine.Gross@hospvd.ch Leah Gilbert: Leah.Gilbert@chuv.ch Celine Helbling: Celine.Helbling@chuv.ch Antje Horsch: Antje.Horsch@chuv.ch Jardena J. Puder: Jardena.puder@chuv.ch

Abstract

Introduction: High pre-pregnancy weight and body mass index (BMI) increase the risk of gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) and diabetes after pregnancy. To tackle weight and metabolic health problems, there is a need to investigate novel lifestyle approaches. Outside of pregnancy, higher adherence to intuitive eating (IE) is associated with lower BMI and improved glycemic control. This study investigated the association between IE and metabolic health during pregnancy and in the early postpartum period among women with GDM. Methods: Two-hundred and fourteen consecutive women aged ≥ 18 , diagnosed with GDM between 2015 and 2017 and completed the "Eating for Physical rather than Emotional Reasons (EPR)" and "Reliance on Hunger and Satiety cues (RHSC) subscales" of the French Intuitive Eating Scale-2 (IES-2) questionnaire at the first GDM clinic visit was included in this study. Results: Participants' mean age was 33.32±5.20 years. Their weight and BMI before pregnancy were 68.18±14.83kg and 25.30±5.19kg/m² respectively. After adjusting for confounding variables, the cross-sectional analyses showed that the two subscales of IES-2 at the first GDM visit were associated with lower weight and BMI before pregnancy, and lower weight at the first GDM visit (β =-0.181 to -0.215, all p \leq 0.008). In addition, the EPR subscale was associated with HbA1c and fasting plasma glucose at the first GDM visit (β =-0.170 and to -0.196; all p \leq 0.016). In the longitudinal analyses, both subscales of IES-2 at first GDM visit were associated with lower weight at the end of pregnancy, BMI and fasting plasma glucose at 6-8 weeks postpartum (β =-0.143 to -0.218, all P \leq 0.040) after adjusting for confounders. Conclusions: Increase adherence to IE could represent a novel approach to weight and glucose control during and after pregnancy in women with GDM.

Keywords: Intuitive eating; Gestational diabetes mellitus; Body mass index; Glycemic control; Pregnancy; Postpartum

1. Introduction

Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) refers to any degree of glucose intolerance that is diagnosed in the second or third trimester of pregnancy but does not fulfil the criteria of overt diabetes prior to gestation (1). The negative maternal consequences of GDM are well documented (2,3). Pre-pregnancy BMI and weight gain during pregnancy also increase the risk for complications, such as cesarean delivery and maternal postpartum weight retention (4). Although pre-pregnancy overweight or obesity increase the risk of GDM (5), excess weight gain in women with GDM may increase the risk of developing diabetes in the postpartum period (5,6).

The cornerstone of GDM treatment requires nutrition/diet and exercise intervention to achieve weight and glucose control and also to reduce the need for medical therapy (7). Regarding nutrition, several diets, such as low glycemic index (GI) diet, total energy restriction diet, low carbohydrate diet, and ethnic or traditional diets, such as the Mediterranean diets, have been used to manage weight and glycemic control in women with GDM (8). Although lifestyle interventions (diet and physical activity) led to a lower postpartum weight gain according to a recent Cochrane review (9), the review found no differences regarding postpartum glucose tolerance, postnatal weight retention or return to pre-pregnancy weight in women with GDM between those who had a lifestyle interventions targeting specific lifestyle aspects to address the long-term outcomes of GDM. BMI and weight are independent risk factors of GDM and of the development of diabetes after pregnancy. Therefore, additional methods that improve or maintain weight and promote healthier eating options during pregnancy and in the postpartum period need to be explored especially in women with GDM.

Research suggests that, adaptive eating behaviors that encourage people to recognize and respond to their internal signs of hunger and satiety prevent emotional eating and dietary restriction (10–12), and may lead to lower weight and BMI (13). One such adaptive eating behavior is intuitive eating (IE). IE is characterized by eating in response to physiological hunger and satiety cues rather than external and/or emotional cues (14,15). IE is a more sustainable long-term eating behavior than dieting and is known to be associated with lower levels of cholesterol and cardiovascular risk. It is also inversely associated with disordered eating behavior and leads to body shape satisfaction, lower weight and glucose maintenance (16,17).

Outside of pregnancy, evidence suggests that IE is associated with lower BMI (18–20), weight loss (21,22) and glycemic control in the general population (23,24). In the postpartum period, higher IE practices were associated with lower weight compared to those who engaged in fewer IE practices (25). Even though IE is associated with long-term weight maintenance or weight loss (26), no study has investigated the potential benefit of IE in pregnancy, although the IE questionnaire has been validated in samples of pregnant women (27). Considering that, IE is correlated with BMI, weight and glycemic control as indicated above, we hypothesize that, higher adherence to IE may be beneficial for weight and glycemic control in women with GDM during and after pregnancy. The objective of this study therefore was to investigate the cross-sectional and longitudinal associations between IE and BMI, weight and glycemic control, both during pregnancy and in the early postpartum period among women with GDM.

2. Methods

2.1 Participant consent and recruitment

Pregnant women diagnosed with GDM according to the International Association of the Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups (IADPSG) and American Diabetes Association (ADA)

guidelines (28,29) were invited to participate in the study at the diabetes in pregnancy clinic, where patients from both the University Hospital, Lausanne (CHUV) antenatal care clinic and obstetricians in private practice are referred. This study is part of an ongoing cohort of women with GDM at the Lausanne University Hospital. Women who agreed to participate in the study signed a consent form. The Human Research Ethics Committee of the Canton de Vaud approved the study protocol (326/15).

2.2 Inclusion criteria and exclusion criteria

Women \geq 18 years, with GDM diagnosis and were followed in our clinic between 2015 and 2017, who understood French or English, consented to the cohort, and completed the French IE questionnaire at their first GDM visit, were included in this study.

Out of the cohort population of 1000 participants that were followed in our clinic, we excluded those who did not complete an IE questionnaire at the first GDM visit (N=533) and those who did not attend postpartum visit (N=32). Out of the eligible cohort population of 435 participants, we then excluded those who did not sign an informed consent (N= 145). Participants with known type 1 diabetes (N= 7), known type 2 diabetes (N= 9), GDM diagnosed at \leq 13 weeks (N= 11), diabetes diagnosed during pregnancy at \leq 20 weeks (N= 19), normal (i.e. negative) HGPO results (N= 7), with glucose intolerance but no GDM (N= 2), and those participating in a form of an active lifestyle randomized controlled trial (RCT) intervention (N= 21) were also excluded. Overall, 214 women were included in the final analysis.

2.3 Data collection

2.3.1 Assessment of Intuitive eating (IE)

We assessed IE with the French Intuitive Eating Scale-2 (IES-2); an 18-item validated self-report questionnaire that assesses individuals' tendency to follow their physiological, hunger and satiety cues in determining when, what and how much to eat.

The French IES-2 contains 3 subscales. These are (1) the Eating for physical rather than emotional reasons (EPR, 8 items) subscale; that assesses how much eating is affected by emotional responses, (2) the Reliance on hunger and satiety cues (RHSC, 6 items) subscale; that evaluates the extent to which individuals are aware and able to trust internal signals rather than relying on external rules/cues, and (3) the Unconditional permission to eat (UPE, 4 items) when hungry subscale that assesses whether an individual purposefully tries to ignore hunger and satiety signals (27). The English IES-2 (23-item questionnaire), however, consists of 4 subscales. These are (1) the Eating for physical rather than emotional reasons (EPR, 8 items) subscale; (2) the Reliance on hunger and satiety cues (RHSC, 6 items) subscale, (3) the Unconditional permission to eat (UPE, 4 items) when hungry subscale and 4) the Body-Food Choice Congruence (BFC-C, 5 items) subscale (13,15). The French IES-2, just like the English version, has demonstrated good psychometric properties in samples of pregnant women (27). In an earlier study, the IES-2 indicated a good internal reliability among the subscales. The Cronbach's alphas (α) for the two subscales were 0.92 and 0.87 for EPR and RHSC respectively (25). The IES-2 measures interoceptive abilities. These abilities determine when and how much to eat, and help to accurately perceive and respect one's hunger and satiety cues. Thus, higher IE scores are related to emotional, psychological, and physical well-being (30).

It is also important to note that the conceptualization of IE as interoceptive comprises of sensing the physiological condition of the body as well as the representation of the internal state (31). For the purpose of our study, we removed the UPE subscale (4 items) from the French IES-2. This is because women involved in this study had in general one pre-partum diet visit with a registered dietician during pregnancy and one post-partum visit after pregnancy. We believe that discussions during diet counselling could significantly influence participants' responses to the UPE subscale such as "I try to avoid certain foods high in fat, carbohydrates, or calories". "If I am craving for a certain food, I allow myself to have it". "I have forbidden foods that I don't allow myself to eat". "I allow myself to eat what food I desire at any moment". "I do NOT follow eating rules or dieting plans that dictate what, when, and/or how much to eat". This is because during the one-hour dietary counseling, participants' were advised on the carbohydrate content of their foods and to avoid or limit certain foods in order to improve their eating habits and glycemic profile.

In our hospital, 85% of women with gestational diabetes see a dietician. In the general clinic population, reasons for not being able to see a dietician included appointment-scheduling problems or participants' visited the GDM clinic at an advanced stage of their pregnancy, leaving no time to schedule a dietary counseling session. Before the pre-partum and postpartum dietary counseling, glycemic control variables, weight, and BMI were measured.

We therefore gave the two subscales, i.e., the EPR and RHSC subscales of the French IES-2 and its English translated version produced by our team (with the same 14 items; EPR has 8 items and RHSC has 6 items); to participants who speak French and English respectively. Women completed the EPR and RHSC subscales of the IES-2 questionnaire during the first GDM visit by responding to a 5-point Likert scale response ranging from one (1) 'strongly disagree' to five (5) 'strongly agree' to each item in both subscales.

We then calculated the EPR and RHSC subscale scores as recommended; by dividing the total scores obtained from the sum of 1-5 from each item by the total number of items in each subscale (EPR by 8 and RHSC by 6), leading to a possible subscale score between one and five. Higher scores indicated greater levels of IE. Higher score of the EPR subscale reflects eating as an answer to hunger and lower score meant eating to cope with emotional distress whereas higher score of the RHSC subscale signifies trust in internal cues and lower score reflects less ability to regulate food intake.

2.3.2 Anthropometric measures

We measured height and weight of participants' during the first GDM visit. When available, weight before pregnancy was obtained from patients' medical charts and records. Otherwise this was self-reported. During the first GDM visit, body weight was measured to the nearest 0.1kg in women wearing light clothes and no shoes with an electronic scale (Seca®), height was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm with a Seca® height scale. The electronic scales were regularly calibrated. We also measured participants' weight at the end of pregnancy, and at the 6-8 weeks postpartum visit. We calculated gestational weight gain as the difference between weight at the end of pregnancy and weight before pregnancy. We also calculated the difference between weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum and weight at the first GDM visit. We expressed BMI as the ratio of weight in kilograms to the square of height in meters (kg/m2).

2.3.3 Assessment of glycemic control variables

Participants underwent a 75g oral glucose tolerance test (oGTT) during pregnancy at 24-32 weeks of gestation, unless an initial fasting glucose was \geq 5.1 mmol/L. Women were diagnosed of GDM if one of the following criteria were met: fasting glucose \geq 5.1 mmol/L, 1-hr glucose \geq 10.0 mmol/L, or 2-hr glucose \geq 8.5 mmol/L using the IAPDSG guidelines (28).

At the first GDM visit, HbA1c was measured using a chemical photometric method (conjugation with boronate; Afinion®). At 6-8 weeks postpartum, an oGTT was performed to measure fasting glucose, 2-hr glucose and HbA1c using a High Performance Liquid Chromatography method (HPLC). Both methods are traceable to the International Federation of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine (IFCC) Reference Method for Measurement of HbA1c (32).

2.3.4 Measurement of covariates and other variables

Potential covariates were age and gestational age at the first GDM visit (model 2) and weight when the outcome was fasting glucose or HbA1c (model 3).

For descriptive analyses, the following parameters that were recorded at the first GDM visit were used: Socio-demographic characteristics, including age, education level, nationality, employment status, family history of type-2 diabetes, history of GDM, gravida and parity, habits (smoking and alcohol status during pregnancy), and medical treatment during pregnancy (either metformin or insulin). Age was analyzed as a continuous variable. We grouped education level into four categories. These were compulsory school achieved; general and vocational training levels; high school; and university education. Nationality consisted of Switzerland; Europe and North America; Africa; Asia and Western pacific; and Latin America. Employment status was categorized as student; employed; housewife/at home; and unemployed. We categorized family history of type-2 diabetes, history of GDM, smoking and alcohol intake during pregnancy as either 'yes' or 'no'.

2.4 Statistical analysis

All analyses were conducted using the SPSS software version 25 (32). All descriptive variables were presented as either means (±standard deviation) or in percentages (%) where appropriate. Both predictor (EPR and RHSC subscales of the IES-2 questionnaire) and outcome (BMI, weight and glycemic control including fasting glucose, 1hr glucose, 2hr glucose and HbA1c at the different time points) variables were normally distributed. The correlation between the two subscales of IES-2 questionnaire was low-to moderate (r=0.35, P<0.01). We conducted a linear regression analysis to determine the cross-sectional and longitudinal associations between the two subscales of IES-2 at the first GDM visit with BMI, weight, fasting glucose, 1hr glucose, 2hr glucose,

and at 6-8 weeks postpartum, respectively (longitudinal analysis). We made use of three models in the regression analyses. Model 1 consisted of unadjusted regression estimates. In model 2, we adjusted for socio-demographic characteristics that showed significance with at least one of metabolic health outcome variables (BMI, weight, fasting glucose, 1h or 2h glucose, HbA1c) at either the first GDM visit or at 6-8 weeks postpartum. Thus, this was tested for age, gestational age, education level, nationality, employment status, family history of type-2 diabetes, history of GDM, smoking and alcohol intake during pregnancy, gravida, parity, and medical treatment during pregnancy. Of these potential confounder variables, age, gestational age, smoking during pregnancy, parity, and medical treatment during pregnancy showed significance with one of the metabolic health outcome variables and were thus included in Model 2 as confounder variables. We did not adjust for medical treatment in our cross-sectional analysis. This is because women had not started medical treatment during the first GDM visit (Table 3), as this had no effect on the association between IE and metabolic health at the first GDM visit. However, we adjusted for this in our longitudinal analyses. When the outcome was glycemic control, we added a third model: model 3, where we adjusted for weight at the respective time points (at the first GDM visit and at 6-8 weeks postpartum). All analyses were conducted separately for both subscales of the IES-2 questionnaire. All statistical significances were two sided and accepted at p < 0.05.

3. Results

Table 1 shows the socio-demographic characteristics of the participants (N=214). The mean age of participants was 33.3 ± 5.2 years and the mean gestational age at first GDM visit was 27.4 ± 3.4 weeks. A third (32.2 %) of the participants was university graduates, and 41% were of Swiss nationality. Few women had a history of previous GDM (5.2%) and majority had a family history of type-2 diabetes (60.7%). 44% of the women had no medical treatment for GDM during pregnancy.

The mean weight before and during pregnancy, variables regarding glycemic control and the scores of the two subscales of the IES-2 at the first GDM visit is shown in Table 2. Mean weight and BMI before pregnancy were 68.2 ± 14.8 kg and 25.3 ± 5.2 kg/m2 respectively. Mean weight and HbA1c at first GDM visit were 79.2 ± 14.9 kg and 5.4 ± 0.4 % respectively. The mean score of the EPR subscale at first GDM visit was 3.8 ± 0.9 , whereas the mean score of the RHSC subscale was 3.5 ± 0.9 . Table 3 shows the cross-sectional associations between the two scales of IES-2 with BMI, weight and glycemic control at the first GDM visit. Cross-sectional analyses showed that both subscales of IES-2 at the first GDM visit were associated with lower weight and BMI before pregnancy, weight, fasting glucose and HbA1c at the first GDM visit (β = -0.171 to -0.222, all $p \le 0.01$), however the RHSC subscale was not significantly associated with HbA1c at the first GDM visit. After adjusting for confounders including age, gestational age, smoking, and parity (model 2) the associations between the two subscales of IES-2 with weight and BMI before pregnancy and weight at first GDM visit remained unchanged. The association between the EPR subscale with fasting glucose and HbA1c also remained largely unchanged, except that the association between the RHSC subscale with fasting glucose was attenuated (p=0.095), albeit with a similar beta-coefficient. When fasting glucose or HbA1c was the outcome, we adjusted for weight at first GDM visit as a potential confounder (model 3).

The relationship between the EPR subscale with fasting glucose and HbA1c were attenuated (both p \leq 0.07), while the relationship between the RHSC subscale and fasting glucose remained insignificant (p=0.261). This shows that weight partly mediates the relationship between IE and fasting glucose in our sample. Table 4 shows the longitudinal associations between IES-2 at the first GDM visit with BMI, weight and glycemic control at the end of pregnancy and at 6-8 weeks postpartum visit. Both subscales of IES-2 at first GDM visit were associated with lower weight at the end of pregnancy, weight, BMI and fasting glucose at 6-8 weeks postpartum (β =-0.139 to -0.242, all P \leq 0.046) (model 1).

None of the IES-2 subscales was related to change in weight at the end of pregnancy and change in weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum and weight at first GDM visit. After adjusting for confounders including age, gestational age, smoking, parity, and medical treatment during pregnancy (model 2), the significant associations between the two subscales of IES-2 with weight at the end of pregnancy, weight, BMI and fasting glucose at 6-8 weeks postpartum remained unchanged (all $p \le 0.004$). However, there was an attenuation of the association between RHSC subscale and weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum (p=0.057), albeit with a similar beta-coefficient. When fasting glucose and HbA1c were the outcome variables, we adjusted for weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum visit (model 3) as a potential confounder. Thus, the inverse association between the EPR subscale and fasting glucose at 6-8 weeks postpartum remained unchanged (p= 0.038), whereas the association between the RHSC subscale and fasting glucose at 6-8 weeks postpartum was attenuated (p≤ 0.059).

4. Discussion

We investigated the relationship between the two subscales of IES-2 with weight and glucose control during pregnancy and in the early postpartum period in women diagnosed with GDM.

To the best of our knowledge, this has not been previously studied in a general pregnant population or in women with GDM. In this prospective cohort of women followed in a clinical setting, we found that, the two subscales of IES-2 ("Eating for physical rather than emotional reasons" and "Reliance on hunger and satiety cues" subscales) during pregnancy were associated with lower BMI and weight before pregnancy, weight, fasting glucose and/or HbA1c during pregnancy and in the early postpartum period. The relationship between intuitive eating and fasting glucose was partly mediated by weight.

Although certain lifestyle interventions such as low GI diets can lead to a decrease in weight gain and postprandial glucose among women with GDM (9,33), the effect size of their impact on weight and their influence on fasting glucose and HbA1c remains controversial (9,33,34). As opposed to those previous studies that focused on macronutrient contents of foods, type of carbohydrates, portion sizes and eating frequency, IE represents an interesting and different approach that has never been studied in pregnancy in general and in women with GDM in particular (33,34). To fill this gap during pregnancy, where feelings and cues of hunger and satiety are distinct from out of pregnancy-states, and in women with GDM where increased weight gain during pregnancy and weight retention in the postpartum period can lead to recurrent GDM, obesity and future development of diabetes, this study evaluated the associations between IE with weight and glucose control during and after pregnancy in an observational design.

Results of our cross-sectional analyses showed that the two subscales of IES-2 at the first GDM visit were associated with lower weight and BMI before pregnancy and weight at the first GDM visit. These associations may exist due to the following reasons. First, the EPR subscale of the IES-2 measures the extent to which individuals use food to satisfy hunger rather than to cope with negative emotional states, such as anxiety, depression, boredom, or loneliness, that can lead to overeating, weight gain, and an eventual increase in BMI (35).

The RHSC subscale, on the other hand, uses one's innate ability to respond to satiety cues by determining when, what, and how much to eat. Eating intuitively therefore may lead to improved hunger and satiety cues, more cognitive control, and increased response to physiological signals. Improvement in cognitive control and response to physiological cues may in turn lead to lower weight and BMI (36).

The association between the EPR subscale with fasting glucose and HbA1c independent of adjustment for confounders in our cross-sectional analyses indicates that eating habits driven by emotions and cravings during pregnancy may lead to higher glycemic values (10). This may be explained by the following mechanisms: frequent snacking and reduced time without food intake might impact on increased hepatic insulin resistance and subsequent increased overnight glucose production, which may lead to increased fasting glucose levels (37). On the other hand, higher adherence to the EPR subscale prevents disordered eating behaviors and thus may lead to lower fasting glucose and HbA1c levels (38). In contrast, the lack of association between the RHSC subscale with HbA1c and with fasting glucose after adjustments indicates that when it comes to pregnancy, elements of RHSC that assesses the degree of awareness of internal hunger and satiety signals may be overshadowed by the potential importance of eating for physical rather than emotional reasons. This could be the reason why the adherence to the RHSC subscale was comparatively lower than the EPR subscale in our sample. One of the possible reasons why IE was not related to the one and two-hour glucose levels was that during the oGTT, a fixed amount of 75 g of glucose was given regardless of any signs of IE. In addition, the oGTT test overrides all internal stimuli. As explained above, the associations between the two subscales of IES-2 with lower weight at the end of pregnancy and lower weight and BMI at 6-8 weeks postpartum in the longitudinal analyses could indicate that the sustained adherence to IE over a period of time may improve emotional states and disordered eating behaviors, as well as help to increase one's ability to innately recognize hunger and satiety cues. This could be beneficial in lowering cognitive restraint that usually lead to weight gain and higher BMI. In this context of a clinical setting, women with GDM were followed by either a nurse or a physician and likely had a pre-partum and postpartum dietary counseling sessions with a dietician.

During the postpartum dietary counselling, the general goal was for women to return to their weight before pregnancy within one year after delivery. This is because gestational weight retention is a known risk factor for recurrent GDM and type-2 diabetes. Therefore, the sustained practice of IE and the desire to lose postpartum weight itself may account for the observed association regarding weight and BMI outcomes in our longitudinal analyses. The lack of associations between IE with weight gain (at the end of pregnancy) and weight retention at 6-8 weeks postpartum visit remains unclear, however, factors such as little variation and short time periods between these time points may be reasons for the lack of association.

The lack of associations between the two subscales of IES-2 with HbA1c in our longitudinal analyses can be explained by the following reasons: in the postpartum period, eating habits, such as frequent overeating (especially excess animal fat intake), may influence glucose level and can impact on HbA1c (39). Similarly, medical treatment may also have an impact in the longitudinal analyses, as it lower fasting and postprandial glucose levels and may confound our findings. We therefore adjusted for medical treatment in our longitudinal analysis. In our study, the majority (52.5%) of our participants' received medical treatment during pregnancy either in the form insulin or insulin and metformin. The possible impact of iron deficiency anemia (40) and the changes in insulin sensitivity in the early weeks after delivery may be implicated in the lack of longitudinal associations between the two subscales of IES-2 and HbA1c. Other factors, such as breastfeeding in the postpartum period also act to reduce glucose levels and may affect HbA1c levels (41).

Our results corroborate the findings of a cross-sectional review outside of pregnancy which indicated that IE was positively related with improved dietary intake and/or healthy eating behaviors that are drivers for weight loss and maintenance (24). The results of our study are also consistent with a study among postpartum women where the higher practice or adherence to IE was associated with accelerated rates of postpartum weight loss (25).

Several attempts by weight loss programs that mainly consists of lifestyle intervention to address postpartum weight retention have been inconsistent (42). Difficulties in adhering to specific structured diet and physical activity recommendations have been named as the possible reason. Following a more IE approach to food consumption may encourage postpartum weight loss without the required diet restrictions, calorie counting and exercise regimes, all of which are features of traditional weight loss programs. IE could offer an alternative approach that may be rewarding and less exhausting for new mothers who have busy lives, limited available time and new to parenting (25). Regarding glycemic control, the findings of this study are in line with those of Wheeler and colleagues who showed that, higher adherence to the EPR subscale was associated with lower HbA1c in a cross-sectional study (43) and with a review in which IE led to improvements in metabolic health indicators, including fasting glucose (24).

Our results have important clinical implications and suggests that IE could represent a novel approach for weight and glycemic control in women diagnosed with GDM. Future epidemiologic/intervention studies should investigate the long-term and sustained effect of IE during pregnancy and in the postpartum period among women with GDM.

This study has several strengths. It is the first to investigate the relationship between IE with BMI, weight and glycemic control in women with GDM in a real-life clinical setting. We used a well-developed and validated tool to measure IE during pregnancy. However, the results of this study must be interpreted with the following limitations. Factors such as dietary counseling and use of medication during pregnancy can influence both weight and glycemic control may account for the observed relationships in our longitudinal analysis even though we adjusted for medication use during pregnancy in our analyses. We believe that visiting a dietician did not impact on our cross-sectional results because we measured weight, BMI and glucose control variables at the first GDM visit before the appointment with a dietician was scheduled.

Even for the longitudinal results, the impact was probably not major, as we measured the outcome variables only at 6-8 weeks postpartum. In this context, we do not believe that one hour of consultation with the dietician during pregnancy that focused on the carbohydrate content of foods would influence our outcomes in a major way, considering that, many habits changes in the postpartum period. Missing data of some socio-demographic characteristics is a possible limitation because these variables were potential confounders in our analyses. The lack of a total IES-2 score in our analyses may be a source of limitation as it would have been interesting to see the overall effect of IES-2 on our outcomes would have been interesting. Other limitations such as a relatively small sample size limit our ability to generalize our findings. We obtained weight before pregnancy from patients' medical chart when available, otherwise we relied on self-reported pre-pregnancy weight which may be a limitation. In addition, several psychosocial and behavioral factors including family support, willingness and change in attitudes following GDM diagnosis were not investigated could influence weight changes especially in the postpartum period. Further research that utilizes IE as an intervention for weight retention and glucose control in a larger population during pregnancy and in the postpartum period is needed to determine the causality of these associations found in women with GDM.

5. Conclusions

In this prospective cohort of women with GDM, cross-sectional analyses showed that the two subscales of IES-2 at the first GDM visit were associated with lower weight and BMI before pregnancy and weight at first GDM visit after adjusting for confounders. The EPR subscale was also associated with lower HbA1c and fasting glucose at the first GDM visit. In the longitudinal analyses, both subscales of IES-2 at first GDM visit were associated with lower weight at the end of pregnancy, BMI and fasting plasma glucose at 6-8 weeks postpartum after adjusting for confounders. The EPR subscale was also associated with weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum.

None of the IES-2 subscales was associated with weight changes at the end of pregnancy and at 6-8 weeks postpartum. These results suggest that practicing IE may be beneficial and could represent an interesting approach to weight and glucose management during and after pregnancy in women with GDM. In addition, higher adherence to IE may reduce the risk of developing diabetes in the postpartum period in women with GDM.

Role of funding sources

This study is a pilot of a project grant by the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNF 32003B_176119). The Swiss Federal Commission for Scholarships (FCS) provided the funds for the Ph.D. studies of the first author, DYQ. The cohort study database received an unrestricted educational grant from Novo Nordisk. FCS and Novo Nordisk had no role regarding the content of the original data or analyses and in the drafting of this manuscript.

Author contribution

DYQ, JG, LG, AH and JP designed the study. DYQ, JG, CH, LG were involved in data collection. DYQ extracted the data, performed all the analyses and wrote the draft manuscript. DYQ, JG and JP interpreted the data. JG, LG, AH and JP reviewed the manuscript.

All authors revised and accepted the manuscript for submission. JP had the idea of the cohort and co-supervised all the work with AH.

Conflict of interest

None

Acknowledgements

Our sincere appreciation goes to our study participants for their time and participation. We would also like to thank Dominique Stultz and Isabelle Cohen-Salmon who helped in data collection and Fady Fares for his contribution towards the management of the cohort database.

References

 Riddle MC, Bakris G, Blonde L, Boulton AJM, D'alessio D, De Groot M, et al. Introduction: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes—2018. Diabetes Care [Internet]. 2018;41(Supplement 1):S1–2.

2. Nehring I, Schmoll S, Beyerlein A, Hauner H, Von Kries R. Gestational weight gain and long-term postpartum weight retention: A meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr. 2011;

3. Damm P, Houshmand-Oeregaard A, Kelstrup L, Lauenborg J, Mathiesen ER, Clausen TD. Gestational diabetes mellitus and long-term consequences for mother and offspring: a view from Denmark. Diabetologia [Internet]. 2016;59(7):1396–9. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00125-016-3985-5

4. Miao M, Dai M, Zhang Y, Sun F, Guo X, Sun G. Influence of maternal overweight, obesity and gestational weight gain on the perinatal outcomes in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. Sci Rep [Internet]. 2017;7(1):1–8. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-00441-z

5. Monique M. Hedderson, Erica P. Gunderson AF. Gestational Weight Gain and Risk of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. Obs Gynecol [Internet]. 2010;115(3):597–604. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1055329010000063

6. Kim C. Maternal outcomes and follow-up after gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabet Med. 2015;31(3):292–301.

7. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Diabetes in pregnancy : management from preconception to the postnatal period. NICe. 2015;

109

8. Verc_ooza Viana L, Gross JL, Azevedo MJ. Dietary intervention in patients with gestational diabetes mellitus: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials on maternal and newborn outcomes. Diabetes Care. 2014;37(12):3345–55.

9. Brown J, Alwan NA, West J, Brown S, McKinlay CJ, Farrar D, et al. Lifestyle interventions for the treatment of women with gestational diabetes (Review). Cochrane Database Syst Rev [Internet]. 2017;5(5):CD011970. Available from: 10.1002/14651858.CD011970.pub2

10. Tylka TL, Wilcox JA. Are intuitive eating and eating disorder symptomatology opposite poles of the same construct? J Couns Psychol. 2006;

11. Hawks S, Madanat H, Hawks J, Harris A. The Relationship between Intuitive Eating and Health Indicators among College Women. Am J Heal Educ. 2005;

12. Bacon L, Stern JS, Van Loan MD, Keim NL. Size acceptance and intuitive eating improve health for obese, female chronic dieters. J Am Diet Assoc. 2005;

13. Tylka TL, Kroon Van Diest AM. The Intuitive Eating Scale-2: Item refinement and psychometric evaluation with college women and men. J Couns Psychol. 2013;60(1):137–53.

14. Tylka TL. Development and psychometric evaluation of a measure of intuitive eating. J Couns Psychol. 2006;

15. Tylka TL, Kroon Van Diest AM. The Intuitive Eating Scale-2: Item refinement and psychometric evaluation with college women and men. J Couns Psychol. 2013;

16. Saunders JF, Nichols-lopez KA, Frazier LD. Eating Behaviors Psychometric properties of the intuitive eating scale-2 (IES-2) in a culturally diverse Hispanic American sample. Eat Behav [Internet]. 2018;28 (November 2017):1–7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2017.11.003

17. Schoenefeld SJ, Webb JB. Eating Behaviors Self-compassion and intuitive eating in college women : Examining the contributions of distress tolerance and body image acceptance and action. Eat Behav [Internet]. 2013;14(4):493–6. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2013.09.001

18. Herbert BM, Blechert J, Hautzinger M, Matthias E, Herbert C. Intuitive eating is associated with interoceptive sensitivity. Effects on body mass index. Appetite [Internet]. 2013;70:22–30. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2013.06.082

19. Gast J, Nielson AC, Hunt A, Leiker JJ. Intuitive eating: Associations with physical activity motivation and BMI. Am J Heal Promot. 2015;29(3):e91–9.

20. Madden CEL, Leong SL, Gray A, Horwath CC. Eating in response to hunger and satiety signals is related to BMI in a nationwide sample of 1601 mid-age New Zealand women. Public Health Nutr. 2012;15(12):2272–9.

21. Tapper K, Shaw C, Ilsley J, Hill AJ, Bond FW, Moore L. Exploratory randomised controlled trial of a mindfulness-based weight loss intervention for women. Appetite. 2009;52(2):396–404.

22. Camilleri GM, Méjean C, Bellisle F, Andreeva VA, Kesse-Guyot E, Hercberg S, et al. Intuitive eating is inversely associated with body weight status in the general population-based NutriNet-Santé study. Obesity. 2016;24(5):1154–61.

23. Wheeler BJ, Lawrence J, Chae M, Paterson H, Gray AR, Healey D, et al. Intuitive eating is associated with glycaemic control in adolescents with type I diabetes mellitus. Appetite [Internet]. 2016 Jan 1 [cited 2018 Feb 7];96:160–5.

24. Van Dyke N, Drinkwater EJ. Review Article Relationships between intuitive eating and health indicators: Literature review. Public Health Nutr. 2014;17(8):1757–66.

25. Leahy K, Berlin KS, Banks GG, Bachman J. The Relationship Between Intuitive Eating and Postpartum Weight Loss. Matern Child Health J. 2017;21(8):1591–7.

26. Ciampolini M, Lovell-Smith D, Sifone M. Sustained self-regulation of energy intake. Loss of weight in overweight subjects. Maintenance of weight in normal-weight subjects. Nutr Metab. 2010;

27. Daundasekara SS, Beasley AD, O'Connor DP, Sampson M, Hernandez D, Ledoux T. Validation of the intuitive Eating Scale for pregnant women. Appetite [Internet]. 2017;112:201–9. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2017.02.001

28. Metzger BE. International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups recommendations on the diagnosis and classification of hyperglycemia in pregnancy. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(3):676–82.

29. Dorsey JL, Becker MH, Al. E. 6. Glycemic Targets: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes—2018. Diabetes Care. 2018;41(Supplement 1):S55–64.

30. Saunders JF, Nichols-Lopez KA FL. Psychometric properties of the intuitive eating scale-2 (IES-2) in a culturally diverse Hispanic American sample. Eat Behav. 2018;28:1–7.

31. Herbert BM, Blechert J, Hautzinger M, Matthias E HC. Intuitive eating is associated with interoceptive sensitivity. Effects on body mass index. Appetite. 2013;70:22–30.

32. Jeppsson J-O, Kobold U, Barr J, Finke A, Hoelzel W, Hoshino T, et al. Approved IFCC Reference Method for the Measurement of HbA1c in Human Blood. Clin Chem Lab Med 2002;40(1).

33. Moses RG, Barker M, Winter M, Petocz P, Brand-Miller JC. Can a low-glycemic index diet reduce the need for insulin in gestational diabetes mellitus? A randomized trial. Diabetes Care. 2009;

112

34. Xu J, Ye S. Influence of low-glycemic index diet for gestational diabetes: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Matern Neonatal Med. 2018;

35. Provencher V, Bégin C, Tremblay A, Mongeau L, Corneau L, Dodin S, et al. Health-At-Every-Size and Eating Behaviors: 1-Year Follow-Up Results of a Size Acceptance Intervention. J Am Diet Assoc. 2009;

36. De Lauzon-Guillain B, Basdevant A, Romon M, Karlsson J, Borys JM, Charles MA. Is restrained eating a risk factor for weight gain in a general population? Am J Clin Nutr. 2006;

37. Chung H, Chou W, Sears DD, Patterson RE, Webster NJG, Ellies LG. Time-restricted feeding improves insulin resistance and hepatic steatosis in a mouse model of postmenopausal obesity. Metabolism. 2016;

38. Rodin G, Olmsted MP, Rydall AC, Maharaj SI, Colton PA, Jones JM, et al. Eating disorders in young women with type 1 diabetes mellitus. In: Journal of Psychosomatic Research. 2002.

39. Hwang YJ, Park BK, Park S, Kim SH. A comparative study of eating habits and food intake in women with gestational diabetes according to early postpartum glucose tolerance status. Diabetes Metab J. 2011;

40. Sinha N, Mishra TK, Singh T, Gupta N. Effect of iron deficiency anemia on hemoglobin A1c levels. Ann Lab Med. 2012;

41. Gunderson EP, Hedderson MM, Chiang V, Crites Y, Walton D, Azevedo RA, Fox G, Elmasian C, Young S, Salvador N, Lum M, Quesenberry CP, Lo JC, Sternfeld B, Ferrara A SJ. Maternal Glucose Tolerance and Insulin; The SWIFT cohort. Diabetes Care. 2012;35(1):50–6.

42. Evenson, K., Aytur, S., & Borodulin K. Physical activity beliefs, barriers, and enablers among postpartum women. J Women's Heal. 2009;18(12):1925–1934.

43. Wheeler BJ, Lawrence J, Chae M, Paterson H, Gray AR, Healey D, et al. Intuitive eating is associated with glycaemic control in adolescents with type I diabetes mellitus. Appetite. 2016;96 (1):160–5.

Variable	Mean	SD	Frequency	Percent (%)
Age (year) N= 214)	33.32	5.20		
Gestational age at the first GDM visit (weeks) (N= 214) 27.43	3.36		
Educational level (N=164)				
Compulsory school achieved ¹			28	13.1
CFC^2			40	18.7
High school			27	12.6
University			69	32.2
Ethnic origin (N=212)				
Switzerland			88	41.1
Europe + North America			80	37.4
Africa			25	11.7
Asia + western pacific			15	7.0
Latin America			4	1.9
Employment status (N=186)				
Student			5	2.3
Employed			137	64.0
Unemployed			22	10.3
At home/housewife			22	10.3
Family history of Type-2 Diabetes (N= 214)				
1st degree ³			71	33.2
2nd degree ⁴			59	27.5
No			84	39.2
History of GDM (N= 214)				
Yes			11	5.2
No			203	94.8
Smoking status during pregnancy (N= 214)				
Yes			45	21.0
No			169	79.0
Alcohol intake during pregnancy (N= 214)				
Yes			14	6.5
No			200	93.5
Gravida (N= 214)				
1			89	41.6
2			68	31.8
≥3			57	26.6
Parity (N= 214)				
0			116	54.2
1			70	32.7
2			22	10.3
≥3			6	2.8
Medical treatment during pregnancy (N=207)				
None			95	44.4
Metformin			7	3.4
Insulin and Metformin			105	49.1

STUDY 1 Tables and captions

. 1. 1. . mistics of a [T-1.1. 1] C - ۰h 1

¹Includes 1 patient who did not complete compulsory school

²CFC means general and vocational education

³1st degree means 1 degree of relationship of the participant (at least 50% of genetic link, which included mother, father,

brother, sister, daughter, son) ⁴Second degree means 2nd degree of kinship of the participant (at least 25% of genetic link that included grandparents, grandchildren, nephews, niece, half-brother, half-sister)

All results are frequency and percentage unless otherwise stated

		-	
Variable	Ν	Mean	SD
Weight before pregnancy (kg) (self-reported)	213	68.18	14.83
BMI before pregnancy (kg/m ²)	213	25.30	5.19
Weight at first GDM visit (kg) (measured)	211	79.16	14.87
Δ Weight before pregnancy and at First GDM visit (kg)	210	10.92	4.58
HbA1c at First GDM visit (%)	211	5.36	0.39
Fasting glucose at first GDM visit (mmol/l)	206	5.08	0.79
1hr glucose at first GDM visit (mmol/l)	163	9.73	1.70
2hr glucose at first GDM visit (mmol/l)	164	7.87	1.74
EPR at first GDM visit	214	3.88	0.93
RHSC at first GDM visit	214	3.54	0.90

[Table 2] Mean distribution of study variables at first GDM visit or before pregnancy

GDM means gestational diabetes mellitus

HbA1c means glycated hemoglobin BMI means body mass index

EPR means Eating for Physical Rather than Emotional Reasons subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2). Higher scores means higher adherence to the EPR subscale

RHSC means Reliance on Hunger and Satiety Cues subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2). Higher scores means higher adherence to the RHSC subscale

The differences in Frequency of Fasting glucose, 1hr and 2hr glucose is because GDM was diagnosed with a 75-G oral glucose-tolerance test unless an initial fasting glucose was \geq 5.1 mmol/L.

[Table 3] Cross-sectional associations between the two subscales of intuitive eating scale-2 and weight, BMI and glycemic control at first GDM visit

	Model 1 Model 2							Model 3					
Variable	regression coefficient	95% CI		P-value	regression coefficient	95% CI		P-value	regression coefficient	95% CI		P- value	
EPR													
Weight before pregnancy $(n=213)$	-0.203	-5.329	-1.107	0.003	-0.181	-5.002	-0.745	0.008	NA			<u> </u>	
BMI before pregnancy $(n=213)$	-0.216	-1.936	-0.463	0.002	-0.194	-1.824	-0.332	0.005	NA				
Weight at first GDM visit $(n=211)$	-0.205	-5.355	-1.126	0.003	-0.191	-5.168	-0.871	0.006	NA				
HbA1c at first GDM visit $(n=211)$	-0.171	-0.126	-0.015	0.013	-0.170	-0.127	-0.013	0.016	-0.123	-0.106	0.004	0.070	
Fasting glucose at first GDM visit ($n=206$)	-0.195	-0.278	-0.050	0.005	-0.196	-0.280	-0.049	0.005	-0.124	-0.213	0.007	0.066	
1-hr glucose at first GDM visit ($n=163$)	0.122	-0.058	0.490	0.122	0.154	-0.009	0.556	0.058	0.112	-0.081	0.465	0.166	
2-hr glucose at first GDM visit ($n=164$)	-0.030	-0.336	0.226	0.698	-0.033	-0.351	0.232	0.689	-0.065	-0.404	0.169	0.420	
RHSC													
Weight before pregnancy $(n=213)$	-0.194	-5.394	-0.999	0.005	-0.181	-5.171	-0.800	0.008	NA				
BMI before pregnancy $(n=213)$	-0.222	-2.046	-0.518	0.001	-0.215	-2.007	-0.482	0.002	NA				
Weight at first GDM visit $(n=211)$	-0.190	-5.365	-0.934	0.006	-0.188	-5.331	-0.886	0.006	NA				
HbA1c at first GDM visit $(n=211)$	-0.061	-0.085	0.032	0.376	-0.061	-0.085	0.033	0.389	-0.004	-0.060	0.056	0.954	
Fasting glucose at first GDM visit $(n=206)$	-0.148	-0.248	-0.010	0.033	-0.117	-0.222	0.018	0.095	-0.076	-0.182	0.050	0.261	
1-hr glucose at first GDM visit $(n=163)$	0.072	-0.149	0.409	0.359	0.097	-0.108	0.459	0.224	0.043	-0.209	0.359	0.605	
2-hr glucose at first GDM visit ($n=164$)	-0.072	-0.417	0.153	0.361	-0.068	-0.416	0.165	0.394	-0.124	-0.526	0.070	0.132	

Gestational age at first GDM visit is 24-32 weeks

EPR means Eating for Physical Rather than Emotional Reasons subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2). Higher scores means higher adherence to the EPR subscale

RHSC means Reliance on Hunger and Satiety Cues subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2). Higher scores means higher adherence to the RHSC subscale

Model 1: Unadjusted regression estimates

Model 2: Adjusted for age, gestational age, smoking, and parity

Model 3: Adjusted for weight at first GDM visit

[Table 4] Longitudinal associations between two subscales of intuitive eating scale-2 and weight, BMI and glycemic control at the end of pregnancy and in early postpartum (6-8 weeks)

		11		Mode	2		Model 3					
	regression			Р-	regression			Р-	regression			P-
Variable	coefficient	95% CI		value	coefficient	95% CI		value	coefficient	95% CI		value
EPR												
Weight at end of pregnancy $(n=198)$	-0.223	-5.450	-1.297	0.002	-0.212	-5.373	-1.063	0.004	NA			
Weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum ($n=207$)	-0.237	-5.700	-1.592	0.001	-0.219	-5.536	-1.267	0.002	NA			
BMI at 6-8 weeks postpartum $(n=205)$	-0.242	-2.003	-0.574	0.000	-0.226	-1.956	-0.474	0.001	NA			
Δ weight first GDM visit and end of pregnancy $(n=192)^1$	-0.007	-0.562	0.509	0.922	0.025	-0.452	0.642	0.732	NA			
Δ weight first GDM visit and 6-8 weeks PP $(n=205)^2$	-0.061	-1.137	0.438	0.382	-0.062	-1.154	0.448	0.386	NA			
HbA1c at 6-8 weeks postpartum(n=206)	-0.002	-0.053	0.051	0.978	-0.003	-0.056	0.054	0.968	0.017	-0.047	0.060	0.815
Fasting glucose 6-8 weeks postpartum (n=207)	-0.200	-0.159	-0.031	0.004	-0.191	-0.158	-0.026	0.007	-0.144	-0.132	-0.004	0.038
2-hr glucose 6-8 weeks postpartum (n=206)	-0.020	-0.261	0.194	0.775	-0.005	-0.253	0.235	0.943	-0.018	-0.264	0.205	0.806
RHSC												
Weight at end of pregnancy $(n=198)$	-0.193	-5.276	-0.868	0.007	-0.175	-5.059	-0.545	0.015	NA			
Weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum ($n=207$)	-0.139	-4.486	-0.040	0.046	-0.134	-4.435	0.065	0.057	NA			
BMI at 6-8 weeks postpartum $(n=205)$	-0.164	-1.691	-0.155	0.019	-0.165	-1.708	-0.156	0.019	NA			
Δ weight first GDM visit and end of pregnancy (<i>n</i> =192)	0.092	-0.200	0.926	0.205	0.102	-0.159	0.974	0.157	NA			
Δ weight first GDM visit and 6-8 weeks PP($n=205$)	0.105	-0.198	1.467	0.135	0.064	-0.444	1.216	0.360	NA			
HbA1c at 6-8 weeks postpartum(n=206)	-0.074	-0.084	0.025	0.291	-0.072	-0.085	0.028	0.315	-0.065	-0.081	0.030	0.358
Fasting glucose 6-8 weeks postpartum (n=207)	-0.163	-0.151	-0.014	0.019	-0.140	-0.140	-0.002	0.045	-0.128	-0.131	0.003	0.059
2-hr glucose 6-8 weeks postpartum (n=206)	-0.025	-0.284	0.196	0.717	-0.006	-0.262	0.239	0.930	-0.024	-0.284	0.201	0.736

¹Means the difference in weight at the end of pregnancy and at first GDM visit

²Means the difference between weight at the 6-8 weeks postpartum visit and first GDM visit

EPR means Eating for Physical Rather than Emotional Reasons subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale 2 (IES-2). Higher scores means higher adherence to the EPR subscale

RHSC means Reliance on Hunger and Satiety Cues subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale 2 (IES-2). Higher scores means higher adherence to the RHSC subscale

Model 1: Unadjusted regression estimates

Model 2: Adjusted for age, gestational age smoking, parity and medical treatment during pregnancy

Model 3: Adjusted for weight 6-8 weeks post-partum

PP means postpartum

APPENDIX 2

STUDY 2: Intuitive eating is associated with improved health indicators at 1-year postpartum in women with Gestational Diabetes Mellitus

Dan Yedu Quansah^a, Leah Gilbert^a, Justine Gross^{a,b}, Antje Horsch^{,a,c,†}, Jardena J. Puder^{a,†*}

^aObstetric service, Department Woman-Mother-Child, Lausanne University Hospital,

Lausanne, Switzerland

^bService of Endocrinology, Diabetes and Metabolism, Lausanne University Hospital, Lausanne,

Switzerland

^cInstitute of Higher Education and Research in Healthcare (IUFRS), University of Lausanne,

Switzerland

† Shared last authors

This study is published in J Health Psychology, 22 (2019):1359105319869814

*Corresponding author: Prof. Jardena J. Puder Obstetric service, Department Woman-Mother-Child, Lausanne University Hospital, Lausanne Switzerland Avenue de la Sallaz, CH-1011, Lausanne, Switzerland. Email : Jardena.puder@chuv.ch Tel : +41-21-314 0638. Fax : +41-21 314 8031

Email adresses Dan Yedu Quansah: Dan.quansah@chuv.ch Leah Gilbert: <u>Leah.Gilbert@chuv.ch</u> Justine Gross: Justine.Gross@hospvd.ch Antje Horsch: Antje.Horsch@chuv.ch Jardena J. Puder:Jardena.puder@chuv.ch

Abstract

We evaluated the associations between intuitive eating during and after pregnancy with metabolic health at 1-year postpartum in women with gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) and in high-risk GDM subgroups. One-hundred-and-seventeen women who consented and completed the French intuitive eating questionnaire during and after pregnancy were included. We found an association between intuitive eating during and after pregnancy with lower BMI, weight retention, fasting glucose and HbA1c at 1-year postpartum in women with GDM and in high-risk GDM subgroups with overweight/obese or with prediabetes in the postpartum period. Our results suggest that, intuitive eating could be an effective intervention for weight and glucose control in women with GDM.

Keywords: Intuitive eating; Gestational diabetes mellitus; Body mass index; Glycemic control; Weight retention

Introduction

Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) refers to any degree of glucose intolerance that is diagnosed in the second or third trimester of pregnancy but does not fulfil the criteria of overt diabetes (American Diabetes Association (ADA), 2019). Between 3-20% of pregnant women develop GDM globally (Feig et al., 2018) and 10.9% of all pregnancies in Switzerland are complicated with GDM (Rüetschi et al., 2016). The adverse maternal and fetal outcomes of GDM are well known (Damm et al., 2016; Nehring et al., 2011). Indeed, about 48% of women with GDM are at risk of prediabetes (Huopio et al., 2014) and between 20%–60% of women with GDM develop diabetes 5 to 10 years after delivery (Buchanan et al., 2012). Overall, the conversion of GDM to prediabetes and subsequent development of diabetes is well known and continues to be on the rise, making GDM a significant risk factor of type 2 diabetes (Feig, 2018).

Pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI), excess weight gain during pregnancy and postpartum (PP) weight retention contribute to the risk of prediabetes and diabetes among women with GDM (Kim, 2015; Miao et al., 2017). Weight retention is indeed a prevalent problem: Studies show that, at the early postpartum period, women retain an average of 2–7kg of weight gained during pregnancy, and at least two-thirds of women will still be above their pre-pregnancy weight (Fadzil et al., 2018; Ha et al., 2019; Walker et al., 2005). Given that postpartum weight retention is predictive for GDM recurrence (Ehrlich et al., 2011), prediabetes and future diabetes (Bao et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2014), weight loss in the postpartum period is critical for women with previous GDM. In the Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP) for example, weight loss reduced the risk of future diabetes by 16% for every kilogram of weight lost (Hamman et al., 2006) and an intensive lifestyle intervention also led to 50% reduction in the risk of diabetes (Ratner et al., 2008).

Apart from overweight/obesity, prediabetes in the postpartum period has also been shown to augment the risk of diabetes in women with GDM (Bao et al., 2015; Meron and Grajower, 2017). Focusing on these two high-risk groups (i.e., overweight/obese women and women with prediabetes) is therefore crucial.

Lifestyle interventions are usually recommended as the primary therapeutic strategy in the postpartum period for women with previous GDM to reduce diabetes risk factors (Gilbert et al., 2019). These interventions consist of nutrition and physical activity advice for weight and glucose control to reduce and or prevent the risk of diabetes in these women. Even though lifestyle interventions have achieved some results in women with GDM, recent systematic and meta-analyses have shown that results from lifestyle intervention studies have been unsatisfactory and inconsistent. In a recent Cochrane review of lifestyle intervention trials among women with GDM, three trials included the incidence of type-2 diabetes and prediabetes in the postpartum period, but only one found a difference between the intervention and the control group (Brown et al., 2017). In another recent systematic review and meta-analysis of 15 trials in women with previous GDM, half of the lifestyle interventions led to a reduction of weight and the incidence of diabetes, but effect sizes were small and their sustained effects were inconsistent (Goveia et al., 2018).

There is therefore a need to identify other novel approaches that can help reduce weight gain during pregnancy and weight retention in order to lower the risk of prediabetes and future diabetes in women previously diagnosed with GDM. Compared to studies (Moses et al., 2009; Xu and Ye, 2018) that focused on lifestyle interventions and nutritional advice, such as total energy intake, macronutrient contents of foods, type of carbohydrates, portion sizes and eating frequency, intuitive eating (IE) represents an interesting and different approach to weight loss and glycemic control.

IE is an adaptive eating behavior that deals with the ability to accurately interpret and adhere to instinctive feedback regarding the required amount of food and when to eat (Tylka, 2006). IE correlates with lower weight, BMI and improved glycemic control in the general population (Van Dyke and Drinkwater, 2014; Wheeler et al., 2016). A study that evaluated the relationship between IE and weight in women in the late postpartum period found that IE was associated with weight loss and lower BMI (Leahy et al., 2017). Even though we have earlier demonstrated that, IE is associated with weight and glucose control during pregnancy and in the early postpartum period in women with GDM (Quansah et al., 2019), no study has investigated the potential long-term association between IE during and after pregnancy with weight, weight retention and glycemic control in the general perinatal population nor in women with GDM and their metabolically high-risk subgroups with high BMI or prediabetes. In these high-risk subgroups, the risk of diabetes is higher. To fill this gap, we evaluated the associations between IE during and after pregnancy with pre-pregnancy overweight/obesity or with prediabetes in the postpartum period.

Methods

Participant consent and recruitment

This study is part of an ongoing cohort of women with GDM. We invited pregnant women diagnosed with GDM according to the American Diabetes Association (ADA) and the International Association of the Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups (IADPSG) guidelines (Dorsey et al., 2018; Metzger, 2010) to participate in the GDM cohort at the gestational diabetes clinic at a Swiss University Hospital. We sought for written informed consent before participation in the cohort. The Human Research Ethics Committee of the Canton de Vaud approved the study protocol (326/15).

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Women who were ≥ 18 years, with GDM diagnosis in the second trimester (Metzger et al., 2010) that were followed in our clinic between 2015 and 2018, who understood French or English, consented to participate, and completed the French Intuitive Eating Scale-2 (IES-2) questionnaire at their first visit and at the 1-year visit were included in this study.

Out of a cohort population of 333 participants that consented, we removed participants who did not come for 1-year postpartum appointment visit (N=144) as they did not have valid data for our main questions and hypothesis. Participants with known type 1 diabetes (N= 2), known type 2 diabetes (N= 6), had GDM at \leq 13 weeks (N= 10), had diabetes diagnosed during pregnancy at \leq 20 weeks (N= 8), with HGPO results that were normal (N= 3), with glucose intolerance but no GDM (N= 1) and were participating in a lifestyle intervention study (N=42) who are part of our cohort database were also excluded as they did not meet the inclusion criteria. Overall, 117 women were eligible and thus included in the final analysis. Figure 1 shows the details of how participants in this study were selected.

Assessment of Intuitive eating (IE)

We assessed IE with the French Intuitive Eating Scale-2 (IES-2) due to the language capacities of our population (Camilleri et al., 2015). The French IES-2 is an 18-item validated self-report questionnaire that assesses individuals' tendency to follow their physiological, hunger and satiety in relation to eating. The French IES-2 contains three (3) subscales. These are (1) the Eating for physical rather than emotional reasons (EPR, 8 items) subscale; that assesses how much eating is affected by emotional responses, (2) the Reliance on hunger and satiety cues (RHSC, 6 items) subscale; that evaluates the extent to which individuals are aware and able to trust internal signals rather than relying on external rules/cues, and (3) the Unconditional permission to eat (UPE, 4 items) when hungry subscale that assesses whether an individual

purposefully tries to ignore hunger and satiety signals (Camilleri et al., 2015; Daundasekara et al., 2017). The English IES-2 (23-item questionnaire), however, consists of four subscales. These are the EPR (8 items) subscale, the RHSC (6 items) subscale, the UPE (4 items) and the Body-Food Choice Congruence (BFC-C, 5 items) subscale (Tylka, 2006; Tylka and Van Diest, 2013). Both the French and English IES-2 questionnaires have demonstrated good psychometric properties in pregnant women (Daundasekara et al., 2017). In an earlier study, the Cronbach's alphas (α) for the two subscales were 0.92 and 0.87 for EPR and RHSC respectively, which suggests a good internal reliability among the subscales (Daundasekara et al., 2017). IE has interoceptive abilities that are suggested to determine when and how much to eat, and to accurately perceive and respect one's hunger and satiety cues. Thus, IE tendencies are related to emotional, psychological, and physical well-being (Saunders and Nichols-Lopez, 2018). Details of the IES-2 questionnaire have been previously described (Tylka and Van Diest, 2013).

For the purpose of our study, we removed the UPE subscale (4 items) from the French IES-2. This is because women involved in this study had in general one pre-partum visit with a registered dietician during pregnancy and another one in the early post-partum period (6-8 weeks postpartum). The latter was of short duration and done together with the diabetologist or diabetes educator and focused predominantly on reporting the results of the postpartum oral glucose tolerance testing (oGTT). Women had no further dietician appointment after this visit. Allover, in the general population of our women with gestational diabetes, about 85% see a dietician, but we do not have the exact numbers for the study population. In the general clinic population, reasons for not being able to see a dietician included appointment-scheduling problems or participants visited the GDM clinic at an advanced stage of their pregnancy.
We believe that, discussions during diet counselling could significantly influence participant responses to the UPE subscale questions such as "I try to avoid certain foods high in fat, carbohydrates, or calories". This is because during the one-hour diet counselling during the pregnancy, participants were advised on carbohydrate content of their foods and to avoid or limit certain food like soft drinks, sweet products, added sugar and fruits juice in order to improve their eating habits and glycemic profile. We measured weight, BMI and glycemic control variables before the pre-partum counseling with the dietician. This was to ensure that, diet counselling with a dietician does not influence study outcomes. We then measured the metabolic health outcomes again at 1 year postpartum.

We therefore used the EPR and RHSC subscales of the French IES-2 and, an English translation using the forward-backward translation and cultural adaption method (Wild et al., 2005) made by our research team (with the same 14 items; EPR has 8 items and RHSC has 6 items); they were given to participants who speak French and English, respectively. Women completed the EPR and RHSC subscales of the IES-2 questionnaire during the first GDM visit and at the oneyear postpartum visit by responding to a 5-point Likert scale ranging from one 'strongly disagree' to five 'strongly agree' to each item in both subscales. We then calculated the EPR and RHSC subscale scores as recommended, by dividing the total scores obtained from the sum of 1-5 from each item by the total number of items in each subscale (EPR by 8 and RHSC by 6), leading to a possible subscale score between one and five. Higher scores indicated greater levels of IE. A higher score of the EPR subscale reflects eating as an answer to hunger and a lower score meant eating to cope with emotional distress, whereas a higher score of the RHSC subscale signifies trust in internal cues, and a lower score reflects less ability to regulate food intake.

Assessment of glycemic control variables

All women involved in this study were diagnosed with GDM during pregnancy (at 24-32 weeks) if one of the following criteria were met during a 75g oGTT: fasting venous glucose \geq 5.1 mmol/L, 1-hr glucose \geq 10.0 mmol/L, or 2-hr glucose \geq 8.5 mmol/L, using the IAPDSG guidelines (Metzger, 2010). For the purpose of this analysis, we used the fasting glucose at GDM diagnosis, as women with fasting glucose of \geq 5.1 mmol/L did not have an oGTT. During the first GDM visit after diagnosis, we measured HbA1c using a chemical photometric method (conjugation with boronate; Afinion®). At 1-year PP, patients had a fasting venous glucose and HbA1c measured. The HbA1c was measured using a High Performance Liquid Chromatography method (HPLC) (Jeppsson et al., 2002). Both methods are traceable to the International Federation of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine (IFCC) Reference Method for Measurement of HbA1c (Jeppsson et al., 2002). Prediabetes was diagnosed when a participant's fasting glucose at 1-year postpartum was between 5.6-6.9 mmol/l, or HbA1c at 1-year postpartum was between 5.7- 6.4%.

Anthropometric measures

We measured the height and weight of participants during the first GDM visit. Weight and BMI before pregnancy were taken from participants' medical charts or, if missing, was self-reported; we asked for the weight in the 1-2 months before pregnancy if this information is not available in the participants' medical chat. We measured weight at 1-year postpartum to the nearest 0.1 kg in women wearing light clothes and no shoes with an electronic scale (Seca®) and height at the first GDM visit to the nearest 0.1 cm with a regularly calibrated Seca® height scale. We calculated weight retention as the difference between weight at 1-year postpartum and weight before pregnancy.

We calculated BMI as the ratio of weight in kilograms to the square of height in meters (kg/m2). We defined overweight and obesity as BMI between 25.0-29.9 Kg/m² and \geq 30 kg/m² respectively.

Measurement of other variables

Sociodemographic characteristics of our participants included age, educational level, nationality, employment status, family history of type-2 diabetes, history of GDM, parity, and smoking and alcohol status during pregnancy. These were obtained from the patients' medical charts, which were completed during the first face-to-face visit. We grouped educational level into four categories. These were compulsory school achieved; general and vocational training levels; high school and university education. Nationality consisted of the following five regions: Switzerland; Europe and North America; Africa; Asia and Western pacific; and Latin America. Employment status was categorized as student; employed; housewife/at home; and unemployed. We categorized family history of type-2 diabetes, history of GDM, smoking, and alcohol intake during pregnancy as either 'yes' or 'no'.

Statistical analyses

We performed all analyses with the SPSS software version 25 (IBM Corp., 2017). All descriptive variables were presented as either means (\pm standard deviation) or in percentages (%), where appropriate (Table 1 & 2). Both predictor (EPR and RHSC subscales of the IES-2 questionnaire at first GDM visit and at 1-year postpartum visit) and outcome (BMI, weight retention, HbA1c and fasting glucose at the different time points) variables were normally distributed. The EPR and RHSC subscales showed a moderate correlation of 0.42 (p<0.001) at the first GDM visit and 0.51 (p<0.001) at 1-year postpartum.

We conducted a linear regression analysis to determine the associations between IE at the first GDM visit (longitudinal) and at the 1-year postpartum visit (cross-sectional) with BMI, weight retention, fasting glucose, and HbA1c at 1-year postpartum (Table 3). We adjusted for sociodemographic characteristics that showed statistical significance with at least one of the metabolic health outcome variables (BMI, weight, weight retention, fasting glucose and HbA1c) at 1-year postpartum. Thus, we tested for age, gestational age at the first GDM visit, education level, nationality, employment status, family history of type-2 diabetes, history of GDM, smoking and alcohol intake during pregnancy, parity, and breastfeeding in the early postpartum period (at 6-8 weeks postpartum,). Of these potential confounder variables, age and gestational age showed significance with at least one of the metabolic health outcomes. We therefore adjusted for age and gestational age at the first GDM visit as confounders for all analyses. When the outcome was HbA1c or fasting glucose, we further adjusted for BMI at first GDM visit (Table 3). We did this to see if the relationship was mediated by BMI. We conducted all analyses separately for EPR and RHSC subscales at the first GDM visit and at 1-year postpartum. We also evaluated the associations between the two subscales of IES-2 at the first GDM visit and at 1-year postpartum with metabolic health outcomes in the high-risk GDM subgroups with prediabetes or overweight/obesity and in the respective low-risk subgroups (Tables 4 & 5). In the Supplementary Analyses, we also compared the metabolic health outcomes with the IE scores between the high-risk and low-risk subgroups by performing an ANOVA test (Supplementary Table 1 & 2). Both IE scores at both time points were analyzed using correlation analyses and paired t-tests (between first visit and 1-year postpartum, Supplementary Table 3). All statistical significances were two sided and accepted at p < 0.05.

Results

Table 1 shows the summary of the general characteristics of our study participants (N=117). The mean age, gestational age at the first GDM visit, and gestational age at delivery were 33.21 ± 5.4 years, 28.83 ± 2.87 weeks and 38.8 ± 1.6 weeks, respectively. More than one-third of the study participants were university graduates (38.2%) and 44.8% were of Swiss nationality. About 59% of the participants had a family history of diabetes and only 4.3% had a history of GDM.

Table 2 describes the study variables at the first GDM visit and at 1-year postpartum. The mean pre-pregnancy weight and BMI were 69.46±13.99 kg and 25.82±4.69 kg/m² respectively. At 1year postpartum, these numbers were 72.79 ± 16.22 kg and 27.06 ± 5.54 kg/m², which translates to weight retention of 3.32±7.18 kg. Mean HbA1c was 5.37±0.42% at the first GDM visit and 5.27±0.33% at 1-year postpartum, while fasting glucose at diagnosis was 5.24±0.93 mmol/l and 5.49±0.58 mmol/l at 1-year postpartum. Before pregnancy, 46.2% of women were overweight/obese and this was the same at 1-year postpartum. At 1-year postpartum, 46.1% women had prediabetes. The mean EPR subscale at the first GDM visit was 3.86 and 3.76 at 1year postpartum (p<0.001), and these numbers were 3.53 and 3.42 for the mean RHSC subscales (p<0.001). Correlation between the first GDM visit and 1-year postpartum were 0.42 for the EPR and 0.32 for the RHSC subscales (both p<0.001, see also Supplementary Table 3). Table 3 represents the associations between the two subscales of IES-2 at the first GDM visit and at 1-year postpartum with metabolic health indicators at 1-year postpartum. After adjusting for confounders the EPR subscale at the first GDM visit was associated with lower BMI (p=0.017), fasting glucose (p=0.014) and tended to predict lower HbA1c (p=0.062) at 1-year postpartum. On the other hand, RHSC at the first GDM visit had no association with any of the metabolic health variables at 1-year postpartum (all p>0.2).

However, both EPR and RHSC at 1-year postpartum were associated with lower weight retention (both $p \le 0.037$) and lower BMI (both $p \le 0.012$). The EPR subscale was also associated with lower HbA1c and lower fasting glucose (both p=0.018). When fasting glucose and HbA1c were the outcome variables, we further adjusted for BMI at the first GDM visit as a potential confounder, which led to the attenuation of the observed associations between the two subscales of IES-2 and metabolic parameters (all $p \ge 0.066$).

We also focused on two high-risk GDM subgroups with pre-pregnancy overweight/obese or with prediabetes and their lower-risk counterparts. The Supplementary Table 1 shows that at 1year postpartum all metabolic health indicators, including weight retention, were significantly higher in women with prediabetes (all p≤0.026), whereas women with normal glucose values had significantly higher scores of the EPR (p=0.025). The Supplementary Table 2 shows that all metabolic health indicators at 1 year postpartum except weight retention were significantly higher in women who were overweight/obese (all p≤0.042) and they had significant higher scores of the EPR subscale (p=0.040). In the subgroup of women with prediabetes (Table 4), EPR and RHSC at the first GDM visit predicted lower fasting glucose at 1-year postpartum (both p≤0.024). At 1-year postpartum, both EPR and RHSC were associated with lower weight retention (both p≤0.034) and BMI (both p≤0.005), while no associations were observed in the women with normal glucose tolerance (all p ≥0.10).

In the subgroup of women with overweight/obese (Table 5), EPR at the first GDM visit predicted lower fasting glucose at 1-year postpartum (p=0.041), whereas the RHSC subscale showed no significance with any of the metabolic variables. At 1-year postpartum, both EPR and RHSC subscales were associated with lower weight retention (both p \leq 0.009) and fasting glucose (both p=0.030). The EPR was also associated with lower BMI (p<0.001).

We found no associations between the two subscales of IES-2 and metabolic health in the subgroup of women with normal weight. In both high-risk subgroups, the associations of IES-2 subscales with fasting glucose were independent of BMI.

Discussion

To our knowledge, no previous study has looked at the relationship between intuitive eating and metabolic health during pregnancy up to the 1-year postpartum period. In the context of identifying novel approaches to prevent weight retention and diabetes in women after GDM, we evaluated the longitudinal and cross-sectional associations between the two subscales of the French intuitive eating questionnaire (the EPR and RHSC subscales) during and after pregnancy with weight retention, BMI, fasting glucose, and HbA1c at 1-year postpartum in women with GDM. This was also studied in two high-risk GDM subgroups, those with prediabetes (46.1%) and those with overweight/obese status (46.2%). IE at the first GDM visit and at 1-year postpartum visit was associated with better metabolic health at 1-year postpartum in all women with GDM and in the two high-risk subgroups. Specifically, the longitudinal analyses revealed that the EPR subscale at the first GDM visit predicted lower postpartum BMI and fasting glucose. In the cross-sectional analyses, the EPR and RHSC subscales at 1-year postpartum visit were associated with lower BMI and lower weight retention, while the EPR subscale was additionally associated with lower fasting glucose and HbA1c. The (crosssectional and longitudinal) associations between IE and improved metabolic health were also observed in both GDM high-risk subgroups (those with overweight/obese and those with prediabetes), but not in the respective low-risk subgroups.

In women with GDM, there is a tight relationship between weight gain during pregnancy, weight retention, and diabetes in the postpartum period (Mamun et al., 2013; Bao et al., 2015; Institute of Medicine (IOM), 2009; Nehring et al., 2011).

Increased weight retention is related to increased insulin resistance, subsequent dysfunction of the beta cells, and development of glucose intolerance (Moyce and Dolinsky, 2018). This is partly attributed to the subtle changes in appetite regulatory mechanisms associated with weight gain and weight retention (Ciampolini et al., 2010; Perry and Wang, 2012). Alterations in leptin (a hormone released from fat cells in adipose tissue altering food intake and control energy expenditure over the long term) signaling also act to increase the risk of diabetes in these women (Moyce and Dolinsky, 2018; Oh et al., 2018). It is therefore of utmost importance to decrease weight retention and to improve glucose control in order to reduce diabetes risk in this population. Traditional lifestyle interventions that are used to manage weight and glucose control and to prevent the progression to diabetes in the postpartum period have, however, been unsatisfactory and their sustained effects are controversial (Brown et al., 2017; Michel et al., 2018). In order to reduce weight retention and improve glycemic control in women with GDM, eating intuitively could help to exert less cognitive control over eating and rely more on satiety cues, irrespective of current innate satiety cues, and help to eat in response to hunger and satiety signals. We thus explored the relationship between IE and metabolic health in women with GDM.

In our longitudinal analyses, we found that the EPR subscale at the first GDM visit was associated with lower BMI and fasting glucose at 1-year postpartum. These findings are in concordance with a previous study conducted in a general non-pregnant population where the EPR subscale was associated with lower weight gain and lower fasting glucose (39). The EPR subscale assesses the extent to which eating is affected by emotion (Tylka, 2006), and women with GDM who engage in eating habits or behaviors driven by emotion rather than physical symptoms of hunger during and after pregnancy may have more problems with weight loss and glucose control in the postpartum period (Leahy et al., 2017).

Adhering to IE prevents or reduces eating in response to negative emotional states, such as anxiety, depression, boredom, or loneliness that often leads to overeating, weight retention, higher BMI, and poor glucose control in women with GDM (Lauzon-Guillain et al., 2006). Compared to a study that found a cross-sectional association between the EPR subscale with lower levels of HbA1c in a population with type-1 diabetes, our results found a weak longitudinal relationship between this subscale and HbA1c (p=0.06). In addition to frequent (emotional) overeating, loss of sleep (Dashti et al., 2015) in the postpartum period might influence weight and glucose metabolism and confound some of these findings (Kim et al., 2015; St-Onge, 2017). Other factors, such as breastfeeding in the postpartum period reduce glucose levels and may influence HbA1c levels, and also confound some of the analyses (Gunderson et al., 2012). Indeed, about 87% of women in our sample reported they were breastfeeding during the early postpartum period, but breastfeeding was not a significant confounder in our analyses.

We found no longitudinal relationship between the RHSC subscales at the first GDM visit with any of the metabolic health variables studied at 1 year postpartum. This lack of association between RHSC and the metabolic health variables such as BMI, weight retention, fasting glucose, and HbA1c in our longitudinal analyses suggests that in the long-term, eating for physical rather than emotional reasons overshadows the potential importance of relying on one's hunger and satiety signals to regulate food intake in this sample. Therefore, it was not surprising that the mean difference between the scores of the EPR subscale during and after pregnancy was around 10% higher than that of the RHSC subscale.

In our cross-sectional analyses however, IE at the 1-year postpartum visit was associated with several metabolic health parameters. Thus, the EPR subscale was associated with lower weight retention, BMI, fasting glucose and HbA1c, while the RHSC subscale was associated with lower weight retention and BMI.

Either other parameters interfere less in the cross-sectional analyses, or the nature of IE in the postpartum in general relates better to metabolic health compared to the pregnancy period and may account for these associations. Thus, aiming to improve IE in pregnancy and the ability to keep this practice stable and higher in the postpartum period might help to improve overeating and metabolic health in these women.

Despite their future diabetes risk, most women with GDM have normal glucose values after delivery (Retnakaran et al., 2010), but up to 50% have prediabetes within 12 months as observed in our sample and that of another study (Huopio et al., 2014). It is important to prevent further glucose intolerance in these GDM subgroups with prediabetes and overweight/obese who are at higher risk of progressing to diabetes (Feig, 2018). In the subgroup of women with prediabetes or with overweight/obese, we found that IE was associated with fasting glucose in the longitudinal analyses and with weight retention, BMI and/or fasting glucose in the crosssectional analysis. This results show that special focus should be placed on these women for follow-up, but also to test early interventions to improve IE. This is particularly important because, in women with GDM and in high-risk GDM subgroups, each kilogram of weight lost in the postpartum period is associated with a 16% decrease in the risk of diabetes (Bao et al., 2015; Hamman et al., 2006; Meron and Grajower, 2017). The EPR and RHSC subscales moderately correlated with each other during the first GDM visit (r=0.41) and at 1-year postpartum (r=0.51). The mean score of the EPR subscale was about 10% higher than the mean score of the RHSC subscale. Our results are consistent with another study involving a healthy non-pregnant population (correlation between EPR and RHSC subscale: r=0.35 and 0.37 in women and men respectively) (Tylka and Van Diest, 2013). Although these subscales correlate with each other, only 20% of the variability of one subscale seemed to be explained by the other and thus they cover different aspects of IE.

Our study has several strengths. Clinically, our results if confirmed by an intervention trial could help address the issue of postpartum weight retention in women with GDM. It could also help augment the management and prevention of diabetes in women with GDM and in the high-risk subgroups with prediabetes or overweight/obese, especially when results from several existing lifestyle interventions still remain controversial (Gilbert et al., 2019) and inconsistent (Brown et al., 2017; Goveia P et al., 2018; Michel et al., 2018). We studied the novel relationship between IE with BMI, weight retention and glycemic control during pregnancy and in the postpartum period up to 1 year postpartum in a longitudinal cohort of women with GDM. We also measured IE with a validated tool that has shown to have construct validity and reliability among pregnant women (Camilleri et al., 2015, Daundasekara et al., 2017).

A limitation of this study is the relatively small sample size, which may limit our ability to generalize our findings. Furthermore, the nature of the observational study design does not allow the modification of IE scores, reduces the control over external, confounding variables, although we did test and adjust for potential significant confounders in our regression models, as described in the statistics section above. The inability to include the UPE subscale due to the fact that, discussions during diet counselling could significantly influence participant responses to the UPE subscale may be a source of limitation since the effect of an overall IES-2 subscale would have been interesting. Other factors, such as the intention to lose weight in the postpartum period and a variety of other behavioral or socioeconomic variables that could influence weight loss or impact on metabolic health were not studied. Even though the IES-2 has been validated both in the general and pregnant population, it is not validated in women with GDM and could be a limitation of our study. It is also important to indicate that the IES-2 questionnaire is self-reported, and therefore the likelihood of over- or under-reporting may influence our analyses.

We obtained weight before pregnancy from patients' medical chart when available; otherwise, we relied on self-reported pre-pregnancy weight, which may be a limitation. Further research that utilizes IE as an intervention to reduce weight retention and improve glucose control in a larger population during pregnancy and in the postpartum period is needed to determine the causality of these associations in women in general and specifically those with GDM.

Conclusions

We found an association between IE during and after pregnancy with lower BMI and weight retention at 1-year postpartum, both in cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses. In addition, eating for physical rather than emotional reasons was associated with lower fasting glucose and HbA1c in this cohort of women with GDM. High-risk GDM subgroups with prediabetes or overweight/obese each represented almost 50% of the population. In these high-risk groups, IE was associated with lower BMI, weight retention, and fasting glucose. Our results suggest that higher sustenance of IE behavior could represent an interesting and novel approach for reduced BMI, weight retention, and improved glucose control in women with GDM, and especially in high-risk subgroups. IE could therefore be a future target for screening and a potential intervention in women with GDM.

Acknowledgements

Our sincere appreciation goes to our study participants for their time and participation. We would also like to thank Dominique Stulz and Isabelle Cohen-Salmon who helped with data collection and Fady Fares for his contribution towards the management of the cohort database. We also thank Jean-Benoit Rossel for his comment on our regression models.

Funding

This study is a pilot of a project grant by the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNF 32003B_176119). The Swiss Federal Commission for Scholarships (FCS) provided the funds for the Ph.D. studies of the first author, DYQ. The cohort database received an unrestricted educational grant from Novo Nordisk. FCS and Novo Nordisk had no role regarding the content of the original data or analyses or in the drafting of this manuscript.

Conflict of interest

Authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Author contribution

DYQ, JG and JP designed the study. DYQ, extracted the data, performed all the analysis and wrote the draft manuscript under the supervision of JP. JG, LG, AH and JP reviewed the manuscript. All authors revised and accepted the manuscript for submission. JP had the idea of the cohort and co-supervised all the work with AH.

References

- Al Mamun A, Mannan M, O'Callaghan MJ, et al. (2013) Association between gestational weight gain and postpartum diabetes: Evidence from a community based large cohort study. PLoS ONE 8(12): 1–9. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0075679.
- American Diabetes Association (ADA) (2019) Standards of Medical care in Diabetes-2019. Diabetes Care 42. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2337/dc19-SINT01.
- Bao W, Yeung E, Tobias DK et al. (2015) Long-term risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus in relation to BMI and weight change among women with a history of gestational diabetes mellitus: a prospective cohort study. Diabetologia. 58(6): 1212–1219.
- Bao W, Yeung E, Tobias DK, et al. (2015) Long-term risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus in relation to BMI and weight change among women with a history of gestational diabetes mellitus: a prospective cohort study. Diabetologia 58: 1212–1219. DOI: 10.1007/s00125-015-3537-4.
- Brown J, Alwan NA, West J, et al. (2017) Lifestyle interventions for the treatment of women with gestational diabetes (Review). Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 5(5): CD011970.
- Camilleri GM, Méjean C, Bellisle F, et al. (2015a) Cross-cultural validity of the Intuitive Eating Scale-2. Psychometric evaluation in a sample of the general French population. Appetite. DOI: 10.1016/j.appet.2014.09.009.
- Camilleri GM, Méjean C, Bellisle F, et al. (2015b) Cross-cultural validity of the Intuitive Eating Scale-2. Psychometric evaluation in a sample of the general French population. Appetite 84. Elsevier Ltd: 34–42. DOI: 10.1016/j.appet.2014.09.009.
- Ciampolini M, Lovell-Smith D and Sifone M (2010) Sustained self-regulation of energy intake. Loss of weight in overweight subjects. Maintenance of weight in normal-weight subjects. Nutrition and Metabolism. DOI: 10.1186/1743-7075-7-4.

- Damm P, Houshmand-Oeregaard A, Kelstrup L, et al. (2016) Gestational diabetes mellitus and long-term consequences for mother and offspring: a view from Denmark. Diabetologia 59(7). Diabetologia: 1396–1399. DOI: 10.1007/s00125-016-3985-5.
- Dashti HS, Scheer FA, Jacques PF, et al. (2015) Short Sleep Duration and Dietary Intake: Epidemiologic Evidence, Mechanisms, and Health Implications. Advances in Nutrition. DOI: 10.3945/an.115.008623.
- Daundasekara SS, Beasley AD, O'Connor DP, et al. (2017) Validation of the intuitive Eating Scale for pregnant women. Appetite 112. Elsevier Ltd: 201–209. DOI: 10.1016/j.appet.2017.02.001.
- De Lauzon-Guillain B, Basdevant A, Romon M, et al. (2006) Is restrained eating a risk factor for weight gain in a general population? American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. DOI: 10.1093/ajcn/83.1.132.
- Dorsey JL, Becker MH and Al. E (2018) 6. Glycemic Targets: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes—2018. Diabetes Care 41(Supplement 1): S55–S64. DOI: 10.2337/dc18-S006.
- Ehrlich SF, Hedderson MM, Feng J et al. (2011) Change in body mass index between pregnancies and the risk of gestational diabetes in a second pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol. 117(6): 1323–1330.
- Fadzil F, Shamsuddin K, Wan Puteh SE, et al. (2018) Predictors of postpartum weight retention among urban Malaysian mothers: A prospective cohort study. Obesity Research and Clinical Practice 12(6). Asia Oceania Assoc. for the Study of Obesity: 493–499. DOI: 10.1016/j.orcp.2018.06.003.
- Feig DS (2018) Type 2 diabetes after gestational diabetes: Can the progression be prevented? Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews 34(4): e2988. DOI: 10.1002/dmrr.2988.

- Feig DS, Berger H, Donovan L, et al. (2018) Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 42. Elsevier Inc.: S255– S282. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcjd.2017.10.038.
- Gilbert L, Gross J, Lanzi S, et al. (2019) How diet, physical activity and psychosocial well-being interact in women with gestational diabetes mellitus: an integrative review.
 BMC pregnancy and childbirth. DOI: 10.1186/s12884-019-2185-y.
- Goveia P C-MW, Santos DP, Lopes GW MR, Duncan BB ZP and, et al. (2018) Lifestyle Intervention for the Prevention of Diabetes in Women With Previous Gestational Diabetes Mellitus: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front. Endocrinol 9(583). DOI: doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00583.
- Gunderson EP, Hedderson MM, Chiang V, et al. (2012) Lactation intensity and postpartum maternal glucose tolerance and insulin resistance in women with recent GDM: The SWIFT cohort. Diabetes Care. DOI: 10.2337/dc11-1409.
- Ha AVV, Zhao Y, Pham NM, et al. (2019) Postpartum weight retention in relation to gestational weight gain and pre-pregnancy body mass index: A prospective cohort study in Vietnam. Obesity Research and Clinical Practice 13(2). Asia Oceania Assoc. for the Study of Obesity: 143–149. DOI: 10.1016/j.orcp.2019.02.001.
- Hamman RF, Wing RR, Edelstein SL, et al. (2006) Effect of Weight Loss With Lifestyle Intervention on Risk of Diabetes. Diabetes Care 29(9): 2102–2107.
- Hanna Huopio, Heidi Hakkarainen, Mirja Pääkkönen, Teemu Kuulasmaa, Raimo Voutilainen1, Seppo Heinonen HC (2014) Long-term changes in glucose metabolism after gestational diabetes: a double cohort study. BMC pregnancy and childbirth 14(1): 296. DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-14-296.
- IBM Corp. (2017) IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows. 25.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.

- Institute of Medicine (IOM) (2009) Weight gain during pregnancy: reexamining the guidelines. Committee to Reexamine IOM Pregnancy Weight Guidelines. Washington, DC.
- Jeppsson J-O, Kobold U, Barr J, et al. (2002) Approved IFCC Reference Method for the Measurement of HbA1c in Human Blood. Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine 40(1). DOI: 10.1515/CCLM.2002.016.
- Kim C (2015) Maternal outcomes and follow-up after gestational diabetes mellitus.
 Diabet Med. 31(3): 292–301. DOI: 10.1111/dme.12382.Maternal.
- Kim TW, Jeong J-H and Hong S-C (2015) The Impact of Sleep and Circadian Disturbance on Hormones and Metabolism. International Journal of Endocrinology. DOI: 10.1155/2015/591729.
- Leahy K, Berlin KS, Banks GG, et al. (2017) The Relationship Between Intuitive Eating and Postpartum Weight Loss. Maternal and Child Health Journal 21(8). Springer US: 1591–1597. DOI: 10.1007/s10995-017-2281-4.
- Liu H, Zhang C, Zhang S et al. (2014) Prepregnancy body mass index and weight change on postpartum diabetes risk among gestational diabetes women. Obesity (Silver Spring). 22(6): 1560–1567.
- Meron MK and Grajower MM (2017) Preventing progression from gestational diabetes mellitus to diabetes : A thought - filled review. Diabetes Metab Res Rev 33: 1–5. DOI: 10.1002/dmrr.2909.
- Metzger BE, Gabbe SG, Persson B, et al. International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups recommendations on the diagnosis and classification of hyperglycemia in pregnancy. Diabetes Care 2010;33:676–682
- Miao M, Dai M, Zhang Y, et al. (2017) Influence of maternal overweight, obesity and gestational weight gain on the perinatal outcomes in women with gestational diabetes

mellitus. Scientific Reports 7(1). Springer US: 1–8. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-00441z.

- Michel S, Raab R, Drabsch T, et al. (2018) Do lifestyle interventions during pregnancy have the potential to reduce long-term postpartum weight retention? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Obesity Reviews (August): 1–16. DOI: 10.1111/obr.12809.
- Moses RG, Barker M, Winter M, et al. (2009) Can a low-glycemic index diet reduce the need for insulin in gestational diabetes mellitus? A randomized trial. Diabetes Care. DOI: 10.2337/dc09-0007.
- Moyce BL and Dolinsky VW (2018) Maternal β-Cell Adaptations in Pregnancy and Placental Signalling: Implications for Gestational Diabetes. International journal of molecular sciences 19(11). DOI: 10.3390/ijms19113467.
- Nehring I, Schmoll S, Beyerlein A, et al. (2011) Gestational weight gain and long-term postpartum weight retention: A meta-analysis. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. DOI: 10.3945/ajcn.111.015289.
- Oh TJ, Kim YG, Kwak SH, Lim S, et al. (2018) Oral Glucose Tolerance Testing Allows Better Prediction of Diabetes in Women with a History of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. Diabetes & Metabolism Journal 42: 1–8. DOI: 10.4093/dmj.2018.0086.
- Perry B and Wang Y (2012) Appetite regulation and weight control: The role of gut hormones. Nutrition and Diabetes 2(JANUARY). Nature Publishing Group: e26-7. DOI: 10.1038/nutd.2011.21.
- Quansah DY, Gross J, Gilbert L, et al. (2019) Intuitive eating is associated with weight and glucose control during pregnancy and in the early postpartum period in women with gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM): A clinical cohort study. Eating Behaviors 34(February). Elsevier: 101304. DOI: 10.1016/j.eatbeh.2019.101304.

- Retnakaran R, Qi Y, Connelly PW, et al. (2010) Risk of early progression to prediabetes or diabetes in women with recent gestational dysglycaemia but normal glucose tolerance at 3-month postpartum. Clinical Endocrinology 73(4): 476–483. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2010.03834.x.
- Ryser Ruetschi J, Jornayvaz FR, Rivest R, Huhn EA, Irion O BM (2016) Fasting glycaemia to simplify screening for gestational diabetes. BJOG 123: 2219–2222. DOI: 10.1111/1471-0528.13857.
- Saunders JF, Nichols-Lopez KA FL (2018) Psychometric properties of the intuitive eating scale-2 (IES-2) in a culturally diverse Hispanic American sample. Eat Behav 28: 1–7.
- St-Onge MP (2017) Sleep–obesity relation: underlying mechanisms and consequences for treatment. Obesity Reviews. DOI: 10.1111/obr.12499.
- Thomas A. Buchanan, Anny H. Xiang KAP (2012) Gestational Diabetes Mellitus: Risks and Management during and after Pregnancy. Nat Rev Endocrinol 8(11): 353–357.
 DOI: 10.1038/nrendo.2012.96.Gestational.
- Tylka TL (2006) Development and psychometric evaluation of a measure of intuitive eating. Journal of Counseling Psychology. DOI: 10.1037/0022-0167.53.2.226.
- Tylka TL and Kroon Van Diest AM (2013a) The Intuitive Eating Scale-2: Item refinement and psychometric evaluation with college women and men. Journal of Counseling Psychology. DOI: 10.1037/a0030893.
- Tylka TL and Kroon Van Diest AM (2013b) The Intuitive Eating Scale-2: Item refinement and psychometric evaluation with college women and men. Journal of Counseling Psychology 60(1): 137–153. DOI: 10.1037/a0030893.

- Van Dyke N and Drinkwater EJ (2014) Review Article Relationships between intuitive eating and health indicators: Literature review. Public Health Nutrition 17(8): 1757–1766. DOI: 10.1017/S1368980013002139.
- Walker LO, Sterling BS TG (2005) Retention of pregnancy-related weight in the early postpartum period: implications for women's health services. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. 34(4): 418–427.
- Wheeler BJ, Lawrence J, Chae M, et al. (2016) Intuitive eating is associated with glycaemic control in adolescents with type I diabetes mellitus. Appetite 96. Academic Press: 160–165. DOI: 10.1016/J.APPET.2015.09.016.
- Wild D, Grove A, Martin M, et al. (2005) Principles of good practice for the translation and cultural adaptation process for patient-reported outcomes (PRO) measures: Report of the ISPOR Task Force for Translation and Cultural Adaptation. Value in Health. DOI: 10.1111/j.1524-4733.2005.04054.x.
- Xu J and Ye S (2018) Influence of low-glycemic index diet for gestational diabetes: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. The Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine. DOI: 10.1080/14767058.2018.1497595.

STUDY 2 Tables	and Captions
----------------	--------------

[Table 1] General characteristics of study participants

Variable	Mean	SD	Frequency	Percent (%)
Age (yr.) (N=117)	33.21	5.37	. .	
Gestational age at the first GDM visit (N=117)	28.83	2.82		
Education level (N=89)				
Compulsory school achieved			15	16.9
High school			13	14.6
General and vocational education			27	30.3
University			34	38.2
Nationality (N=116)				
Swiss			52	44.8
Europe + North America			37	31.9
Asia + Western pacific			6	5.2
Africa			20	17.2
Latin America			1	0.9
Employment status (N=109)				
Student			1	0.9
Professional worker			82	75.2
Housewife			13	11.9
Unemployed			13	11.9
Family history of diabetes (N=117)				
1st degree ¹			41	35.0
2nd degree ²			28	23.9
No			48	41.0
History of previous GDM (N=117)				
No			112	95.7
Yes			5	4.3
Smoking status during pregnancy (N=117)				
Yes			22	18.8
No			95	81.2
Alcohol intake during pregnancy (N=117)				
Yes			6	5.1
No			111	94.9
Parity (N=117)*				
0			68	58.1
1			36	30.8
2			11	9.4
≥3			2	1.7
Breastfeeding (N=117) ³				
Yes			102	87.2
No			15	12.8

 1 1st degree means 1 degree of relationship of the participant (at least 50% of genetic link, which included mother, father, brother, sister, daughter, son)

²2nd degree means 2nd degree of kinship of the participant (at least 25% of genetic link that included grandparents, grandchildren, nephews, niece, half-brother, half-sister)

³At 6-8 weeks postpartum

*10.2% of women who were multiparous had history of previous GDM

All results are frequency and percentage unless otherwise stated

GDM means gestational diabetes mellitus

Variable	Mean	SD
First GDM visit		
Pre-pregnancy weight (kg) ¹	69.46	13.99
Pre-pregnancy BMI $(Kg/m^2)^2$	25.82	4.69
Weight at the first GDM visit (kg)	80.26	14.55
BMI at the first GDM visit (Kg/m ²)	29.87	4.89
HbA1c at the first GDM visit (%)	5.37	0.42
Fasting glucose at GDM diagnosis (mmol/l)	5.24	0.93
EPR at the first GDM visit	3.86	0.94
RHSC at the first GDM visit	3.53	0.89
1-year postpartum		
Weight at 1-yr postpartum (kg)	72.79	16.22
Δ Weight retention (kg) ³	3.32	7.18
BMI at 1-yr postpartum (kg/m ²)	27.06	5.54
Waist circumference at 1-yr postpartum (cm)	88.82	11.99
HbA1c at 1-yr postpartum (%)	5.27	0.33
Fasting glucose at 1-yr postpartum (mmol/l) ⁴	5.49	0.58
EPR at 1-yr postpartum	3.76	0.97
RHSC at 1-yr postpartum	3.42	0.94

[Table 2] Mean and standard deviations of study variables (N=117)

¹Data reported at the first GDM visit or taken from the medical charts

²Body mass index before pregnancy; data reported at the first GDM visit or taken from the medical charts ³Weight retention means the difference in weight at 1-yr postpartum and pre-pregnancy weight

⁴N=116; one missing

GDM means gestational diabetes mellitus

HbA1c means glycated hemoglobin

BMI means body mass index

EPR means Eating for Physical Rather than Emotional Reasons subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2) RHSC means Reliance on Hunger and Satiety Cues subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2)

	Regression				
Variable	coefficient	95%	6 CI	P-value ^a	P-value ^b
IES-2 at the first GDM visit (longitudinal)					
EPR at the first GDM visit					
Metabolic health at 1-yr pp					
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	-0.087	-2.026	0.730	0.350	
BMI (kg/m^2)	-0.219	-2.281	-0.151	0.017	
HbA1c (%)	-0.171	-0.119	0.008	0.062	0.137
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.229	-0.251	-0.026	0.014	0.068
RHSC at the first GDM visit	_				
Metabolic health at 1-yr pp					
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	0.078	-0.815	2.084	0.400	
BMI (kg/m^2)	-0.090	-1.637	0.645	0.332	
HbA1c (%)	0.044	-0.048	0.086	0.634	0.327
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.104	-0.184	0.058	0.272	0.458
IES-2 at 1-yr pp (cross-sectional)					
EPR at 1-yr pp					
Metabolic health at 1-yr pp					
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	-0.230	-2.976	-0.370	0.012	
BMI (kg/m^2)	-0.337	-2.825	-0.829	<0.001	
HbA1c (%)	-0.216	-0.129	-0.008	0.018	0.066
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.222	-0.236	-0.018	0.018	0.237
RHSC at 1-yr pp					
Metabolic health at 1-yr pp					
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	-0.193	-2.847	-0.083	0.037	
BMI (kg/m^2)	-0.243	-2.469	-0.313	0.012	
HbA1c (%)	-0.095	-0.098	0.032	0.311	0.547
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.194	-0.230	0.002	0.042	0.208

[Table 3] Associations between the two subscales of IES-2 at the first GDM visit and at 1year postpartum and metabolic health at 1-year postpartum

¹means the difference in weight at 1-yr postpartum and pre-pregnancy weight EPR means Eating for Physical Rather than Emotional Reasons subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2)

RHSC means Reliance on Hunger and Satiety Cues subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2)

PP means postpartum

P-value^a: adjusted for age and gestational age at the first GDM visit

P-value^b: adjusted for age and gestational age and BMI at the first GDM visit



Fig 1. Flow chart describing how the study participants were selected. Removed participants did not meet the inclusion criteria (see methods section).

[Table 4] Associations between the two subscales of IES-2 at first GDM visit and at one-year postpartum visit with metabolic health at one year postpartum stratified by glucose tolerance ____

	Prediabetes (n=54)				Normal (n=63)				
	Regression					Regression			
Variable	coefficient	95%	6 CI	P-value ^a	P-value ^b	coefficient	95%	6 CI	P-value
IES-2 at first GDM visit									
(longitudinal)*									
EPR at the first GDM visit									
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	-0.098	-2.598	1.239	0.480		-0.052	-2.461	1.628	0.685
BMI (kg/m^2)	-0.169	-2.415	0.576	0.223		-0.214	-2.748	0.213	0.092
HbA1c (%)	-0.173	-0.158	0.036	0.211	0.189	-0.076	-0.095	0.051	0.553
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.437	-0.303	-0.063	0.001	0.004	-0.029	-0.106	0.084	0.820
RHSC at the first GDM visit									
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	-0.090	-2.459	1.254	0.518		0.294	0.453	4.959	0.076
BMI (kg/m^2)	-0.075	-1.857	1.068	0.591		-0.082	-2.300	1.178	0.521
HbA1c (%)	0.043	-0.080	0.109	0.760	0.751	0.060	-0.064	0.104	0.641
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.308	-0.247	-0.004	0.024	0.025	0.101	-0.066	0.152	0.432
IES-2 at 1-year pp (cross-sectional)									
EPR at 1-yr pp									
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	-0.288	-3.572	-0.142	0.034		-0.114	-3.111	1.184	0.373
BMI (kg/m^2)	-0.384	-3.248	-0.645	0.004		-0.180	-2.698	0.450	0.158
HbA1c (%)	-1.582	-0.159	0.019	0.120	0.125	-0.001	-0.077	0.077	0.995
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.204	-0.207	0.031	0.142	0.765	0.083	-0.067	0.132	0.515
RHSC at 1-yr pp									
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	-0.394	-4.388	-0.935	0.003		-0.030	-2.361	1.861	0.814
BMI (kg/m^2)	-0.378	-3.376	-0.639	0.005		-0.047	-1.851	1.272	0.712
HbA1c (%)	-0.130	-0.139	0.050	0.349	0.253	0.157	-0.028	0.121	0.219
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.137	-0.190	0.065	0.329	0.842	-0.043	-0.114	0.082	0.740

*for the fasting glucose, this corresponds to the time point of the GDM diagnosis before the first GDM visit

¹means the difference in weight at 1-yr postpartum and pre-pregnancy weight EPR means Eating for Physical Rather than Emotional Reasons subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2)

RHSC means Reliance on Hunger and Satiety Cues subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2)

P-value^a: Adjusted for age and gestational age at the first GDM visit

P-value^b: Adjusted for age, gestational age and BMI at the first GDM visit

PP means postpartum

	Obese/overweight (n=54)					Normal weight (n=63)			
Variable	Regression					Regression			
	coefficient	95%	6 CI	P-value ^a	P-value ^b	coefficient	95%	5 CI	P-value
IES-2 at first GDM visit									
(longitudinal)*									
EPR at the first GDM visit									
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	-0.111	-3.466	1.475	0.422		0.026	-1.281	1.567	0.842
BMI (kg/m^2)	-0.132	-1.779	0.643	0.351		-0.144	-1.183	0.304	0.241
HbA1c (%)	-0.195	-0.157	0.037	0.165	0.169	-0.076	-0.112	0.061	0.553
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.288	-0.337	0.003	0.041	0.043	-0.083	-0.191	0.098	0.522
RHSC at the first GDM visit									
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	0.176	-0.924	4.241	0.203		0.054	-1.188	1.819	0.676
BMI (kg/m^2)	0.213	-0.319	2.219	0.137		-0.073	-1.028	0.556	0.554
HbA1c (%)	-0.010	-0.108	0.101	0.967	0.963	0.194	-0.020	0.160	0.127
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.111	-0.260	0.111	0.419	0.424	0.039	-0.130	0.176	0.765
IES-2 at 1-year pp (Cross-sectional)									
EPR at 1-yr									
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	-0.347	-5.152	-0.562	0.009		0.006	-1.349	1.409	0.965
BMI (kg/m^2)	-0.430	-2.873	-0.735	<0.001		-0.098	-1.019	0.442	0.432
HbA1c (%)	-0.177	-0.156	0.034	0.201	0.233	-0.155	-0.134	0.032	0.225
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.301	-0.345	-0.015	0.030	0.025	0.001	-0.140	0.140	0.997
RHSC at 1-yr									
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹	-0.405	-6.529	-1.494	0.002		0.077	-0.891	1.656	0.550
BMI (kg/m^2)	-0.245	-2.467	-1.370	0.780		-0.120	-1.036	0.371	0.348
HbA1c (%)	-0.135	-0.162	0.055	0.329	0.299	0.074	-0.055	0.100	0.564
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	-0.302	-0.395	-0.021	0.030	0.032	0.040	-0.110	0.151	0.755

[Table 5] Associations between the two subscales of IES-2 and metabolic health at one year postpartum stratified by BMI category

*for the fasting glucose, this corresponds to the time point of the GDM diagnosis before the first GDM visit

¹means the difference in weight at 1-yr postpartum and pre-pregnancy weight

EPR means Eating for Physical Rather than Emotional Reasons subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2)

RHSC means Reliance on Hunger and Satiety Cues subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2)

P-value^a: Adjusted for age and gestational age at the first GDM visit

P-value^b: Adjusted for age, gestational age, and BMI at the first GDM visit

PP means postpartum

Supplementary tables

[Table	1] 1-year	postpartum	metabolic	health	indicators	and]	IE scores	accord	ing to	glucose
tolerand	ce									

Variable	Ν	Mean	SD	P-value*
Weight at 1-year pp (kg)				
Normal	63	69.15	15.07	0.008
Prediabetes	54	77.03	16.62	
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹				
Normal	63	1.96	7.22	0.026
Prediabetes	54	4.92	6.86	
BMI (kg/m^2)				
Normal	63	25.72	5.35	0.004
Prediabetes	54	28.63	5.40	
HbA1c (%)				
Normal	63	5.14	0.25	<0.001
Prediabetes	54	5.41	0.34	
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)				
Normal	63	5.10	0.33	<0.001
Prediabetes	54	5.96	0.46	
EPR				
Normal	63	3.95	0.85	0.025
Prediabetes	54	3.55	1.06	
RHSC				
Normal	63	3.53	0.87	0.171
Prediabetes	54	3.29	1.01	

¹means the difference in weight at 1-yr postpartum and pre-pregnancy weight

*P-value from ANOVA test

GDM means gestational diabetes mellitus

HbA1c means glycated hemoglobin BMI means body mass index EPR means Eating for Physical Rather than Emotional Reasons subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2)

RHSC means Reliance on Hunger and Satiety Cues subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2)

PP means postpartum

Variable	Ν	Mean	SD	P-value*
Weight at 1-year pp (kg)				
Normal	63	61.79	7.70	<0.001
OW/OB	54	85.61	13.98	
Δ Weight retention (kg) ¹				
Normal	63	2.13	4.78	0.053
OW/OB	54	4.71	9.08	
BMI (kg/m^2)				
Normal	63	23.11	2.61	<0.001
OW/OB	54	31.67	4.37	
HbA1c (%)				
Normal	63	5.21	0.29	0.042
OW/OB	54	5.33	0.36	
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)				
Normal	63	5.34	0.48	0.002
OW/OB	53	5.67	0.64	
EPR				
Normal	63	3.94	0.88	0.040
OW/OB	54	3.57	1.04	
RHSC				
Normal	63	3.55	0.95	0.110
OW/OB	54	3.27	0.91	

[Table 2] 1-year postpartum metabolic health indicators and IE scores according to weight status/category

¹means the difference in weight at 1-yr postpartum and pre-pregnancy weight

*P-value from ANOVA test

GDM means gestational diabetes mellitus

HbA1c means glycated hemoglobin

BMI means body mass index

EPR means Eating for Physical Rather than Emotional Reasons subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2)

RHSC means Reliance on Hunger and Satiety Cues subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2)

PP means postpartum

OW/OB means Overweight/Obese

[Table 3] Paired t-test and correlation	between the two scales	of IES-2 at the first	GDM visit
and at 1-year postpartum (N=117)			

Variable	Mean	SD	P-value (t-test)	r.	P-value (r)
EPR at the first GDM visit	3.86	0.94	0.862	0.422	< 0.001
EPR at 1-yr pp	3.76	0.97			
RHSC at the first GDM visit	3.53	0.89	0.995	0.320	< 0.001
RHSC at 1-yr pp	3.42	0.94			
EPR at the first GDM visit	3.86	0.94	< 0.001	0.415	< 0.001
RHSC at the first GDM visit	3.42	0.89			
EPR at 1-yr pp	3.76	0.97	< 0.001	0.510	< 0.001
RHSC at 1-yr pp	3.42	0.94			

EPR means Eating for Physical Rather than Emotional Reasons subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2) RHSC means Reliance on Hunger and Satiety Cues subscale of the Intuitive Eating scale2 (IES-2) PP means postpartum

r means correlation

APPENDIX 3

STUDY 3: Predictors and consequences of weight retention in the early and late postpartum period in women with gestational diabetes

Dan Yedu Quansah^{a,*}, Justine Gross^{a,b}, Leah Gilbert^a, Amar Arhab^a, Antje Horsch^{c,d,†}, Jardena

J. Puder^{a,†}

^aObstetric service, Department Woman-Mother-Child, Lausanne University Hospital,

Lausanne, Switzerland

^bService of Endocrinology, Diabetes and Metabolism, Department of Medicine, Lausanne

University Hospital, Lausanne, Switzerland

^cInstitute of Higher Education and Research in Healthcare (IUFRS), University of Lausanne,

Switzerland

^dNeonatology service, Department Woman-Mother-Child, Lausanne University Hospital,

Lausanne, Switzerland

† Shared last authors

This study is published in *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice (2020)*, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2020.108238

*Corresponding author: Dan Yedu Quansah Obstetric service, Department Woman-Mother-Child, Lausanne University Hospital, Lausanne Switzerland Avenue de la Sallaz, CH-1011, Lausanne, Switzerland. Email: <u>dan.quansah@chuv.ch</u> Tel: +41-21-314 0638. Fax: +41-21 314 8031

Email adresses Dan Yedu Quansah: Dan.quansah@chuv.ch Leah Gilbert: Leah.Gilbert@chuv.ch Justine Gross: Justine.Gross@chuv.ch Amar Arbab: Amar.Arhab@chuv.ch Antje Horsch: Antje.Horsch@chuv.ch Jardena J. Puder: Jardena.puder@chuv.ch

Abstract

Aims: We investigated the predictors and consequences of postpartum weight retention (PPWR) in the early and late postpartum period in women with gestational diabetes (GDM), to assist preventive strategies. Methods: 862 women with GDM were prospectively included between 2011 and 2019. We investigated PPWR at 6-8 weeks and 1-year postpartum. Potential predictors included gestational weight gain (GWG), weight, BMI, and glucose control parameters during and after pregnancy. Results: PPWR at 6-8 weeks and 1-year postpartum were 4.6 ± 5.7 kg and 4.0 ± 7.4 kg. At 6-8 weeks postpartum, women with PPWR had higher prepregnancy weight, 7.5 ± 0.2 kg higher GWG and higher postpartum weight (all p ≤ 0.02), without presenting metabolic differences. At 1-year postpartum, there were no differences in anthropometric parameters before and during pregnancy between women with or without PPWR, except for a 4±0.4kg higher GWG (p<0.001). However, women with PPWR had increased postpartum weight and BMI, higher fasting glucose and more pronounced increases in Δ fasting glucose and Δ HbA1c at 1-year (all p \leq 0.03). GWG predicted higher PPWR at both 6-8 weeks and at 1-year PP (all p<0.001). Conclusion: Women with PPWR had increased anthropometric parameters and adverse metabolic consequences at 1-year postpartum. GWG was the most relevant predictor of PPWR.

Keywords: Postpartum weight retention; Gestational diabetes mellitus; Gestational weight gain; Anthropometric; Metabolic consequences; Predictors

1.0 Introduction

Postpartum weight retention (PPWR) is the difference between pre-pregnancy weight and weight in the postpartum period (1). This includes the immediate PPWR at the early postpartum (6-8 weeks after birth), or a long-term PPWR at different stages in the postpartum period (such as at 6 months or at 12 months) (2). It is recommended for women to return to their pre-pregnancy weight 12 months after childbirth in order to avoid any PPWR (3–5). Unfortunately, PPWR is frequent (3) and represents a significant public health concern (6,7) because, in the long term, PPWR leads to an upwards weight trajectory following childbirth (8–10). Modest PPWR increases the risk of obesity and higher PPWR leads to an increased risk of permanent obesity 5-10 years after birth (11). For any preventive efforts, it is important to understand the pattern of PPWR (3).

In women with a history of gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) (12), PPWR is associated with a higher risk of overweight/obesity (13), of prediabetes (14) and of recurrent GDM (4). Higher PPWR also augments the risk for future diabetes (15,16). In these women, weight changes in the postpartum period have been associated with higher risk of future diabetes (15–17). One study revealed that, in this population, PPWR of 4.5kg during a 7.5-year follow-up after pregnancy was independently associated with a twofold increase in the risk of future diabetes (18). In another study, 42% of women with PPWR developed diabetes after 23years of followup, while the incidence of diabetes was almost half in the women without PPWR (19). These results show that PPWR is an independent risk factor of diabetes and its related morbidities in women with GDM. Reducing PPWR or weight loss is therefore recommended (13,14). For example, in a sample of 72 women, weight loss of ≥ 2 kg during the postpartum period led to a significant improvement in glucose control at 1-year postpartum period (17). In the general population, the most important predictors of PPWR are higher pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI) and excessive gestational weight gain (GWG) (20,21). Other studies have also associated diet, physical activity, age, marital status, and ethnicity with PPWR (22-24). We are only aware of one small study (n=75) that investigated predictors of weight loss or no PPWR in women with GDM exclusively in the early postpartum period (25). In that study, less GWG and no insulin use during pregnancy predicted a loss of at least 75% of GWG. However, it is not clear if those factors are also predictors of the recommended lack of PPWR (i.e., no weight increase at all compared to the pre-pregnancy weight). To our knowledge, no previous study has investigated the differences between women with and without PPWR, the metabolic consequences and the predictors of PPWR in the early and late postpartum period in women with GDM. This can help to focus efforts and target optimal timing to reduce long-term complications of GDM. We therefore conducted this study to determine the anthropometric characteristics and differences between women with and without PPWR and the adverse metabolic consequences of PPWR in the early and late postpartum period in a cohort of women with GDM. This prospective cohort study also aimed to identify the predictors associated with PPWR in the early and late postpartum period.

2.0 Methods

2.1 Study design and patient population

This is a prospective observational clinical cohort of women with GDM followed in the Diabetes and Pregnancy Unit at the Lausanne University Hospital (CHUV) between 2011-2019 (26–28). Pregnant women diagnosed with GDM between 24-32 weeks of gestation according to the American Diabetes Association (ADA) and the International Association of the Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups (IADPSG) guidelines (29,30) were invited to participate.

The Human Research Ethics Committee of the Canton de Vaud (326/15) approved the study protocol. All participating women signed an informed consent. The total cohort population consisted of 1039 women who understood French and English and consented to participate. We first excluded those with known type 1 diabetes (N=13), type 2 diabetes (N=18), newly diagnosed diabetes in pregnancy (N=9), glucose intolerance but no GDM (N=2), those with normal oral glucose tolerance test (oGTT) results (N=8), with GDM diagnosed at \leq 13 weeks (N=13), and those participating in an active lifestyle intervention study (N=53). We then excluded those who did not attend the 6-8 weeks postpartum visit (N=61). Following this, 862 women were eligible and were included in our final analysis. Figure 1 shows the details of the participants' selection. Of these 862 women, all of them had completed the 6-8 weeks pp visit, whereas 259 (30%) had completed the 1-year postpartum visit at the time of this analysis. The main reason for the low numbers of patients at 1-year postpartum visit is that the implementation of the 1-year postpartum follow-up visit started in August 2015.

2.2 Measures

2.2.1 Socio-demographic characteristics

During the first GDM visit, information on participants' characteristics including age, educational level, and ethnic origin, family history of type-2 diabetes, history of previous GDM, parity, gravida, and smoking during pregnancy were obtained during a structured face-to-face interview. We categorized educational level into "no formal education; compulsory school achieved; general and vocational training levels; high school and university education" (27,28). Information on partner support was obtained during the face-to-face interview and was categorized as either "living with a partner or not". We categorized family history of type-2 diabetes, as either "first-degree, second degree or none" whereas previous history of GDM and smoking during pregnancy were categorized as either 'yes' or 'no'.

We grouped parity into "none, one, two and \geq three" whereas gravida consisted of "one, two or three" (see Table 1 for more details).

2.2.2 Anthropometric and other health variables

Pre-pregnancy weight was taken from participants' medical charts or, if missing, was selfreported (for the 1-2 months before pregnancy). We measured weight at the first GDM visit, at the end of pregnancy, at 6-8 weeks and at 1-year postpartum to the nearest 0.1 kg in women wearing light clothes and no shoes with a regularly calibrated electronic scale (Seca®). We measured height at the first GDM visit to the nearest 0.1 cm with a regularly calibrated Seca® height scale. GWG was defined as the difference between pre-pregnancy weight and weight at the end of pregnancy. We calculated the body mass index (BMI) as the ratio of weight in kilograms to the square of height in meters (kg/m2). Based on the pre-pregnancy BMI and GWG, women were classified as being below (inadequate), within (adequate) or above (excessive) the Institute of Medicine (IOM) GWG recommendations (31). PPWR was the outcome variable for our main analyses. We calculated PPWR by either subtracting the prepregnancy weight from the weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum (early PPWR) and from the weight at 1-year postpartum (late PPWR). Information on GDM treatment during pregnancy (use of insulin and/or metformin; yes/no) and caesarean section (yes/no) were obtained from medical charts. In the routine clinical visit at 6-8 weeks postpartum, information about breastfeeding (yes/no) and contraception use (yes/no) at this time point were obtained. During the first GDM visit (at 24-32 weeks), women completed the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) questionnaire. This is a ten-item self-report questionnaire designed and validated to screen women for symptoms of depression during pregnancy and in the postnatal period (32). The possible scores of the EPDS questionnaire range from 0 to 30 points, with a higher total score indicating more severe depressive symptoms.

2.2.3 Metabolic health variables

All women involved in this study were diagnosed with GDM during pregnancy (at 24-32 weeks of gestational age) if one of the following criteria were met during a 75g oGTT: fasting venous glucose \geq 5.1 mmol/L, 1-hr glucose \geq 10.0 mmol/L, or 2-hr glucose \geq 8.5 mmol/L, using the IAPDSG guidelines (29,30). At 6-8 weeks postpartum visit, another oGTT was performed to measure fasting glucose, 2-hr glucose and HbA1c using a High Performance Liquid Chromatography method (HPLC). At the 1-year postpartum visit, women had a fasting venous glucose and HbA1c measured using a High Performance Liquid Chromatography method (HPLC). At the 1-year postpartum visit, women had a fasting venous glucose and HbA1c measured using a High Performance Liquid Chromatography method (HPLC) (33). Both methods are traceable to the International Federation of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine (IFCC) Reference Method for the Measurement of HbA1c (33).

2.3 Statistical analysis

We performed all statistical analyses with the SPSS software version 26 (34). Demographic and other descriptive variables are presented as either means (±standard deviation) or in percentages (%), where appropriate (Table 1 and 2). PPWR variable and all outcome parameters described in Table 2 were normally distributed. We categorized this continuous variable (PPWR) into two groups: either no PPWR when the difference between a participant's weight before pregnancy and weight at the postpartum period (either 6-8 weeks or 1-year visit) was ≤ 0 kg and into PPWR if the difference is ≥ 0.1 kg.

We performed an ANOVA analysis to compare the anthropometric and metabolic characteristics (independent continuous variables) of participants according to no PPWR and PPWR (at 6-8 weeks and at 1-year postpartum) (Table 3a and 3b). In order to determine the predictors of PPWR at 6-8 weeks and at 1-year postpartum (outcome variable), we first conducted a univariate logistic regression analysis. We selected potential predictors tested in the univariate regression analyses based on the existing literature.

These variables were; age, educational level, nationality, history of GDM, family history of diabetes, parity, gravida, delivery by caesarean section, partner support, GDM treatment, contraception use, breastfeeding and depression score at the first GDM visit, pre-pregnancy weight, fasting, 1hr and 2hr glucose after oGTT at GDM diagnosis, total GWG, excess GWG according to IOM guidelines (31), fasting glucose, 2hr glucose after oGTT and HbA1c, all at 6-8 weeks postpartum. We then modeled the odds of PPWR (at the 6-8 weeks and 1-year postpartum visits) using multivariable logistic regression models with backward elimination by including variables with p<0.25 in the univariate regression analysis. Based on this, the following predictor variables were included in the 6-8 weeks postpartum model (Table 4a): family history of diabetes, partner support, breastfeeding and depression score at the first GDM visit, pre-pregnancy weight, 2hr glucose after oGTT at GDM diagnosis, total GWG, and excess GWG according to IOM guidelines. The following predictor variables were included in the 1year postpartum model (Table 4b): age, family history of diabetes, partner support, depression score at the first GDM visit, total GWG, excess GWG, and HbA1c at 6-8 weeks postpartum visit. For the 1-year postpartum analysis, we made use of two models; one in parallel to the model performed at 6-8 weeks postpartum and thus without any variable obtained after delivery i.e., without HbA1c at 6-8 weeks pp (model 1) and one including significant variables after delivery, i.e. HbA1c at 6-8 weeks postpartum (model 2).

We then performed a multivariate logistic regression analysis with backward elimination and selected the regression model with the lowest Akaike information criterion (AIC) as our final model for both time points (25). We tested for collinearity of the included predictor variables, and none displayed excessive collinearity. The variance inflation factor (VIF) in the regression models were less than 2 (between 1.0-1.4), and thus acceptable. All statistical significances were two sided and accepted at p < 0.05.
3.0 Results

Table 1 shows the socio-demographic characteristics of the 862 study participants. Their mean maternal age and gestational age at delivery were 33.0 ± 5.7 years and 38.4 ± 3.2 weeks respectively. The majority of the study participants had a vocational or university education (68%), 28% were Swiss and 33% were Europeans or from North America (33%). In addition, 44% of the women were nulliparous. Overall, only 6% of the women had a previous history of GDM (11.6% of those were multiparous), whereas 50% had a family history of diabetes. Table 2 shows the anthropometric and metabolic characteristics of the study participants. The mean pre-pregnancy BMI was 25.6 ± 5.4 kg/m² and the total GWG was 12.7 ± 5.9 kg. The mean PPWR at 6-8 weeks and at 1-year postpartum were 4.6 ± 5.7 kg and 4.0 ± 7.4 kg respectively. In the subgroup of women with 1-year data, the mean fasting glucose increased by 0.48 ± 0.2 mmol/l between 6-8 weeks and 1-year postpartum, while the mean HbA1c decreased by 0.03 ± 0.01 %. Table 3a summarizes the participants' anthropometric differences and metabolic consequences according to PPWR categories at 6-8 weeks postpartum. At this time point, 81% of women had PPWR. Women with PPWR had significant higher anthropometric parameters before, during and after pregnancy (early postpartum period) compared to those with no PPWR.

Specifically, they had a 4 ± 3.7 kg higher pre-pregnancy weight, a higher pre-pregnancy BMI, a 7.5±0.2kg higher total GWG and a 0.23 ±0.1kg higher excess GWG, a higher weight at GDM diagnosis and at the end of pregnancy, as well as a 12±2.0kg higher weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum (all p≤0.02). In addition, the 2hr glucose after oGTT at GDM diagnosis was slightly higher (p=0.034). However, there were no differences in the metabolic parameters (fasting and 2h glucose, HbA1c) between both groups at the early postpartum period (all p=ns). Table 3b summarizes the participants' anthropometric differences and metabolic consequences according to PPWR categories at 1-year postpartum in the subgroup of patients (n=259/862; 30%) who had attended the 1-year postpartum visit.

At 1-year postpartum, 66.4% of women had PPWR. Compared to those with no PPWR, women with PPWR had no differences in anthropometric parameters before and during pregnancy, but had a 4±0.4kg higher total GWG, a higher BMI at 6-8 weeks and at 1-year postpartum, and were 7±4.2kg heavier at 1-year postpartum (all p≤0.04). Women with no PPWR, on the other hand, had a minimal increase in excess GWG of 0.2 ±0.03kg (p<0.001). In the group of women with PPWR, weight did not decrease between the early and late postpartum period. The metabolic consequences at 1-year postpartum period showed a 0.2±0.2 mmol/l higher fasting glucose in women with PPWR compared to those without PPWR, and a more pronounced increase in fasting glucose and in HbA1c between the early and late postpartum period (both p≤0.03). We also evaluated the differences in metabolic and medical characteristics at 6-8 weeks postpartum in the 259 women with complete 1-year data (supplementary Table 1). The results were similar to those in Table 3a.

3.1 Predictors of postpartum weight retention

In the multivariate logistic regression analysis (Tables 4a and 4b), higher pre-pregnancy weight and total GWG predicted higher risk of PPWR at 6-8 weeks postpartum (OR: 1.1, 95% CI: 1.03-1.15) and (OR: 1.6, 95% CI: 1.32-1.91), respectively).

Higher total GWG also predicted higher risk of PPWR at 1-year postpartum (OR: 1.15, 95% CI: 1.07-1.23; model 1). This prospective association remained significant in model 2 (OR: 1.2, 95% CI: 1.07-1.24) when HbA1c at 6-8 weeks postpartum was included as potential predictor. In model 2, higher HbA1c at 6-8 weeks postpartum (OR: 0.16, 95% CI: 0.05-0.49) was associated with less PPWR at 1-year postpartum.

4.0 Discussion

In this clinical cohort of women with GDM, we found that women with and without PPWR at 6-8 weeks postpartum differed significantly in anthropometric characteristics (weight, BMI, GWG) before, during and after pregnancy. At this time point, there were no differences regarding metabolic consequences between both groups. On the other hand, women with and without PPWR at 1-year postpartum did not differ significantly in weight or BMI before or during pregnancy, except for less pronounced differences in GWG. However, they differed in anthropometric characteristics in both the early (BMI) and late (weight, BMI) postpartum period. Regarding adverse metabolic consequences, women with late PPWR had higher fasting glucose and more pronounced increases in both fasting glucose and HbA1c between the early and late postpartum period than those without PPWR. Although excessive GWG beyond the IOM guidelines was less than 2kg, total GWG was the most important predictor of PPWR, both in the early and late postpartum period. Although women are advised to return to their prepregnancy weight after delivery, a significant proportion of pregnant women are unable to meet this recommendation (25,35). At 6-8 weeks postpartum for example, women with or without GDM retain an average of 3-7kg of GWG, and at least two-thirds of women will still be above their pre-pregnancy weight at 1-year postpartum (7,25). Our results are in accordance with the literature: mean PPWR at 6-8 weeks postpartum was 4.6±5.7kg and 4.0±7.4kg at 1-year postpartum and two-third (66%) of the women had PPWR at 1-year.

Given that PPWR is predictive of adverse long-term cardio-metabolic outcomes (17) in women with GDM (36,37), it is important to study the pattern of PPWR in order to develop prevention/intervention strategies and to define their optimal timing. To fill this gap, we conducted this study to determine the anthropometric differences and metabolic consequences of PPWR and the predictors of PPWR in the early and late postpartum period in a clinical cohort of women with GDM.

According to our results, women with PPWR in the early postpartum period differed in BMI and weight before, during, and after pregnancy and in GWG, whereas those with PPWR at 1-year postpartum differed in GWG and especially in BMI and/or weight during the postpartum period. In women with PPWR, we found that differences in GWG in the late postpartum period were about half of those observed in the early postpartum period. Importantly, women with PPWR in the late postpartum period had small and non-significant weight differences compared to their counterparts in the early postpartum period, but they did not continue to lose weight up to 1-year postpartum.

Several reasons could account for the differences in the anthropometric characteristics observed in women with PPWR. Excess adipose tissue due to sub-optimal diet and physical activity behaviors before/during pregnancy leads to excess weight gain that extends into the postpartum period, leading to an increased risk of obesity in the late postpartum period (38–40). Studies have also shown that women who breastfeed several months after delivery have lower PPWR due to the energy cost of producing breast milk (41). Hence, breastfeeding may potentially have an impact or at least represent a marker for beneficial lifestyle behavior in our cohort. In our cohort, 85% of women who were still breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks postpartum had no PPWR at the late postpartum period. Depressive symptoms and lower/short sleep duration could also reduce weight loss in the postpartum period by influencing energy expenditure and appetite regulation (42).

Our results are consistent with those of other studies conducted in non-GDM populations which showed that, women with PPWR had a higher GWG, leading to higher weight status in the late postpartum period (43–45). Regarding adverse metabolic consequences, differences between women with and without PPWR were seen at 1-year postpartum only. At 1-year postpartum, women with PPWR had higher fasting glucose values and more pronounced increases in metabolic parameters (increases in Δ fasting glucose and Δ HbA1c) than their counterparts did. This finding suggests that late PPWR had an impact on glucose control at 1-year postpartum, which might not reveal itself yet in the early postpartum period. It is thus essential to focus on prevention of PPWR at 1-year postpartum, which actually concerns two thirds of women in this cohort and previous ones. A lack of PPWR or of metabolic complications at 6-8weeks postpartum, although reassuring, should not lead to complacency. This is especially important, as only a minority continues to lose weight after the early postpartum period and those with PPWR at 1-year demonstrated a small weight gain, between the early and late postpartum period. The findings of one previous study parallels our results (17): it demonstrated that weight gain in the 1-year postpartum was associated with a significant increase in fasting and 2-h glucose in women with GDM.

The link between PPWR and deteriorations in glucose control is mediated by the lack of further, more pronounced, weight loss during the later postpartum period (38). Lack of sleep in the postpartum period also increases insulin resistance in women with PPWR by impacting on metabolic pathways (42). Our data showed that clinical care beyond a pure screening with a focus on metabolic health should be essential in the late postpartum. Importantly, even women without PPWR had a significant (p<0.001) increase in fasting glucose between the early and late postpartum period, despite almost a 3kg weight loss.

These findings suggest the need to extend the postpartum follow-up period from 6-8 weeks to at least 1-year with special focus on metabolic health.

In women with GDM, a previous study (25) demonstrated that less GWG, increasing age, and lack of insulin use during pregnancy were associated with losing \geq 75% of pregnancy weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum. In our study, GWG was associated with PPWR, but found no association with age or insulin use. In non-GDM populations, many studies support GWG as a strong and pronounced predictor of PPWR at 6 weeks (46) and up to 12 months postpartum, as found in our study (47–50).

Other studies indicate that exceeding IOM guidelines according to pre-pregnancy BMI increases the risk of PPWR at 6 to 18 months (51–53). To our knowledge, these latter studies only investigated excessive GWG without including total or absolute GWG. In our study however, exceeding IOM guidelines (=excessive GWG) was not associated with PPWR beyond the impact of total GWG. Total GWG was the most important predictor of PPWR in our cohort, although excess GWG beyond the IOM guidelines was less than 2kg, even in women with PPWR. These data suggest that, at least regarding postpartum weight and metabolic health, the currently existing IOM guidelines for GWG are too indulgent for a multicultural population with GDM and should be refined for these women. Other potential predictors of PPWR, such as sociodemographic characteristics, physical activity, eating behavior (intuitive eating) exclusive breastfeeding, and depression scores during and after pregnancy were not significantly associated with PPWR in our study in contrast to some studies in non-GDM populations (44,54,55).

This study has several strengths. This is the first study to investigate the anthropometric differences and metabolic consequences in women with and without PPWR in both the early and late postpartum period in a large clinical cohort of women with GDM. We also identified the most essential role of GWG on PPWR in these women. This study seems to be the first to investigate both total GWG and excess GWG based on IOM guidelines on PPWR, as most studies focus exclusively on excess GWG. Excess GWG is based on guidelines that may be subject to change. Indeed, in our cohort, total GWG has shown to have a more important role than excess GWG. One of the limitations of this study is that, the associations found in this study may be correlational and not necessarily causal, despite its prospective design. We obtained weight before pregnancy from patients' medical chart when available; otherwise, we relied on self-reported pre-pregnancy weight.

However, there was a strong correlation between clinically measured weight during and after pregnancy with self-reported pre-pregnancy weight. Other factors, such as the intention to lose weight in the postpartum period and a variety of other variables, including sleep in the postpartum period, which were not investigated in this study, may have influenced these associations.

5.0 Conclusion

In this prospective clinical cohort of women with GDM, 81% had PPWR at 6-8 weeks postpartum, whereas two-third had PPWR at 1-year postpartum. Women with PPWR in the early postpartum period showed significant differences in anthropometric characteristics (weight, BMI, GWG) before, during and after pregnancy, while those in the late postpartum period showed mainly differences in the postpartum. Importantly, adverse metabolic consequences between women with and without PPWR were only seen in the late postpartum period. Regarding predictors of PPWR, total GWG was the most important predictor of PPWR, beyond the impact of excess GWG, which was rather small. These results suggest that currently existing IOM guidelines for (excess) GWG maybe too relaxed concerning postpartum weight and metabolic health in these women. Our data regarding PPWR and metabolic health suggest that beyond the recommended postpartum screenings, there is a need for a continuous follow-up of women with GDM, focusing specifically on weight and glucose control.

Acknowledgements

Our sincere appreciation goes to our study participants for their time and participation. We would also like to thank Dominique Stulz and Isabelle Cohen-Salmon who helped with data collection and Fady Fares for his contribution towards the management of the cohort database. We also thank Jean-Benoit Rossel for his comment on our regression models.

Funding

This study is a pilot of a project grant by the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNF 32003B_176119). The Swiss Federal Commission for Scholarships (FCS) provided the funds for the Ph.D. studies of the first author, DYQ. The cohort database received an unrestricted educational grant from Novo Nordisk. FCS and Novo Nordisk had no role regarding the content of the original data or analyses or in the drafting of this manuscript.

Conflict of interest

Authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Author contribution

DYQ, JG and JP designed the study. DYQ, extracted the data, performed all the analysis and wrote the draft manuscript under the supervision of JP. JG, LG, AA, AH and JP reviewed the manuscript. All authors revised and accepted the manuscript for submission. JP had the idea of the cohort and co-supervised all the work with AH.

References

1. Emily Oken, Elsie M. Taveras, M, Folasade A. Popoola, Janet W. Rich-Edwards and MWG. Television, Walking, and Diet: Associations with Postpartum Weight Retention. Am J Prev Med. 32(4):305–311.

World Health Organization. Postpartum Care of the Mother and Newborn: a practical guide.
Geneva; 1998.

3. Schmitt NM, Nicholson WK, Schmitt J. The association of pregnancy and the development of obesity - Results of a systematic review and meta-analysis on the natural history of postpartum weight retention. Int J Obes. 2007;31(11):1642–51.

4. Teulings NEWD, Masconi KL, Ozanne SE, Aiken CE, Wood AM. Effect of interpregnancy weight change on perinatal outcomes: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2019;19(1):386.

5. Leonard SA, Rasmussen KM, King JC, Abrams B. Trajectories of maternal weight from before pregnancy through postpartum and associations with childhood obesity. Am J Clin Nutr. 2017;106(5):1295–301.

6. Poston L, Caleyachetty R, Cnattingius S, Corvalán C, Uauy R, Herring S, et al. Preconceptional and maternal obesity: epidemiology and health consequences. The Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology. 2016.

7. Walker LO, Sterling BS, Timmerman GM. Retention of pregnancy-related weight in the early postpartum period: Implications for women's health services. JOGNN - Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, and Neonatal Nursing. 2005.

8. Walter JR, Perng W, Kleinman KP, Rifas-Shiman SL, Rich-Edwards JW, Oken E. Associations of trimester-specific gestational weight gain with maternal adiposity and systolic

170

blood pressure at 3 and 7 years postpartum. Am J Obstet Gynecol [Internet]. 2015;212(4):499.e1-499.e12. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2014.11.012

9. Marchi J, Berg M, Dencker A, Olander EK, Begley C. Risks associated with obesity in pregnancy, for the mother and baby: A systematic review of reviews. Obes Rev. 2015;16(8):621–38.

 Leslie WS, Gibson A, Hankey CR. Prevention and management of excessive gestational weight gain: A survey of overweight and obese pregnant women. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2013;13.

11. Spencer L, Rollo M, Hauck Y, MacDonald-Wicks L, Wood L, Hutchesson M, et al. The effect of weight management interventions that include a diet component on weight-related outcomes in pregnant and postpartum women: a systematic review protocol. JBI database of systematic reviews and implementation reports. 2015.

12. American Diabetes Association (ADA). Gestational diabetes mellitus. Daibetes care. 2004;27(1):S88–S90.

13. Linné Y, Dye L, Barkeling B, Rössner S. Long-term weight development in women: A 15year follow-up of the effects of pregnancy. Obes Res. 2004;12(7):1166–78.

14. Bellamy L, Casas JP, Hingorani AD, Williams D. Type 2 diabetes mellitus after gestational diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet [Internet]. 2009;373(9677):1773–9. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60731-5

15. Bao W, Yeung E, Tobias DK, Hu FB, Vaag AA, Chavarro JE, et al. Long-term risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus in relation to BMI and weight change among women with a history of gestational diabetes mellitus: a prospective cohort study. Diabetologia. 2015;

16. Kasher-Meron M, Grajower MM. Preventing progression from gestational diabetes mellitus to diabetes: A thought-filled review. Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews. 2017.

17. Ehrlich SF, Hedderson MM, Quesenberry CP, Feng J, Brown SD, Crites Y, et al. Postpartum weight loss and glucose metabolism in women with gestational diabetes: the DEBI Study. Diabet Med [Internet]. 2014;31(7):862–7. Available from: http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-84925884056&partnerID=tZOtx3y1

Peters RK, Kjos SL, Xiang A, Buchahan TA. Long-term diabetogenic effect of single pregnancy in women with previous gestational diabetes mellitus. Lancet. 1996;347(8996):227–30.

19. O'Sullivan JB. Gestational Diabetes: Factors Influencing the Rates of Subsequent Diabetes.In: Carbohydrate Metabolism in Pregnancy and the Newborn 1978. 1979.

20. Rong K, Yu K, Han X, Szeto IMY, Qin X, Wang J, et al. Pre-pregnancy BMI, gestational weight gain and postpartum weight retention: A meta-analysis of observational studies. Public Health Nutr. 2015;18(12):2172–82.

21. Mannan M, Doi SA, Mamun AA. Association between weight gain during pregnancy and postpartum weight retention and obesity: A bias-adjusted meta-analysis. Nutr Rev. 2013;71(6):343–52.

22. Cheng HR, Walker LO, Tseng YF, Lin PC. Post-partum weight retention in women in Asia: A systematic review. Obes Rev. 2011;12(10):770–80.

23. Melzer K, Schutz Y. Pre-pregnancy and pregnancy predictors of obesity. Int J Obes [Internet]. 2010;34(S2):S44–52. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2010.239

24. Olson CM, Strawderman MS, Hinton PS, Pearson TA. Gestational weight gain and postpartum behaviors associated with weight change from early pregnancy to 1 y postpartum. Int J Obes. 2003;27(1):117–27.

25. Nicklas JM, Zera CA, Seely EW. Predictors of very early postpartum weight loss in women with recent gestational diabetes mellitus. J Matern Neonatal Med [Internet]. 2018;0(0):1–7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/14767058.2018.1487937

26. Maria-Christina Antoniou, Leah Gilbert, Justine Gross, Jean-Benoît Rossel, Céline J. Fischer Fumeaux, Yvan Vial JJP. Potentially modifiable predictors of adverse neonatal and maternal outcomes in pregnancies with gestational diabetes (GDM). Can they help for future risk stratification and risk-adapted patient care? BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2019;

27. Quansah DY, Gilbert L, Gross J, Horsch A, Puder JJ. Intuitive eating is associated with improved health indicators at 1-year postpartum in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. J Health Psychol [Internet]. 2019 Aug 22;135910531986981. Available from: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1359105319869814

28. Quansah DY, Gross J, Gilbert L, Helbling C, Horsch A, Puder JJ. Intuitive eating is associated with weight and glucose control during pregnancy and in the early postpartum period in women with gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM): A clinical cohort study. Eat Behav [Internet]. 2019;34:101304. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2019.101304

29. Metzger BE. International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups recommendations on the diagnosis and classification of hyperglycemia in pregnancy. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(3):676–82.

30. Dorsey JL, Becker MH, Al. E. 6. Glycemic Targets: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes—2018. Diabetes Care. 2018;41(Supplement 1):S55–64.

173

31. Institute of Medicine (IOM). Weight gain during pregnancy: reexamining the guidelines. Committee to Reexamine IOM Pregnancy Weight Guidelines. Washington, DC; 2009.

32. Cox JL, Holden JM, Sagovsky R. Detection of postnatal depression. Development of the 10-item Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale . Br J Psychiatry [Internet]. 1987;150:782–6. Available from: https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/the-british-journal-of-psychiatry/article/detection-of-postnatal-

depression/E18BC62858DBF2640C33DCC8B572F02A

33. Jeppsson J-O, Kobold U, Barr J, Finke A, Hoelzel W, Hoshino T, et al. Approved IFCC Reference Method for the Measurement of HbA1c in Human Blood. Clin Chem Lab Med [Internet]. 2002;40(1). Available from: https://www.degruyter.com/view/j/cclm.2002.40.issue-1/cclm.2002.016/cclm.2002.016.xml

34. IBM Corp. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.; 2017.

35. NICE. Weight management during and after pregnancy. Br J Midwifery. 2009;17(6):367–8.

36. Linné Y, Barkeling B, Rössner S. Long-term weight development after pregnancy. Obesity Reviews. 2002.

37. Rooney BL, Schauberger CW. Excess pregnancy weight gain and long-term obesity: One decade later. Obstet Gynecol. 2002;

38. Hedderson MM, Gunderson EP, Ferrara A. Gestational weight gain and risk of gestational diabetes mellitus. Obstet Gynecol. 2010;

39. Goldstein ND, Rogers S, Ehrenthal DB. The impact of psychosocial stressors on postpartum weight retention. Arch Womens Ment Health. 2016;

40. Whitaker K, Young-Hyman D, Vernon M, Wilcox S. Maternal stress predicts postpartum weight retention. Matern Child Health J. 2014;

41. McKinley MC, Allen-Walker V, McGirr C, Rooney C, Woodside J V. Weight loss after pregnancy: Challenges and opportunities. Nutr Res Rev. 2018;

42. Lucassen EA, Rother KI, Cizza G. Interacting epidemics? Sleep curtailment, insulin resistance, and obesity. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2012;

43. Gore SA, Brown DM, West DS. The Role of Postpartum Weight Retention in Obesity Among Women: A Review of the Evidence. Annals of Behavioral Medicine. 2003.

44. Zanotti J, Capp E, Wender MCO. Factors associated with postpartum weight retention in a Brazilian cohort. Rev Bras Ginecol e Obs. 2015;

45. Ashley-Martin J, Woolcott C. Gestational Weight Gain and Postpartum Weight Retention in a Cohort of Nova Scotian Women. Matern Child Health J. 2014;

46. Muscati SK, Gray-Donald K, Koski KG. Timing of weight gain during pregnancy: Promoting fetal growth and minimizing maternal weight retention. Int J Obes. 1996;

47. Ohlin A, Rossner S. Maternal body weight development after pregnancy. Int J Obes. 1990;

48. Schauberger CW, Rooney BL, Brimer LM. Factors that influence weight loss in the puerperium. Obstet Gynecol. 1992;

49. Lan-Pidhainy X, Nohr EA, Rasmussen KM. Comparison of gestational weight gain-related pregnancy outcomes in American primiparous and multiparous women1-3. Am J Clin Nutr. 2013;

50. Boardley DJ, Sargent RG, Coker AL, Hussey JR, Sharpe PA. The relationship between diet, activity, and other factors, and postpartum weight change by race. Obstet Gynecol. 1995;

51. Endres LK, Straub H, McKinney C, Plunkett B, Minkovitz CS, Schetter CD, et al. Postpartumweight retention risk factors and relationship to obesity at 1 year. Obstet Gynecol. 2015;

52. Haugen M, Brantsæter AL, Winkvist A, Lissner L, Alexander J, Oftedal B, et al. Associations of pre-pregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain with pregnancy outcome and postpartum weight retention: A prospective observational cohort study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2014;

53. Rode L, Kjærgaard H, Ottesen B, Damm P, Hegaard HK. Association between gestational weight gain according to body mass index and postpartum weight in a large cohort of Danish women. Matern Child Health J. 2012;

54. Shao HH, Hwang LC, Huang JP, Hsu HY. Postpartum Weight Retention Risk Factors in a Taiwanese Cohort Study. Obes Facts. 2018;11(1):37–45.

55. Fadzil F, Shamsuddin K, Wan Puteh SE, Mohd Tamil A, Ahmad S, Abdul Hayi NS, et al. Predictors of postpartum weight retention among urban Malaysian mothers: A prospective cohort study. Obes Res Clin Pract [Internet]. 2018;12(6):493–9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orcp.2018.06.003

Variable	Frequency (n)	Percent (%)
Age (years) mean ±SD	33.00	5.71
Gestational age at delivery (weeks)mean ±SD	38.43	3.23
Education level* (N=488)		
No formal education	3	0.8
Compulsory school achieved	69	18.4
High school	47	12.6
General and vocational education	85	22.7
University	170	45.5
Nationality		
Switzerland	247	28.7
Europe + North America	285	33.1
Africa	143	16.6
Asia + western pacific	116	13.5
Latin America	39	4.5
Others	32	3.7
Employment status		
Student	23	2.7
Professional worker	388	45.0
Housewives/unemployed	451	52.3
Smoking during pregnancy		
Yes	132	15.3
No	730	84.7
Previous history of GDM ¹		
No	807	93.6
Yes	55	6.4
Family history of diabetes ²		
First degree	272	31.5
Second degree	160	18.6
No	430	49.9
Parity (N=842)		
0	375	44.5
1	283	33.6
2	119	14.1
≥3	65	7.7
Gravida (N=842)		
1	257	30.5
2	247	29.3
3	338	40.1

STUDY 3 Tables and captions

Table 1: Socio-demographic characteristics of study participants (N=862)

*488 participants had missing data on education

¹GDM means gestational diabetes mellitus (11.6 % of women who were multiparous had previous history of GDM) ²First degree means 1 degree of relationship of the participant (at least 50% of genetic link, which included mother, father, brother, sister, daughter, son). Second degree means 2nd degree of kinship of the participant (at least 25% of genetic link that included grandparents, grandchildren, nephews, niece, half-brother, half-sister) All results are frequency and percentage unless otherwise stated

Table 2: Anthropometric and metabolic characteristics of study partice
--

Variable	Mean	SD
Pre-pregnancy weight (Kg)	69.09	15.38
Pre-pregnancy BMI (Kg/m ²) ¹	25.62	5.45
Weight at the first GDM visit (Kg)	79.53	15.36
BMI at the first GDM visit (Kg/m^2)	29.72	5.41
Fasting glucose at the first GDM visit (mmol/l)	5.15	0.75
1hr glucose after oGTT at GDM diagnosis (mmol/l)	9.63	1.85
2hr glucose after oGTT at GDM diagnosis (mmol/l)	7.85	1.83
HbA1c at the first GDM visit (%)	5.44	0.41
Weight at the end of pregnancy (Kg)	81.86	15.42
Total gestational weight gain (Kg)	12.75	5.96
Weight at the 6-8 weeks pp (Kg)	73.58	15.05
BMI at the 6-8 weeks pp (Kg/m^2)	27.54	5.35
Fasting glucose at the 6-8 weeks pp (mmol/l)	5.00	0.52
2hr glucose after oGTT at 6-8 weeks pp (mmol/l)	5.50	1.68
HbA1c at the 6-8 weeks pp (%)	5.35	0.38
Weight at 1-year pp (Kg)	73.49	17.15
BMI at 1-year pp (Kg/m ²)	27.41	6.30
Fasting glucose at 1-year pp (mmol/l)	5.48	0.67
HbA1c at 1-year pp (%)	5.32	0.39
Weight retention at 6-8 weeks pp ²	4.61	5.79
Weight retention at 1-year pp ³	3.99	7.36

¹Data taken from the medical charts or reported at the first GDM visit ²Weight retention means the difference in weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum and pre-pregnancy weight ³Weight retention means the difference in weight at 1-year postpartum and pre-pregnancy weight

BMI means body mass index GDM means gestational diabetes mellitus

oGTT means oral glucose tolerance test

HbA1c means glycated hemoglobin pp means postpartum period

Table 3: Anthropometric differences and metabolic consequences of participants according to postpartum weight retention categories

Ja. At 0-0 weeks postpartum	3a:	At 6-8	weeks	postpartum
-----------------------------	-----	--------	-------	------------

6-8 weeks postpartum	Weight retention category at 6-8 weeks PP (n=862) ¹				
	Weight retention		No weight r		
	(n=700)		(n=162)		
Variable	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	p value
Age (years)	33.39	5.43	32.91	5.77	0.340
Gestational age at delivery (weeks)	38.68	1.49	38.38	3.52	0.283
Pre-pregnancy weight (Kg)	70.49	17.51	66.76	13.81	<0.001
Pre-pregnancy BMI $(Kg/m^2)^2$	26.35	6.26	24.75	4.86	<0.001
Weight at the first GDM visit (Kg)	80.93	16.96	71.45	14.76	<0.001
Fasting glucose at first GDM visit (mmol/l)	5.16	0.65	5.15	0.77	0.843
1hr glucose after oGTT at GDM diagnosis (mmol/l)	9.70	1.70	9.62	1.88	0.658
2hr glucose after oGTT at GDM diagnosis (mmol/l)	8.18	1.70	7.78	1.85	0.034
Weight at the end of pregnancy (Kg)	84.63	16.66	73.58	14.23	0.015
Total gestational weight gain (Kg)	14.16	5.14	6.63	5.36	<0.001
Excess gestational weight gain (Kg)	1.73	0.44	1.50	0.50	<0.001
Weight at 6-8 weeks pp (Kg)	75.40	16.66	63.14	14.62	0.002
BMI at 6-8 weeks pp (Kg/m ²)	27.10	5.91	23.40	5.19	0.020
Fasting glucose at 6-8 weeks pp (mmol/l)	4.99	0.50	5.01	0.52	0.643
2hr glucose after oGTT at 6-8 weeks pp (mmol/l)	5.37	1.57	5.53	1.70	0.269
HbA1c at 6-8 weeks pp (%)	5.32	0.40	5.35	0.37	0.357
	1	. 1 .			

¹Weight retention means the difference in weight at 6-8 weeks and pre-pregnancy weight

²Data reported at the first GDM visit or taken from the medical charts

GDM means gestational diabetes mellitus

BMI means body mass index

oGTT means oral glucose tolerance test

HbA1c means glycated hemoglobin

pp means postpartum period P value derived from ANOVA for continuous variables

3b: At 1-year postpartum

1-year postpartum	Weight retention category at 1-year PP (n=259) ¹				n=259) ¹
	Weight retention		No we	No weight	
	(n=	:172)	retention	(n=8 7)	
Variable	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	p value
Age (years)	32.93	5.86	34.00	4.74	0.147
Gestational age at delivery (weeks)	38.78	1.71	38.82	1.86	0.888
Pre-pregnancy weight (Kg)	68.78	15.42	69.97	14.10	0.564
Pre-pregnancy BMI (Kg/m ²) ²	25.81	5.67	25.62	5.18	0.792
Weight at the first GDM visit (Kg)	80.28	15.97	78.58	13.48	0.427
Fasting glucose at first GDM visit (mmol/l)	5.24	1.00	5.11	0.77	0.328
1hr glucose after oGTT at GDM diagnosis (mmol/l)	9.68	2.00	9.61	1.96	0.817
2hr glucose after oGTT at GDM diagnosis (mmol/l)	7.85	2.02	7.99	1.85	0.651
Weight at the end of pregnancy (Kg)	82.82	15.47	80.02	13.60	0.188
Total gestational weight gain (Kg)	14.16	6.15	10.08	5.76	<0.001
Excess gestational weight gain (Kg)	1.44	0.49	1.68	0.46	<0.001
Weight at 6-8 weeks pp (Kg)	74.88	14.92	71.96	13.01	0.121
BMI at 6-8 weeks pp (Kg/m ²)	28.08	5.36	26.66	4.66	0.044
Fasting glucose at 6-8 weeks pp (mmol/l)	5.00	0.518	4.97	0.45	0.618
2hr glucose after oGTT at 6-8 weeks pp (mmol/l)	5.26	1.42	5.22	1.63	0.841
HbA1c at 6-8 weeks pp (%)	5.27	0.36	5.40	0.34	0.009
Weight at 1-year pp (Kg)	75.79	18.08	68.67	13.92	0.002
BMI at 1-year pp (Kg/m ²)	28.42	6.55	25.05	4.93	<0.001
Fasting glucose at 1-year pp (mmol/l)	5.55	0.72	5.35	0.55	0.026
HbA1c at 1-year pp (%)	5.33	0.42	5.31	0.33	0.739
Δ Fasting glucose ³	0.54	0.61	0.37	0.54	0.032
Δ HbA1c ³	0.05	0.39	-0.08	0.37	0.006

¹Weight retention means the difference in weight at 6-8 weeks and pre-pregnancy weight ²Data reported at the first GDM visit or taken from the medical charts

³Change in metabolic variables (fasting glucose and HbA1c) between 6-8 weeks and 1-year pp

GDM means gestational diabetes mellitus

BMI means body mass index oGTT means oral glucose tolerance test

HbA1c means glycated hemoglobin

pp means postpartum period P value derived from ANOVA for continuous variables

Table 4: Predictors of weight retention

Variable	OR	959	P value*	
Pre-pregnancy weight (Kg)	1.09	1.035	1.150	<0.001
Total gestational weight gain (Kg)	1.59	1.324	1.919	<0.001
Excess gestational weight gain (Kg)	4.08	0.857	19.466	0.077

4a. Predictors at 6-8 weeks postpartum

Weight retention means the difference in weight at 6-8 weeks postpartum and pre-pregnancy weight

* P value from the final model of the multivariable logistic regression with backward elimination

4b: Predictors at 1-year postpartum

	Model 1					Μ	lodel 2	
Variable	OR	95%	6 CI	P value*	OR	95%	6 CI	P value*
Total Gestational weight gain (kg)	1.15	1.072	1.231	<0.001	1.15	1.076	1.245	<0.001
HbA1c at 6-8 weeks pp (%)					0.16	0.052	0.490	<0.001

pp means postpartum period

Weight retention means the difference in weight at 1-yr postpartum and pre-pregnancy weight

Model 1: included HbA1c at 6-8 weeks pp

Model 2: without HbA1c at 6-8 weeks pp

* P value from the final model of the logistic regression with backward elimination



Fig 1. Flow chart describing the selection of study participants

[Supplementary tables]

Table 1: Anthropometric differences and metabolic consequences of participants with 1-year data at the 6-8 weeks postpartum

6-8 weeks postpartum*	Weight retention at 1-year (n=259) ¹				
	Weight retention (n=201)No Weight retention (n=58)		p value		
Variable	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
Age (years)	33.33	5.42	33.27	5.42	0.937
Gestational age at delivery (weeks)	39.03	1.85	38.72	1.85	0.238
Pre-pregnancy weight (Kg) ²	72.83	12.19	65.69	12.19	<0.001
Pre-pregnancy BMI (Kg/m ²) ³	27.15	4.38	24.47	4.38	< 0.001
Weight at first GDM visit (Kg)	78.06	13.95	69.87	13.95	<0.001
Fasting glucose at first GDM visit (mmol/l)	5.25	0.96	5.18	0.96	0.631
1hr glucose at GDM diagnosis (mmol/l)	9.84	2.02	9.61	2.02	0.527
2hr glucose at GDM diagnosis (mmol/l)	8.13	1.99	7.83	1.99	0.394
HbA1c at first GDM visit (%)	5.50	0.41	5.39	0.41	0.079
End of pregnancy weight (Kg)	86.33	13.83	71.61	13.83	0.014
Gestational weight gain (Kg)	14.54	5.26	6.72	5.26	<0.001
Excess gestational weight (Kg)	1.68	0.50	1.47	0.50	0.004
Weight at 6-8 weeks pp (Kg) ⁴	77.58	13.39	63.84	13.39	0.026
BMI at 6-8 weeks pp (Kg/m ²)	28.04	4.72	24.21	4.72	0.019
Fasting glucose at 6-8 weeks pp (mmol/l)	4.92	0.50	5.01	0.50	0.253
2hr glucose at 6-8 weeks pp (mmol/l)	5.04	1.47	5.30	1.47	0.242
HbA1c at 6-8 weeks pp (%)	5.34	0.35	5.30	0.35	0.450

*Data at 6-8 weeks are shown for the subgroup of participants who have valid data at 1 year postpartum

¹Weight retention means the difference in weight at 6-8 weeks and pre-pregnancy weight

²Data reported at the first GDM visit or taken from the medical charts

GDM means gestational diabetes mellitus

BMI means body mass index

oGTT means oral glucose tolerance test

HbA1c means glycated hemoglobin

pp means postpartum period P-value derived from ANOVA